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CT Environmental Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a professional environmental plan and solution
provider which offers one-stop centralized and customized environmental
protection services. The Group is substantially engaged in services in the
whole chain, inclusive of industrial wastewater treatment, industrial water
supply, general and industrial solid waste treatment and hazardous waste
disposal and treatment, urban and domestic waste detoxification, and
environmental inspection. The Group's service packages cover all processes
from the planning, construction, operation to the maintenance of the
environmental protection facilities.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHRESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of CT Environmental
Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | am pleased to present you with a brief review of the
business and financial position of the Group in 2017 as well as the
outlook for the industry.

The report of the 19th National Congress of the CPC explicitly
proposed a grandiose agenda of “Accelerating the reform on the
ecological civilisation systems for the development of beautiful China”
that incorporating the establishment of ecological civilisation into a
millennium plan on sustainable development of the Chinese nation.
The Chinese government launched various policies and measures
to support the environmental protection industry and further clarified
the main responsibilities of environmental protection with stringent
enforcement of laws and regulations in respect of environmental
protection. These all in turn helped facilitate and strengthened the
market demand for the core business of the Group as a third-party
pollution treatment provider.

In 2017, benefitted from our management excellence and the
hardworking operation teams sparing no effort, the Group
progressively implemented the development plans formulated at the
beginning of the year and realised sustainable business development
with fruitful results. The profit attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company reached HKD682.5 million, representing an increase
of approximately 12.7% as compared to the corresponding period last
year. The Board resolved to declare a final dividend of HKDO0.95 cents
per share and a special dividend of HKD1.98 cents per share.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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The year 2017 was the foundation and strategies for the Group to
embrace the development in the new era. To better ride the trends
at home and abroad towards such development, the Group was
unambiguously in pursuit of the primary goal of facilitating the
establishment of the “beautiful China” by leveraging its own business
status and development plans. Guided by the innovative philosophy
of supply-side structural reform on environmental protection, we are
dedicated to formulating strategies for sustainable development with
aims to enhance comprehensive carry capacity of ecology and support
economy and society with emphasis on the following five major
aspects: First, water treatment — entails improving water environment
to support the sustainable development of water consuming industries.
Second, solid waste (including sludge) disposal and treatment -
entails supporting the sustainable development of industries which
produce solid waste through improvement of soil. Third, hazardous
waste disposal and treatment — entails supporting the sustainable
development of industries which produce hazardous waste through
control of environmental risks. Fourth, pollution control engineering —
entails supporting the development of local economy and community
through improvement of local environment quality. Fifth, energy-
efficient industry — entails supporting the sustainable development of
energy consuming industries through atmosphere improvement.

Under the guidance of the abovementioned strategic concepts, the
Group continuously developed and implemented new projects during
the year, while constantly consolidated and reinforced the business
cutting-edges of existing projects amid effective exploration for new
business sectors. A number of landmark events were completed
during the year:

Chairman’s Statement
FTERESE
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHRESE

Firstly, in terms of new construction projects, the Group carried
out plans, designs, and constructions according to the innovative
concepts of supply-side structural reform on environmental protection.
The Yulin (Fumian) Energy-Saving Environmental Industrial Park
Project (the “Fumian Project”) Phase | and Guangdong Longtao
Recycling Economic Industrial Park Project (the “Longtao Project”)
(with a waste-to-energy plant and a multi-purpose landfill), which are
the flagship projects and benchmark industrial parks of the Group
with utmost importance, were successively constructed during the
year and commenced operation. Such projects will bring significant
economic benefits to the Group and will be conducive to promote the
environmental protection concepts of the Group to different regions.

Secondly, with regard to project operation, the Group entered into
a series of new contracts with new and existing customers or won
biddings for new projects through tenders. The new contracts
and projects represent solid evidence demonstrating the business
capability and operation standard of the Group have gained
unanimous recognition from the local governments and our customers.

Furthermore, regarding the development of new business sectors, the
Group enthusiastically explored the unexplored, including wastewater
treatment for pharmaceutical industry as well as the black and smelly
river remediation engineering such as river dredging and maintenance.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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With regard to technological innovation, the 13th Five-Year Plan
classified “innovation” as the top of the five main development areas
to drive future growth. The Group has always considered innovation
to be important for sustainable, future growth which gives us a real,
competitive edge. This is demonstrated by our national and provincial
environmental protection technology projects, from environmental
protection research to environmental inspection accreditation. Our
initiatives align with market interests and are commercially more
attractive. During the year, Guangzhou Yinglong Wastewater Treatment
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, was
accredited as a high and new technology enterprise. To date, a total of
six wholly-owned subsidiaries and one joint venture of the Group were
accredited by the state as high and new technology enterprises (the
other five subsidiaries were Guangzhou Xintao Wastewater Treatment
Company Limited, Guangzhou Haitao Environmental Protection
Technology Company Limited, Qingyuan Lvyou Environmental
Protection Technology Company Limited, Guangzhou Lvyou Industrial
Waste Reclamation Treatment Company Limited, Heyuan Solid Waste
Centralised Treatment Centre Company Limited, respectively, and the
one joint venture was Guangzhou Haigin Tiancheng Technical Testing
Services Co., Ltd.). It substantially raised the reputation and corporate
image of the Group, together with capital rewards to be granted to the
Group as well as benefits brought by preferential policies in respect of
land requisition, tax payment and loan borrowing.

Chairman’s Statement
TERESE

ERMAHAIE [T=H ] REBESE
RIF S ASABRESZE LB HAIH
ESIERENE B L -AEEH-HHS
A RELEXRREERNRR XD
REETERBFNROBRENZ—-
REBECRYZERRY EREHERSR
REEARMRETIR RRMAREE
WHRBEARFEN cEEEEEN
RERZ BETMERSENTER
MRHEEERERE RERESN
MmiEt BmtRHEERRE - FR
REFEET2EFRREMBEISKE
BEAERABDEFASHRIMEE -2t
AEBCHEXEEFRAR—REED
EREXDER DI ZM AR (HEREXK
FRADBRBEMIEKREFCARD
A BMNEHRERMBEAERAR BRR
HERAMZAERIF -EMEHIXR
ERYEWEERRLQF STRTERE
BEYNEPEETOLABRAF UK —X
BEREREMNED RB MR RS
[RATF)) -ETEARRSAEENEZE
EMEXRS BEHESESRE X #E
bt B - EREFTHEZ—RIEE
B

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017

7



8

Chairman’s Statement
TEHRESE

In terms of financing, a facility agreement was previously entered into
between the Group and Asian Development Bank (“ADB”), pursuant
to which, the first loan facility of RMB230 million was drawn on 20
June 2017 and used for the capital expenditure on the wastewater
treatment, industrial water supply and sludge treatment in the Fumian
Project of the Group in order to accelerate the development of the
project. The collaboration with ADB not only enhanced the capital
base and financial position of the Group and thereby boosted its
industry position, brand image and market competitiveness, but also
demonstrated the high level of trust in the operation and management
of the Group as well as high expectations for its future development
from large financial institutions.

With high national importance attached to environmental protection
and continuous introduction of favourable policies, there will be a rich
array of opportunities to the Group among considerable potentials
for growth in the environmental protection industry in the PRC.
Through provision of one-stop, unified and customised professional
and comprehensive environmental protection services, we strive to
offer solutions tackling environmental issues caused in the production
process to our customers in order to support the sustainable
development of the overall industry. As a leading enterprise in the
environmental protection industry listed in Hong Kong, the Group
will further give play to its experiences and advantages in operation
management and technology research and development, and the
synergy generated by the multi-dimensional industry layout of the
Group in respect of cost efficiency, scope of services and geographic
coverage, fully committed to seizing and creating more business
opportunities, and meanwhile maintaining long-term growth.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Finally, | would like to express my sincerest gratitude to our
shareholders and all stakeholders for your support all along in our
development and progress. | would also like to take this opportunity
to thank all my colleagues for their ongoing efforts and contribution to
make our dream possible.

Tsui Cham To
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 1. HBHE
The particulars of the revenue comparison by business segment HE=ZE—+tH&+=-HA=1+—HK
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 —E-RE+ZA=+—BHLEE
were as follows: REB D EBE D 2 WA LLEFFIBTY
HAWT :
Revenue
WA
2017 2016 Increase/(Decrease)
ZE-tF  ZEZ-RF 2/ (B)
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TEx TER TEx
Water treatment services KEB R 659,208 649,092 10,116 1.6%
Heating services 3008 198,097 140,884 57,213 40.6%
Sludge and solid waste 5 A K E B8 EE YD
treatment services BERH% 529,884 513,114 16,770 3.3%
BOT project construction services ~ BOTIE H Z:RR#H 222,962 335,491 (112,529) (33.5%)
Finance income MEWA 17,836 20,730 (2,894) (14.0%)
Hazardous waste treatment services & K& 4 i 12 R 75 471,111 517,727 (46,615) (9.0%)
2,099,098 2,177,038 (77,939 (3.6%)
HERRKREFARAS

FEHE 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWE AT

2. BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

General Review

In 2017, the PRC economy developed steadily and
exceeded expectation, with a year-on-year GDP growth
of 6.9%. The first rebound in GDP growth since 2011
was particularly exciting under the backdrop of tightening
pollution control. Investment in the ecological protection
and environmental governance sectors increased by
approximately 23.9%, outperforming other sectors which
recorded a growth rate of approximately 16.7%.

The report to the 19th CPC National Congress expressly
called for the promotion of green development and
expansion of the energy saving and environmental
protection industry. It focused on the solutions of significant
environmental problems, acceleration of water pollution
prevention and treatment, enhancement of soil pollution
control and restoration, and upgrade of solid waste and
garbage disposal. The report also prohibited and set out
punishment for damaging the environment. In order to
speed up the improvement of the ecological environment,
meet people’s overwhelming needs for a desirable
environment and achieve economic and social sustainability,
the PRC government devoted increasing efforts in
ecological protection and governance:

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On the one hand, central and local government policy
on environment protection and related industries was
optimised in terms of system design and legal system
building. At the central government level, the revised “Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China” further defined the responsibility of the
various levels of government in maintaining the quality of
water. The law expressly supported the construction of
centralised rural wastewater and waste treatment facilities
and proposed amendments to targeted measures curbing
illegal discharge and fake data, and to operating standards
of urban wastewater treatment plants. As the Environmental
Protection Tax Law of the People’s Republic China and its
implementation regulations became effective, enterprises
shouldered more responsibilities in pollution treatment
and emission reduction, while third party treatment and
other market-driven measures were introduced to the
environmental protection sector. In the meantime, the
“Opinions on Implementing Third Party Treatment of
Environmental Pollution” encouraged local governments
to establish green development funds as a way to attract
social capital, thereby providing financing assistance to third
party treatment projects. Industry clusters, such as industrial
parks, would serve as the breakthrough for third party
treatment units to enter the market and for the centralised
treatment of wastewater and solid waste from corporates
within the district. At the local government level, the
“Thirteenth Five-year’ Plan for Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction in Guangdong Province” promoted the synergy
among all types of solid wastes treatment facilities. It
aimed at enhancing coordination and sharing among waste
recycling and waste incineration and landfill facilities, and
pushed forward the construction of integrated energy, water
resources and solid waste treatment facilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWE D AT

On the other hand, tough environmental enforcement
continued in China as the central government rolled out
environmental supervision over all aspects and investigated
non-compliance with environmental regulations. The
“Interpretation of the Supreme People’s Court and
Supreme People’s Procuratorate on Several Issues Related
to Laws Applicable to Criminal Cases of Environmental
Pollution” clearly defined the criminal liabilities for frauds
in environmental impact assessment, which facilitated in-
depth and effective environmental enforcement. Since the
implementation of the New Environmental Protection Law,
which was regarded as the “toughest law ever”, the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment has organised annual events
on the Environmental Protection Law for three consecutive
years to fully promote environmental protection laws and
complementary measures. During the period, the number
of cases applying the four supporting measures of the
“Environmental Protection Law” went up substantially,
indicating increasing efforts in environmental enforcement.

To sum up, given the inclusion of ecological civilisation in
the state’s top-level design, the implementation of various
favourable policies and stricter environmental enforcement,
the environmental treatment market was expanding. Top
enterprises with high technology level, strong financing
capability and extensive operating experience will have
significant advantages in market competition.

In 2017, capitalising on the commencement of operation
or commission of major projects, the Group further
consolidated the foundation of the three core business
segments, namely water treatment, solid waste and hazard
waste treatment and disposal.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of business exploration, the construction of Phase
1 of Yulin (Fumian) Energy-Saving Environmental Protection
Industrial Park (EM (E#)HERREELXRER) in
Fumian District, Yulin City, the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region (“Fumian Project”), which is one of the flagship
projects of the Group, has been completed in June 2017.
The project was commissioned gradually and 20 production
enterprises in the park have commenced operation. Phase
2 of the project, namely the Yulin CT Fabric Materials
Production Base Construction Project, will focus on the
textile and fabric materials procession industry and aim at
establishing a textile and apparels industry cluster with a
complete industrial chain, independent innovation capability
and high added value. The construction of the project has
commenced in October 2017 and it is expected that the
project will be put into operation in mid-2018. The Fumian
Project combines pilot environmental initiatives, industrial
transfer and industrial upgrade. It pursues the compact and
energy saving model, adopts effective and market-driven
development strategy and accelerates growth through
diverse forms of cooperation. Being the industrial cluster
and innovation hub, the project has major advantages. Not
only will the ancillary environmental infrastructure provide
extra capacity for Yulin’s apparels corporations undergoing
transformation and upgrade to overcome environmental
constraints, it will also offer environmental carrying capacity
for the industrial transfer in the Pearl River Delta and
Yangtze River Delta. This will completely eliminate the
bottleneck due to environmental constraints in the course of
ongoing development.

EEEWED

EEXBHRAIE AEBWE
BEE v ——(VRERLEKE
BEEMHEREENEM (8
B FRRREXESEE (/|
®IER])-HER=ZE—+
FERNATRERILFEERE
XRANBEELENIC EE
RE BEZ-H - BDEMTF
HREEREEEMERE
B #USmSREERMIE
AT FTEEXETE A
BB AR AN SHINER
HEBREEEER ERZZ
—tF+HAMI  EER=
T \FFEREEERRE-
BREELZERRLE - EX
ERMEEARBRNL AT
SHERE - SR ESNE
B ZERANSEMRER-
ERAEEERRAIFHL %
HEAEFEEZ -BEERE
NIRBEERRETNESENE
ih Y AR 5E (b E R AL IR (AR
RRBHNONEAEZIEES
FEAREUH=A R=-AE%
ERREHRERETLE  BE
AR ERRBREPIRE
HAWIRTERIRE -

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017

15



16

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWE AT

As the Group invested in the Fumian Project, it noticed
that enterprises in the local area and other PRC regions
had huge demand for industrial parks with well-established
auxiliary services. With the strong support by all levels of
local governments in the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region and Yulin City, the Group entered into the investment
agreement with the government of Bobai County in relation
to the construction, operation and management of a
series of exclusive local projects in industrial wastewater
treatment, industrial water supply, heat and power supply,
solid waste treatment and disposal and hazardous waste
treatment and disposal under the “build-own-operate”
(BOO) model (“Bobai Project”). The construction of Phase
1 of the Bobai Project is expected to commence in the
second quarter of 2018. To explore wastewater treatment
in the pharmaceutical industry, the Group entered into the
investment agreement with the management committee
of Yulin Chinese Medicine Health Industrial Park ( & #k
FREEZEfEEE ¥ E) for the construction and operation
of a centralised industrial wastewater treatment plant,
wastewater collection pipeline network and other auxiliary
facilities under the build-own-operate (BOO) model in the
industrial park.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the solid waste segment, the Group adopted the
environmental strategy of “waste in, products out and
emission free”. The Guangdong Longtao Recycling
Economic Industrial Project (EREHBREBEXER)
(“Longtao Project”), which was constructed in Longmen
County, Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, includes 8
environmental sub-projects. Of which, the Longmen County
seamless integration project for domestic wastes from
urban and rural areas, which has been completed and put
into operation, is a key livelihood related project at the
provincial, municipal and county level. Based on which, the
Group will be responsible for the centralised planning and
construction of domestic waste treatment facility (including
waste-to-energy plant, waste transfer station in towns and
waste collection points in villages) for the whole county. It
will offer centralised operation of complementary garbage
trucks as well. The integrated domestic waste treatment
system comprising “sorting by household, cleaning by
group, collection by village and transportation by enterprise
for centralised treatment” has seamlessly coordinated the
“county, town, village and village group” in urban and rural
domestic waste collection, transportation and treatment,
realising full coverage of urban and rural domestic waste
treatment in Longmen County.

In addition, the wholly-owned subsidiaries and other
subsidiaries of the Group won the bids for a sludge
dehydration treatment project of Guangzhou Sewage
Purification Company Limited, the provision of sludge
treatment services to Guangzhou Development Zone
Wastewater Treatment Management Bureau, a solid waste
treatment and disposal project in Qingcheng District,
Qingyuan City, Guangdong Province, and a stored
municipal solid waste treatment project in Tangxia municipal
solid waste landfill. Apart from these, it entered into the
hazardous waste treatment service contract with CNOOC
China Limited Shenzhen Branch, which not only expanded
the income base of the Group, but also enhanced its profile
and reputation, thereby upgrading its ability to pursue more
business opportunities in the future and laying a sound
foundation for the long-term sustainability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In recognition of its outstanding performance in
environmental business and capital operation, the Group
was awarded a number of honours during the year,
including the 2016 “leading enterprise in niche market and
single capability” award for Chinese water enterprises,
the 2016 “Green Award (# % #€)” - “Enterprise with
Leading Comprehensive Strength in Industrial Wastewater
Treatment” for Chinese environmental enterprises with
leading competitiveness, “2017 China Financing Award”,
“Most Investment Value Award” and “2017 Golden Hong
Kong Share-Listed Utility and Environmental Company with
Most Value” award. These accolades demonstrated that the
strong development momentum and outstanding investment
value of the Group in recent years were highly recognised
by the environmental sector and capital market. In particular,
the Group received the “Green Award (#Z#€) " again
after 2016, which showed that it is widely acclaimed for
its innovative research technology, remarkable market
performance and distinguished industry position. This is
also a reward for its intense efforts in the environmental
sector and market exploration.

In terms of corporate management, the Group further
refined and optimised the professional and comprehensive
environmental, social, health and safety management
system, along with the risk management system. During
the year, there were no major production accidents in any
environmental projects, and the Group has achieved stable
operation and met the discharge standards. The Group kept
investing in independent research and development, as well
as technological innovation. As of the end of 2017, it was
granted 77 patents by the State Intellectual Property Office,
including 35 invention patents and 42 utility models.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017

ERERREBRMERNEE
ZFHNEERE AEER
FRESZEARE BE_Z
—RNEFEEFEKERLEHAD
BN EEAE BN | R
B -ZE-AREEFEHERED
EMmF N [4piade | —[ TR
KARBEREBENEELE]
[2017FFEIME RS ] [&
AREEEZE]RI2017F€
BRREAEBEARSERERR
BRARIKEE—RIIRE
HES T RRIRRITEM
BEARAMBSHAEB R FRAEY
BRZENRFREEENS
ERA AHRE_FT—XRF
BBREBHB[BRE] T2
AR EERERI IR
fii-BENHHERERSH
TEMNESEZRT UK
X RAEAREEERREERH
HE-BHEMERTENSE

HEhFERIE AEEE—
FHENEEEE - ZENER
B-HE RERZE2EER
ZNERBEZER  SERR
HEFANEEREESH B
RREETRERENR K&
BN E B EM MR RIS
HEERA BEZZ—+1F
EARERMNBERREE
ZER771E K AERI35
H > BRI AER4218



Management Discussion and Analysis

Furthermore, the Group endeavours to fulfilling its corporate
social responsibility. For example, it co-sponsored the
fireworks display for the celebration of the HKSAR’s
20th anniversary, which created a joyful and festive
mood, brought positive energy to society and enhanced
the international profile of Hong Kong. The Group also
sponsored the “InnoTech Expo 2017” — Chinese Cultivation
and Technology Innovation Exhibition for the second
consecutive year, with the aim of introducing China’s
scientific and technological achievement to Hong Kong
citizens. The event encouraged young people to join the
innovation and technology industry, thereby boosting
the competitiveness of Hong Kong and facilitating the
development of local technology industry. The Group
contributed to the Food for Good Fundraising Gala Dinner
to raise awareness of the food waste reduction scheme
and spread the green messages of resources conservation
and environmental protection. The Group is committed to
education and talent nurture. In order to reward outstanding
pupils and support their studies, it offers subsidies through
the “CTEG Scholarship” for the School of Environmental
Science and Engineering of Sun Yat-Sen University and
the School of Environment and Energy of South China
University of Technology, hoping to motivate them to join
the environmental sector and nurture more talents for the
green industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Il. Business Review —- ¥KEE

Water Treatment Services

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated a total
of 14 water treatment plants, including 7 industrial
and 3 municipal wastewater treatment plants, and 4
industrial water supply plants; 3 industrial wastewater
treatment plant and 1 industrial water supply plant are
expected to be put into operation in 2018.

As of 31 December 2017, the total designed capacity
of wastewater treatment facilities in operation
was 755,000 m3/day, representing an increase of
approximately 6.4% compared to the total capacity
of 709,500 m3/day in operation as at 31 December
2016 while the total designed capacity of industrial
water supply plants in operation was 330,000 m?/
day, representing an increase of approximately 18%
compared to that of 280,000 m3/day in operation
as at 31 December 2016. The growth in wastewater
treatment capacity and the growth in industrial water
supply capacity were attributable to the contribution
from the commencement of the Phase | of the Fumian
Project.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The analysis of projects held as at 31 December 2017

was as follows:

EEE R WD T

R=ZZE-—tH+=A
=t+t-HEBAEEZD
T :

Daily Designed Wastewater Industrial
Treatment Capacity Industrial Wastewater Municipal Wastewater Treatment Water
(m*/Day) Treatment Treatment Subtotal Supply Total
SARTREEND BKER I¥RK
(ZHK/R) I$5KRE THSKEE it H#E ag
Operational Model EEER BOO BOT BOO BOT BOO
In operation EgH 580,000 45,000 10,000 120,000 755,000 330,000 1,085,000
Pending operation 5Eg 50,000 - - - 50,000 50,000 100,000
Under construction/ ERT/EER

with plan to construct 165,000 - - 50,000 215,000 150,000 365,000
Total Fh 795,000 45,000 10,000 170,000 1,020,000 530,000 1,550,000
Number of Water Plants/Each* X H#& /f8*
In operation Egd 6 1 1 2 10 4 14
Pending operation HEE 1 - - - 1 1 2
Under construction/ BRT/GHERR

with plan to construct 3 - - - 3 1 4
Total @it 10 1 1 2 14 6 2

*

as an increase in number of water plants.

Capacity expansion of existing water plants is not deemed
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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1.1

i

Industrial Wastewater Treatment Services

Industrial wastewater treatment is the core
business of the Group. The Group focused
on third party centralised treatment market
operated under the BOO model, providing
polluting enterprises in the industrial parks or
clusters with professional third party solutions
for pollution control to help them achieve the
separation of “pollution control” and “pollution
generation”, thereby effectively solving the
pollution problem. Currently, customers served by
the Group cover industries ranging from textile,
printing and dying, papermaking, food processing
to electronic electroplating. The Group will
continue to broaden its customer base in the
foreseeable future to cover industries such as
the pharmaceutical industry and fine chemicals
industry.

As of 31 December 2017, the Group owned 7
industrial wastewater treatment plants which
are in operation in Guangdong Province, Hunan
Province and the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, with an aggregated designed treatment
capacity of 625,000 m3/day.

CT Environmental Group Limited

Annual Report 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the
daily average utilisation rate of the industrial
wastewater treatment plants was approximately
66% and the total wastewater treatment
volume was approximately 4% higher than the
corresponding period in 2016. Projects under
construction or with plan to construct for the
year had a designed capacity of 165,000 m3¥/
day which mainly include Phase 1 of the Bobai
Project, a designed capacity of 100,000 m%/
day. Bobai Project is expected to commence
operation in the fourth quarter of 2018.

Other projects included in projects under
construction or with plan to construct are: 1)
a wastewater treatment plant in Yulin Chinese
Medicine Health Industrial Park ( & #k Fh 88 % i F§
EZE) (“Yulin Chinese Medicine Project”) which
had a capacity of 5,000 m3/day; 2) a wastewater
treatment plant in relation to Phase 2 of Fumian
Project which had a capacity of 50,000 m®day;
and 3) a wastewater treatment plant in Bobai
Industrial Transfer Park (18 H T2 #E&E) which
had a capacity of 10,000 m3/day.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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1.2 Municipal Wastewater Treatment Services

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated
3 municipal wastewater treatment plants in
Guangdong Province, with a total designed
capacity of 130,000 m%day. Those treatment
plants have maintained stable utilisation rates.
To cope with the urban development plan of
Zengcheng District, Guangzhou City, additional
planning of municipal wastewater treatment
facilities has been made for Phase 4 of Yonghe
Haitao wastewater treatment facilities recently.
The designed capacity is 50,000 m%/day. It is
scheduled to commence operation in the fourth
quarter of 2018.

CT Environmental Group Limited

Annual Report 2017

1.2 WBUSKEE R

HE-_ZF—t&F
+=-A=+—8"
AEEEERERN
B3 T BT K
B BERETE
Bt £130,00032 &
K,/ B -ZERE
BEFERISEEN
EeFNAR A
EEMNTIBHERN
WERERE R
BT I E B KA
TEEAHS KRR
YT BUS KE
HREBER KR
= Bt 550,000 /5
KB FEEHRZ
E-NFENEE
RE.



1.3

Management Discussion and Analysis

Industrial Water Supply

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated
4 industrial water supply plants in Guangdong
Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region. During 2017, the total designed
capacity of these plants was 330,000 m?/
day with an average daily utilisation rate of
approximately 53% and the total industry water
supply volume was approximately 3% lower
than the corresponding period in 2016. These
plants are located in the same industrial parks
as the industrial wastewater treatment plants
operated by the Group, and as a demonstration
of circular economy, are connected to respective
wastewater treatment plants in the same
industrial park via reclaimed water recycling
facilities for the provision of industrial water
supply services to the same clusters of clients of
industrial wastewater treatment services. Projects
under construction or with plan to construct had
a total designed capacity of 150,000 m3/day.
These projects include Phase 2 of the Fumian
Project with a total designed capacity of 50,000
mé3/day and Phase 1 of the Bobai Project with a
total designed capacity of 100,000 m®/day. They
are scheduled to commence operation in the
second quarter and fourth of 2018 respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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B3 4T

Sludge and General Solid Waste Treatment Services

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated a total
of 3 sludge treatment facilities and 2 general industrial
solid wastes treatment facilities in Guangdong
Province. The total treatment capacity for sludge
was 3,442 tonnes/day, which is the same as the total
capacity as at 31 December 2016. The Group’s two
safety landfills for treatment and disposal of general
industrial solid wastes had a total designed capacity of
2,800,000 mé.

As at 31 December 2017, the capacity under
construction for sludge treatment was expected to
be 700 tonnes/day. The projects were Phase 1 of the
sludge treatment facility in the Longmen Industrial
Base with a capacity of 500 tonnes/day and the
sludge treatment facility in Fumian Project with a
capacity of 200 tonnes/day. For the year ended 31
December 2017, the total capacity of projects for
general industrial solid waste treatment increased by
100,000 tonnes/year as compared to the total capacity
as at 31 December 2016, which was contributed by
the commencement of operation of the landfill for safe
disposal of solid wastes in Longmen Industrial Base.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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2.1

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWE DT

Sludge Treatment and Disposal

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated
3 sludge treatment facilities in Guangdong
Province. The total designed capacity was 3,442
tonnes/day. The average capacity utilisation rate
during the period was 97%, which is comparable
to that of the same period of 2016. Among the
total sludge treated and disposed of by the
Group, approximately 79% comprised “municipal
sludge” produced in urban centralised municipal
wastewater treatment plants, and approximately
21% comprised “dyeing sludge” produced in
dyeing wastewater treatment and “papermaking
sludge” produced in papermaking wastewater
treatment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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2.2

2.3

i

General Industrial Solid Wastes Treatment and
Disposal

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated
2 general industrial solid wastes treatment and
disposal facilities in Guangdong Province. There
are two landfills for safe disposal of solid wastes
with a capacity of 2,800,000 m®. The landfills are
capable of safe treatment and disposal of general
industrial solid wastes. For the year ended 31
December 2017, these facilities accumulatively
received and disposed of approximately 103,000
tonnes of general industrial solid wastes,
representing an increase of approximately 27,000
tonnes as compared with the same period in
2016.

Domestic Waste Treatment

The Group has constructed a seamless
project for urban and rural wastes treatment
in Guangdong Province. The Group has also
entered into a concession agreement for this
project with the government of Longmen County,
Guangdong Province for a term of 30 years.
The total approved treatment capacity was
600 tonnes/day for incineration treatment. This
project is located in the “Longmen Industrial
Base (BEPIE % EHh) ” and its business covers
the collection, transportation and incineration
of urban and rural domestic wastes to generate
electricity. The project commenced trial operation
in December 2017.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Hazardous Waste Treatment Services

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated 6
hazardous wastes treatment and disposal facilities
in Guangdong Province. These facilities altogether
cover 20 types of hazardous wastes under the revised
“National Hazardous Waste List” with a total treatment
capacity of approximately 765,000 tonnes/year. Among
them, Guangzhou Lvyou Industrial Waste Reclamation
Treatment Company Limited possessed capacity
for comprehensive harmless treatment and safe
disposal of hazardous wastes and leading approved
treatment scale in the country. It provides services
to various industries such as petroleum, chemical,
electronic, automobile manufacturing, shipbuilding and
pharmaceuticals. Its annualised capacity utilisation
rate for receipt and disposal of hazardous wastes was
approximately 58% for the year ended 31 December
2017. CT (Nansha) Ocean Protection Centre is
specialised in collection, treatment, disposal, recycling
and comprehensive utilisation of oily wastewater
and oily sludge and residues (HWO08) in ports and on
vessels. In 2017, the annualised capacity utilisation
rate of oily wastewater received and treated was
approximately 11%. The hazardous waste and general
industrial solid waste collection and storage centre
constructed by the Group in Foshan City, Guangdong
Province had a collection and storage capacity of
50,000 tonnes/year for hazardous waste and 50,000
tonnes/year for general industrial solid wastes. The
project is scheduled to commence operation in the
second half of 2018. The Group expects that it will
seize market opportunities on an ongoing basis and
continue to expand the business scale of hazardous
waste treatment and disposal, so as to enhance its
strength and influence as a professional provider of
comprehensive environmental pollution management
solutions.
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Future Outlook

Looking forward, the Group will stay true to the mission
and work towards its goal. It will take more proactive
actions and integrate resources to consolidate and enhance
achievements in core business segments including water
treatment, solid waste and hazardous waste treatment and
disposal. Meanwhile, it will explore the fields of pollution
control engineering and energy-efficient industry.

While advancing major projects, the Group will optimise
the Fumian Project in a steady manner and complete the
construction of subsequent phases to a high quality and
standard on top of Phase 1. Encompassing energy saving,
curricular model, comprehensiveness and environmental
protection, the project will evolve into a demonstrative
industrial park for the energy saving and environmental
industry in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region and the
PRC. The Group will speed up the Bobai Project to facilitate
the development of Yulin as an international fashion
center. Pursuant to the strategic cooperation framework
agreement entered into between the Group and the Yulin
Government in relation to the comprehensive environmental
treatment and economic development project in Nanliujiang
River Basin, the Group will commence comprehensive
treatment of industrial pollution, comprehensive treatment
of agricultural pollution, comprehensive treatment of urban
and rural waste, ecological protection and rehabilitation of
river course, and building and operation of environmental
protection capabilities. Besides, it will step up investments
to complete the remaining sub-projects of the Longtao
Project to a high standard, so that they can commence
operation and contribute profits as soon as possible. The
Group will study the expansion plan of industrial parks as
well.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For technological innovation, the Group will incorporate the
innovative concept of supply-side structural reform in the
environmental sector and upgrade innovation strategy. For
instance, it will establish a world-class research institute
in Hong Kong based on the existing CT Environmental
Research Institute, so as to expand the applications of
technological and innovation achievements. It will also catch
up with leading institutes in the world and push forward
for further progress. By setting up the Environment and
Economy Synergetic Development Center in the Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, it will play an active role in
national environmental research programs of central and
local government bodies. The establishment of the CT
Research Fund will support independent research and
development of unique projects, which will boost the core
competitiveness of the Group on all fronts.

Financial Review

Turnover

The turnover of the Group decreased by approximately
3.6% to approximately HKD2,099.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 from approximately HKD2,177.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2016. Such
decrease is the net effect of the followings:

1)  BOT construction revenue of the Guangdong Longmen
Longtao Recycling Economic and Industrial Base
was HKD223.0 million, representing a decrease of
RMB109.5 million as compared with HKD332.5 million
in the same period of last year;

2) The decrease in revenue from hazardous waste
treatment segment by HKD46.6 million; and
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3) the Group’s project in Fumian District, Yulin City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (Fumian
Project) commence its operation in second half of
2017. Revenue generated by Fumian Project was
approximately HKD25.8 million.

Cost of sales

The total cost of sales of the Group increased by
approximately 9.8% approximately to HKD1,298.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 from approximately
HKD1,182.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2016, which is mainly due to 1) the increase in repair and
maintenance expenses by HKD125.4 million; and 2) the
cost contributed by Fumian Project which commence
its operation in second half of 2017 was approximately
HKD31.1 million.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately
19.5% to approximately HKD800.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 from approximately HKD994.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2016, primarily as a
result of the factors described above.

The overall gross profit margin of the Group decreased to
approximately 38.1% for the year ended 31 December 2017
from approximately 45.7% for the year ended 31 December
2016, primarily due to the negative gross profit ratio of 21%
contributed by the newly commenced Fumian Project.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other net income/(loss)

Other net income of 2017 mainly included the gain of
HKD66.4 million from sales of a commercial use land
of the Group in Zengcheng of Guangzhou and foreign
exchange gain of approximately HKD20.7 million (2016:
foreign exchange loss of HKD64.8 million). The net foreign
exchange gain primarily arose from receivables and bank
loans that were denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the relevant entities.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 7.5% to approximately HKD276.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 from approximately
HKD298.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.
This was primarily due to the decrease in impairment losses
expenses of trade and other receivables, intangible assets
and goodwill.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group increased by approximately
21.3% to approximately HKD124.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 from HKD102.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2016, primarily due to average
bank balance increased. The effective interest rate was
4.2% and 3.8% during the year ended 31 December 2016
and 2017.

Profit before taxation

The profit before taxation of the Group increased by
approximately 12.9% to approximately HKD812.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017 from HKD719.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016 primarily due to the
factors described above.
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Income tax

The income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2017 increased by approximately 9.9% as
compared with the corresponding period last year, which
was in line with profit before tax.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

The profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company has increased by approximately 12.7% to
approximately HKD682.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 from HKD605.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2016, primarily as a result of the factors
described above.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The principal liquidity and capital requirements of the Group primarily
relate to the acquisition of projects, construction of properties, plant
and equipment and operation expenses.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and
bank deposits was approximately HKD519.0 million (2016: HKD1,155.8
million), representing a decrease of approximately 55.1% as compared
to that as at 31 December 2016.

BANK LOANS AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2017, the total amount of bank loans of the Group
was approximately HKD3,461.9 million(2016: HKD3,171.8 million),
in which 77.0% (2016: 66.5%) were denominated in RMB. All of the
Group’s bank borrowings carry floating interest rates. The unutilised
bank facilities amounted to HKD1,679.1 million as at 31 December
2017 (2016: HKD2,084.2 million).

As at 31 December 2017, the secured bank loans amounted to
HKD2,927.0 million, and unsecured bank loans amounted to HKD534.9
million.

As at 31 December 2017, covenants relating to restrictions on
controlling shareholder, the consolidated EBITDA to long-term
borrowings matured within one year and consolidated finance cost
ratio, and adjusted cash flow to consolidated debt services ratio had
been breached (2016: nil). The company is in the process of obtaining
waivers on such non-compliances from relevant banks.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio, as calculated by dividing
the total borrowings (net of cash and cash equivalent, deposits with a
bank with original maturity date over three months) by the total equity
of the Group, was 63.8% (2016: 55.8%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Group had no
material contingent liabilities or guarantees.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group pledged certain of its property,
plant and machinery and lease prepayments with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HKD313.8 million (2016: HKD289.6
million) to certain banks to secure certain credit facilities granted to
the Group. In addition, the Group’s equity interests in Qingyuan Lvyou,
Guangzhou Yinglong and Guangzhou Liangang were pledged to
secure bank loans granted to the Group.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The major capital expenditures of the Group primarily consist of
expenditures to acquire lease prepayments, purchase of property,
plant and equipment and BOT construction project.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the capital expenditures of the
Group (mainly including additions in property, plant and equipment,
additions in lease prepayments and additions in BOT construction
cost) amounted to approximately HKD1,087.2 million (2016: HKD748
million). These capital expenditures were funded by bank borrowings,
funds generated from the operating activities of the Group.

The Group expects to incur additional capital expenditures in view of
the various acquisition opportunities in the sector and the scheduled
construction of facilities for the current project portfolio. These capital
expenditures are expected to be funded mainly by operation cash
flows and bank borrowings.

EEEWED T

R-ZZE—tF+=A=+—-—H BEES&
fBibR (ZEFRRE (EHNRRERRE
ZEY UREFRRBRITRIBAEA
=B R 2FR) AR EE MR AR
5)%638% (ZZF—/RF:1558%)

BEER

R-ZE—+tHF+-BA=+—-HKZE
—ANEFE+ZA=+—H AEBEIEF
MEAREEBEHER-

& E

RZEBE—+tHE+-A=+—8 F&EE
B TRTIEAREMEALRENA313.88
BET(ZE—RF :28968EET)HN
ETVE - BEREBEUARBEESK
B UERRFAEENE TEERE -
AN REBIERNERSH  EMNERE
REMNEBHREEAAREERITER
Y3 o

BEARRX

AEEFEEARXTEREWEEE
BNREURBENE BERRER
BOTZ 5215 B f9pA X

BE-Z—tF+=-A=+—HLLHF
E AEEBEARAZ (EEEEVE K
EREEEN  HERAFIBEMNEBOT
AN 491,087 2BHEBT (=8
—NE 7T48EHBEBL) cZEEARETH
BITERRAEELETHEES R
e

ERZIBzZERBHREBRREER
HEMFARBER AEBEHEBEE
LSRN ERAX AHZAFELRAS
TERNKERESRNERRITERBS -

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017

35



36

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWE D AT

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are mainly
denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
arising from receivables and bank loans that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant entities.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily RMB and USD.
The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances. As at 31 December
2017, approximately 98.7%, 0.1% and 1.2% of the cash and cash
equivalent held by the Group are denominated in RMB, USD and HKD
respectively (31 December 2016: 96.7%, 2.6% and 0.7%)).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed 2,098 employees
(2016: 1,941 employees). Employee costs amounted to approximately
HKD213.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
approximately HKD185.5 million). The Group will endeavour to ensure
that the employees’ salary levels are in line with industry practice and
prevailing market conditions, and that employees’ remuneration is
based on their performance.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations and which is
payable to staff based on his or her individual performance and that
of the Group as a whole. Furthermore, the Company also adopted a
share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) to recognize and
motivate the contributions made to the Group by its employees and to
give incentives in order to retain them for the continuous operation and
development of the Group.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the detailed information
about the material disposal and acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group is as follow:

On 30 June 2017, the Group disposed of its entire equity shares in
Guangzhou Zhongtao to Guangzhou To Kee, a related party effectively
owned by the controlling shareholder of the Group, Mr. Tsui Cham To,
for a consideration of HKD28,805,000 (equivalent to RMB25,000,000).
The primary activity of Guangzhou Zhongtao was investment holding
in the PRC. Further information in relation to the disposal is set out in
note 15(b)(i) of this annual report.

On 31 March 2017, the Group disposed of its 99% equity shares in
Xintao Environmental to an independent third party, for a consideration
of HKD112,640,000 (equivalent to RMB100,000,000). The dominated
activity of Xintao Environmental was currently holding a land used right
in China. Further information in relation to the disposal is set out in
note 15(b)(ii) of this annual report.

Other than as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2017, the Group did not have any other material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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QUALIFIED AUDIT OPINION

During the course of the audit for the year ended 31 December 2017,
the auditors identified a turnover amount of HKD61.6 million in relation
to the provision of sludge and solid waste treatment services (the
“Transactions”) which were not substantiated with relevant supporting
documents. The current tax expenses relating to the Transactions
amounted to HKD5.8 million. As at 31 December 2017, the
outstanding receivable balance relating to these transactions (including
value-added tax) amounted to HKD72.1 million. As at 31 December
2017, the outstanding value-added tax payable balance and current
taxation payable balance relating to the Transactions amounted to
HKD10.5 million and HKD5.8 million respectively. There was no actual
impact on the Group’s cashflow position.

The Board is of the view, and the audit committee of the Company
agreed with the Board’s view, that the Transactions were properly
substantiated since the Group entered into written agreements with
each of the customers with respect to the Transactions, together with
other ancillary documents. As such, the Company considers that the
relevant amounts/balances of the Transactions are fairly stated in
the consolidated financial statements as they are consistent with the
amounts as stated in the relevant written agreement with each of the
customers.

The Company plans to maintain close communication with the
auditors and will use its best efforts to address their concerns and
requirements. To the best knowledge of the Company, if the Company
is able to satisfy auditors’ requirements regarding the Transactions, no
audit qualification on the opening figures of the financial statements of
the Company for the year ending 31 December 2018 will be issued.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENTS AFTER 31 DECEMBER 2017

Below are important events affecting the Group which occurred after
31 December 2017:

(i)

On 14 February 2018, the Group entered into a termination
agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) with Mr. Gu Yaokun,
the director of the Company, in regard of an agreement (the
“Original Agreement”). The Original Agreement was entered by
Qingyuan Lvyou and Mr. Gu Yaokun on 30 April 2014, pursuant
to which Qingyuan Lvyou transferred the title of certain fixed
assets and land-use rights (together as the “Assets”) to Mr.
Gu Yaokun on 30 April 2014. On the other hand, as agreed in
the Original Agreement, Qingyuan Lvyou would purchase the
Assets back upon the issuance of the formal land and property
registration certificates for the Assets by local government
authorities. Moreover, on 30 April 2014, the Group acquired
100% equity interests of Qingyuan Lvyou from Mr. Gu Yaokun.
As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Gu Yaokun had not obtained
the formal land and property registration certificates for all of
the Assets. On 14 February 2018, the Group entered into the
Termination Agreement with Mr. Gu Yaokun, and the title of the
Assets without formal land and property registration certificates
were transferred to the Group. As at the date of the Termination
Agreement, Mr. Gu was a Director and therefore a connected
person of the Company. The Termination Agreement therefore
constitutes a connected transaction under the Listing Rules. As
all the applicable percentage ratios of the Termination Agreement
are less than 5%, the Termination Agreement is only subject to
the reporting and announcement requirements, but is exempt
from independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules. Details of the Termination Agreement were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 14 February 2018.

EEEWED T

R-_F—tHE+-A=+—HEHN=E

"

LITAR=—ZF—tF+=RA=1+—-H#&
BREHRAEEERTENERSE:!

(i)

RZZ2-NE-A+HNA -~5H
BEARRESHRPLER — B
& ([RipZ]) T L& ([&
i) - RipEABESHES
BHEER-TE-—NFNA=1+H
RN B FESAR-FT-O
FOA=tHRETEEEEZ
FrERRLiERE (RBIZE
EENBRTLRRELE-S—F
T » BB A0 SR 155 5 o 1 E 0 B I
IR HZEYWEZEXN LR
MRBTESR BESHEEE
ZEEE-WMN R-ZZF-—NFD
A=1TH AEEGO G EHEEY
BERFEH100% KR E- R=F—+
F+ZA=1T—H H@HEEYL
AFIEZEEENSEXN LR
MEZECIEE-R-F-N\FZA
THA  AEEEGEHEET Y
Ribthz CHBEEX T RYE
BRRECRTEEZLERESR
FAEB -RALBHEER &%
ERES AURBFLTANEEA
T AR EHEER EHRRE
THRERS AR LLHERFT
BEAB D ERIGERE% AL
MR EAET EHRAIBTWEHER
RAERE HERRBTHEIR
RHALERE - R UL HRFBHAAE
RABHR-ZT-NEF-A+HTAH

2R

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017

39



40

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWE D AT

(ii)

On 2 February 2018, the Group entered into a financial strategic
co-operation agreement with China Construction Bank (“CCB”)
(the “Financial Agreement”). According to the terms of the
Financial Agreement, CCB will provide the Group an intended
maximum loan amount of approximately HKD2.87 billion
(equivalent to RMB2.4 billion) subject to approval by CCB. The
maximum amount of loan to be granted to the Group pursuant to
the Financial Agreement shall be applied towards the financing
of acquisition of fixed assets, working capital, trading, merger
and acquisitions, bills, guarantees and other funds. Details of the
financial strategic co-operation agreement were set out in the
announcement dated 2 February 2018.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other important events
materially affecting the Group after 31 December 2017.
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Cham To, aged 51, current Justice of the Peace, current
member of the 12th Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC), is one of the
founders of the Group, and the Chairman and Executive Director of
the Company appointed on 30 November 2010. He is a cousin of
Mr. Xu Juwen. Mr. Tsui is mainly responsible for leading the Board
in setting the Group’s overall directions, strategies, agendas and
priorities. Mr. Tsui has approximately 15 years of experience in the
wastewater treatment and industrial water supply industry. Mr. Tsui
was the vice president of the Guangdong Foundation for Justice and
Courage (EREAZESE) . From April 2000 to March 2001 and
April 2002 to March 2006, Mr. Tsui was a director of Hong Kong Yan
Chai Hospital. Mr. Tsui was also an adviser to the Board of Directors
of the Scientific Decision and Promotion Association of Guangdong
Province Village and Town Heads in 2004. Mr. Tsui was appointed as
the chair professor at Faculty of Management of Shenzhen University.
Furthermore, Mr. Tsui was the vice president of the Guangzhou
Overseas Chinese Chamber of Commerce in 2006 as well as the
vice president of the 10th, 11th and 12th Zengcheng Federation of
Commerce and Industry (B Hm TEAXHSE (#HE) ). He was an
excellent member ({2355 Z &) of the Standing Committee of the 6th,
7th and 8th Zengcheng City Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (M E Rt  NEFEARBGAHEEREHTEES
E%¥Z) . He was also a member of the Standing Committee of the 9th
Huizhou City Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (X
HBEMTENEEZEEELEE) . In addition, Mr. Tsui was an honorary
citizen of the Guangzhou Municipality and Huizhou Municipality as well
as the honorary chairman of the 8th Committee of the Federation of
the Zengcheng City Returned Chinese (i m SR EIEFBHSE) . In
2017, Mr. Tsui was granted a degree of Honourary Doctor of Business
Administration from Sabi University.

Mr. Xu Zhencheng, aged 65, is an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company appointed on 24 August 2017. He
is a researcher and doctoral tutor, previously the chief scientist of the
Company, director of technical committee and president of Guangzhou
CT Environmental Research Institute Co., Ltd. as well. Mr. Xu has
almost 40 years of experience in the research and engineering practice
of environmental science and engineering technology, specializing in
the research and engineering technology development of pollution
control systems. Mr. Xu previously as a major director in South China
Institute of Environmental Sciences of Ministry of Environmental
Protection, has rich management experience. With the technical title
of Research Associate ( Z##f3t &), Mr. Xu is currently the Director
of Chinese Society for Environmental Science and Environmental
Risks Professional Committee, Adjunct Professor of College of
Environmental Science and Engineering at Peking University (43 X
)  and Director of “Water Pollution Control and Treatment” (7K §&55
Z #8543 ) of Dongjiang Project, a national science and technology
major project. Mr. Xu graduated from Sun Yat-sen University ( /1L X
E2) in 1980 majoring in geography.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEE

Mr. Gu Yaokun, aged 54, is the founder of Guangzhou Lvyou Industrial
Waste Reclamation Treatment Company Limited and Qingyuan
Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited, the
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Gu was then appointed as an
Executive Director and Co-Chief Operating Officer of the Group since
23 November 2015 and is now in charge of the operation of our
solid waste treatment and hazardous waste treatment businesses.
Mr. Gu has over 30 years of experience in the venture capital and
operation management of petrochemical engineering, environmental
protection and resource recycling industry. Mr. Gu is currently the vice
chairman of solid waste branch of Chinese Society for Environmental
Sciences (FEIRERIZEEE) | the managing director of Guangdong
Environmental Protection Association, a member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Nansha District in Guangdong province,
the vice chairman of manufacturers association of Panyu District in
Guangdong province, the vice chairman of Associations of Renewable
Resources industry in Panyu District. Mr. Gu was awarded the title
of “2010 Excellent Entrepreneur in Environment Protection Industry
of Guangdong”(2010FEERERREXEFTEER) in 2011.
Mr. Gu obtained the Executive Master of Business Administration
qualifications from Sun Yat-sen University in 2009.

Mr. Xu Shubiao, aged 52, is one of the founders of the Group and
an Executive Director appointed since 12 January 2011. Mr. Xu has
approximately 15 years of experience in the wastewater treatment
industry. Mr. Xu is our Co-Chief Operating Officer, responsible for the
construction and operation of all the water projects the Company
undertakes. Mr. Xu is experienced in the engineering, trading and
processing industries. Mr. Xu was an assistant general manager
at Guangzhou To Kee from 1995 to 2003. Mr. Xu has led the
development, operation and management of our wastewater treatment
facilities and industrial water supply facilities in our Guangzhou
Xinzhou Industrial Park since 2003. Mr. Xu is not related to other
Directors of the Company.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Xu Juwen, aged 43, is an Executive Director and Vice President
of the Group. He joined us in September 2003 and has served as
an Executive Director since 12 January 2011. Mr. Xu is a cousin
of Mr. Tsui Cham To. Mr. Xu is currently in charge of the Group’s
hazardous waste treatment segment. From 2001 to 2005, Mr. Xu
was the assistant general manager of Guangzhou To Kee Enterprises
Development Group Limited (“Guangzhou To Kee”), a related company
of the Group, where he oversaw its general operation. From 2005 to
2007, Mr. Xu was the general manager of Guangzhou Zhugang Pier
Company Limited ( EMNERBIFIRGPR A F)) , a private company in the
PRC, and from 2009 to 2011, Mr. Xu has been its executive director. In
2010, Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from Open
University of China (A REEBEESHR KE) .

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yang Chunlin, aged 62, is to be appointed on 3 April 2018 as
a Non-executive Director upon the final approval of the Board of
Directors and announcement. Mr. Yang received a Master's degree
in Economics from Nankai University and a Doctorate degree in
Management from Sun Yat-sen University. He has worked as an officer
in Liaoning branch of People’s Bank of China as well as Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”) Liaoning branch from 1982
to 1993. From 1993 to 1996, he was employed as a deputy director
and then a director of Industrial Credit Department in ICBC Liaoning
branch. In 1996, he was the head of ICBC Chaoyang branch in
Liaoning. He was appointed as the deputy head and general manager
of ICBC Guangdong branch, Head of ICBC Fujian Branch, Head of
ICBC Internal Audit Department Guangzhou branch and Senior Expert
of ICBC Guangdong branch from 1998 to 2016. He is currently an
Independent Director of Guangzhou Yuexiu Financial Holdings Group
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Suen To Wai, aged 44, was appointed on 14 February 2018 as an
Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Suen received his bachelor’s
degree in Commerce from the University of Western Australia and is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Suen has over 10 years of experience in financial reporting and
corporate finance.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEE

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, aged 61, was appointed on 16 January 2018
as an Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Zhang has had
the experience of working for the Chinese government since 1987
including the Xin Hua News Agency branch in Hong Kong (Liaison
Office of the Central People’s Government in Hong Kong). Since 2000,
Mr. Zhang has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies
and charitable organisations on a full-time and part-time basis in the
capacity such as chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs
consultant, chief secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.
Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association, a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008. In 2011, Mr.
Zhang was employed by the Hong Kong Academy of Management and
the Hong Kong Financial Services Institute as a professor on a part-
time basis. Further, he has been serving as the council member of the
China Overseas Friendship Association since 2013 and the executive
director of Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association since 2015
as well as the council member of the Shenzhen Overseas Friendship
Association since 2017. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 1888)) in January
2015. He was also appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1177)) in April 2015.
Mr. Zhang holds a Master’s degree in Philosophy from the Beijing
Normal University and is a research associate thereat.

Mr. Liu Yung Chau, aged 64, was appointed on 14 June 2011
as an Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Liu is a director of
Huashang Education Group Company Limited and Guangzhou Sun
City Group Limited. Mr. Liu was the chief president of the Hong Kong
Industrial & Commercial General Association, member of the standing
committee of Guangdong Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, member of the standing committee of Guangdong
Federation of Industry, vice chairman of the Guangdong Chamber
of Foreign Investors and chairman of the Zengcheng Federation of
Industry. In addition, Mr. Liu has been awarded the “World Outstanding
Chinese Award” (tt 52 ¢ H % A #8) in May 2010 and was awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia (BBS) by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region on 25 October 2013. Mr. Liu has established
the Guangzhou Sun City Group Limited and its affiliates covers a wide
range of business areas including education, hotel and tourism, textile
and apparel, real estate and financial investment industry. Mr. Liu was
given the honorary title of “May 1st Model Worker” in 2009.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Sit Hon Wing, aged 41, was appointed as Company Secretary
on 22 September 2017. Mr. Sit was one of the management team
members in the finance function, company secretarial function
and investor relations function of the Company between 2008 and
2015. Mr. Sit had worked in the audit and assurance department
of PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and had also served as
the financial controller and/or company secretary of various listed
companies in Hong Kong, including Hao Tian Development Group
Limited (Stock code: 474), Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited (Stock code: 1341) and Sau San Tong
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8200). Mr. Sit received a bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Sit currently serves as an executive director of Fujian Nuogi Co.,
Ltd. (Stock Code: 1353).

Mr. Du Daohong, aged 51, was appointed as Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Internal Control Officer of the Group in October 2017
and in January 2016 respectively. Mr. Du has a doctoral degree in
Management Science. He is also a senior engineer, a Chinese Certified
Public Accountant and a member of Guangzhou Zengcheng Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Du has extensive
experience in social science research and in banking and financing. Mr.
Du joined the Group in 2003 and has been responsible for investment,
business management, financial management and internal control.

Mr. Zhao Keyin, aged 43, is our Chief Engineer. Mr. Zhao joined us
in March 2004 and is currently responsible for the daily operation,
technical supervision and implementation of the wastewater treatment
business the Group. Mr. Zhao implements national policies relating
to technology and advanced technology management policies.
Mr. Zhao has approximately 14 years of experience in wastewater
treatment, with a special focus on industrial wastewater treatment
technology. He also leads the technical implementation aspects of
the Group’s projects, devise work plans to make sure the processing
technologies and procedures are in sync with various technical
standards, regulations and legal procedures in the industry. Mr. Zhao
is the Group’s key liaison with regulatory authorities. In 1998, Mr.
Zhao obtained a Diploma in Environmental Protection Monitoring and
Implementation from Shenyang Polytechnic University (7Efz T ¥#2
BZ) . He also obtained a Wastewater Treatment Training Certificate
issued by Guangdong Environmental Association Environmental
Protection Vocational Training Centre (/&R 17 IR (R B # H a1 3l o
1) . He has passed the environmental protection training accredited
by Guangzhou Environmental Protection Promotion and Education
Centre (EMNHRIBREEEH A /L) and Guangzhou Environmental
Protection Bureau (M TIREREF) as well.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEE

Mr. Lu Xiao’an, aged 53, is the Vice President of the Group. He is
mainly responsible for the daily operation of the Group’s hazardous
waste treatment business. Mr. Lu joined the Group in August
2015 (after the acquisition of Guangzhou Lvyou Industrial Waste
Reclamation Treatment Co., Limited by the Group). He graduated from
Environmental Science Department of Sun Yat-sen University in 1987.
During 1987 to 2004, he worked chronologically as an environmental
impact inspector at Guangzhou Environmental Monitoring Station, an
environmental impact monitor at Guangzhou Environmental Protection
Bureau, then back to Guangzhou Environmental Monitoring Station
as a head of office, head of motor vehicle emission inspection team,
head of motor vehicle emission monitoring division, the head of
motor vehicle emission supervision division, and a head of analysis
office. In May 2004, Mr. Lu joined Guangzhou Lvyou Industrial Waste
Reclamation Treatment Co., Limited as an assistant to director, the
deputy manager, and then the general manager.

Mr. Zhou Yongquan, aged 52, is the general manager of Qingyuan
Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited. Mr.
Zhou joined the Group in May 2014 (after the completion of the
acquisition of Qingyuan Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited by the Group). He has ever worked as a teacher in
middle school after graduating from Guangzhou Institute of Education
(EBMETEEZERIZPR) in 1987, and then joined companies founded
by Mr. Gu Yao Kun in 1997. The business scope of those companies
includes petrochemical engineering, environmental protection and
resource recycling and utilization industry. Mr. Zhou serves as the
general manager of these companies, Mr. Zhou has been involving
in the construction and subsequent daily operation and management
of sludge and solid waste treatment project of Qingyuan Lvyou
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited since 2009.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) POLICIES
AND PERFORMANCE

Environment

Throughout the years, the Group has strived to fulfil its corporate
social responsibility with a focus on the environmental treatment
business by providing various corporations and the community with
one-stop services such as wastewater treatment, sludge and solid
waste disposal treatment, and hazardous waste disposal treatment
in an endeavour to create long-term value for our stakeholders and
facilitate the sustainable development of the environment and society.

In light of the increasingly severe greenhouse effect and environmental
pollution issues, we, as a responsible environmental protection
enterprise, proactively respond to the national plan on environmental
protection. We complied with all relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China ( (R ZEARZEFEIRFREZED ), the Law
on Environmental Impact Appraisal of the People’s Republic of China
((PEARKLNBIREFETEE) ), the Production Safety Law of
the People’s Republic of China ( (FEARKEMBEZZ2EERE) ) as
well as all pollutant emission standards, in a bid to minimise the impact
of the business on the environment and utilise our business advantage
to mitigate pollutions in different regions and improve the ecology with
an aim to foster harmony between city and nature.
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RIE - HLERERKRE

The core business of the Group is to provide reduction, purification
and recycling treatment for pollutants. In this regard, we have
formulated a series of management systems and procedures that
specify the workflow and standards of employees in order to safeguard
the quality of products and services. We closely monitor the emission
of our treatment plants and conduct frequent internal inspections in
terms of wastewater, exhaust, noise and waste, in addition to the
regular inspections by the government and professional institutions.
We ensure that our emissions can meet or even surpass the national
and regional standards. We are also continuously optimising the
production techniques and enhancing the research and development
of new equipment to implement various environmental protection
measures in the course of operation. For example, we make use of
the power in water flow to reduce electricity in wastewater treatment
processes, and we also gradually installed deodorisation facilities in
specific plants so as to conserve energy and reduce emission, thereby
conserving and preserving the environment.

We constantly optimise the Group’s business and grasp the
development opportunities in the green industry while exploring new
projects in order to raise our pollutant treatment capacity. In 2017,
the Fumian Project and the Longtao Project conscientiously run by
the Group were constructed gradually and commenced operation. It
allows us to provide more industries and the local community with
comprehensive environmental treatment services such as wastewater
and sludge treatment, water supply, heat supply and waste treatment
in an endeavour to establish a green “Belt and Road Initiative”.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Society

We always regard employees as a vital element to the Group’s
development. Adhering to the concept of “comprehensive
development under the people-oriented principle”, we recruit talents
based on a fair, open and talent-oriented approach and offer plenty of
training opportunities, allowing them to develop their potentials and
actualise themselves. We offer employees a competitive remuneration
package and optimise the occupational health and safety measures.
We also organise various cultural and sports activities frequently to
take care of employees’ mental and physical well-being in all aspects.

As a member of the green industry, the Group has been endeavouring
to contribute to society and participate in public welfare activities
in a proactive manner with great support to various fields including
education, culture, sports and community establishment. The Group
also encourages employees to make charitable contributions to the
environment and society. In particular, we attach great importance
to education. We have set up “CTEG Scholarships” in three leading
universities in the PRC, namely Peking University, Sun Yat-sen
University and South China University of Technology to compliment
outstanding students. In addition, we have cooperated with a number
of tertiary schools and provide support to their scientific research
and development. We also provide students with placement and
visiting opportunities in a bid to nurture the students to be experts
in environmental protection and promote the development of green
technology.

BRI -HERERERE

HeE

KM—BEREIAEERAZEERTA
FROTE - B TUABR 2@
RINESE#MBL BBAF 28

EESANRABERRE 2T HiRHE
AEFIIKS FETTELE SRHE
B-RMMEIRUERE NOTNE
A rEREREEZEER MALE
AR BEYREE 2 VBEEIN
FIO@E-

ERFBITEN—2F KEZFRHY
HEEHE  BERFAEERE KAIX
BFHE R BEERUHERREZEH
B ISBETHAEESE RRENEE
EHBER - E HPHBBETELRE
B HPINLERKRE - AL KRB R ERE
TAREB=FERNERRZBFRL [ PHERR
RES | REREBEENBE LI
EAHANZERREE EBERTRE
THBLERHEZNSEHKS BEE
FETRARRES RELKOMKE
o

P ERRRERRAE
FEHE 2017

49



50

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HLERERKRE

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

To achieve sustainable development, support and trust from
stakeholders are essential. We always treat every stakeholder
sincerely, including employees, customers, shareholders and investors,
the government, suppliers and business partners, community and the
media. We maintain close communication with them through different
channels such as meetings, general meetings, interviews, social
media and surveys. We listen to their feedback attentively in pursuit of
advancement.

This year, we appointed an independent company to conduct a
stakeholders’ survey and interview about their opinions on the Group’s
sustainable development in order to continuously improve our strategy
and performance at the environmental, social and governance level.

ESG REPORT

The Group’s strategy, measure and performance in relation to
sustainable development will be detailed in a separate ESG Report
which will be uploaded to the Group’s official website and the website
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
within three months after the publication of this Annual Report.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company focuses on maintaining high standard of corporate
governance in order to achieve sustainable development and
enhance corporate performance. The Board strives for adhering
to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound
corporate governance practices to meet the legal and commercial
standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure
and accountability to all shareholders to ensure the transparency
and accountability of all operations of the Company. The Company
believes that effective corporate governance is an essential factor to
create more values for its shareholders. The Board will continue to
review and improve the corporate governance practices of the Group
from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for shareholders.

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company has adopted the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate
governance. The Board considers that the Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises five executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors
who held office during the year and up to the date of publication of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsui Cham To (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Zhencheng (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 24 August 2017)

Mr. Lu Yili (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 24 August 2017)

Mr. Gu Yaokun

Mr. Xu Shubiao

Mr. Xu Juwen

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Chunlin
(to be appointed on 3 April 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Suen To Wai

(appointed on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

(appointed on 16 January 2018)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau
Mr. Lien Jown Jing Vincent

(resigned on 24 October 2017)
Mr. Chau Paul

(appointed on 24 October 2017,

and resigned on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Du Hequn

(resigned on 16 January 2018)

The list of Directors has been published on the website of the
Company and the website of the Stock Exchange, and is disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules from time to time.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board had met the
requirement of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
possessing appropriate qualification, or accounting or related financial
management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules).

The Board has a balance of skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives that are essential to and would promote the business
of the Group. The Board, with the assistance from the senior
management, forms the core management team of the Company.
The Board takes the overall responsibility for management of the
Company, formulating the business strategies and development plan
of the Company, decision making on important issues, including but
not limited to substantial mergers and acquisitions and disposals,
directors’ appointments and significant operational and financial
matters. The senior management are responsible for supervising and
executing the Board policies and strategies, including the provision
of updates of the Group’s performance to the Board to enable the
Board to deliver and discharge their duties. Daily management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the
senior management of the Company.

Mr. Tsui Cham To is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Xu Zhencheng
is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Responsibilities
between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are clearly divided and segregated to ensure a balance
of power and authority and to reinforce their independence and
accountability.

Each of Mr. Suen To Wai, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Liu Yung Chau as
independent non-executive director, is appointed for a term of three
years under their respective letters of appointment. Mr. Yang Chunlin,
as the non-executive Director is to be appointed on 3 April 2018 for a
term of three years. All Directors including the non-executive Director
and the independent non-executive Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting
at least once every three years in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS

It is intended that the Board should meet regularly so that all Directors
are kept up to date with the business development of the Group.
Special meetings of the Board will be convened if the situation requires
so. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board had convened
11 board meetings and 1 general meeting. The individual attendance
record of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2017 is
tabulated as follows:

EXEEH

REFE EESREHBMEHULRR
BESEBTHRASENEREREHN
BR-fHEAER EFEREHERE
ZBE_E-—LtHFtZA=1T—-HL
FE EZEHERT -REFESER
E-—RBRREZ -BE-ZT—tHF+=
A=+—-BLEE ESRALESE
MYRCERIT

Attendance/
Total number of
general meetings

Attendance/
Total number of
board meetings

HERE, HERE,
EEgel BRRERE
HRE HIRE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Tsui Cham To (Chairman) BEEEE (FE) 11/11 1/1
Mr. Xu Zhencheng IR EE (BEHTE) 5/5 0/0
(Chief Executive Officer) (R=—ZFE—tFNA=+HWAH
(appointed on 24 August 2017) BZEE)
Mr. Lu Yili (Chief Executive Officer) ECLE%E (BEHTE) 6/7 1/1
(resigned on 24 August 2017) (R=—ZF—tFNA=+HWH
BHE)
Mr. Gu Yaokun HBm S 5/11 1/1
Mr. Xu Shubiao ‘mrEEELE 10/11 1/1
Mr. Xu Juwen mEN KL 11/11 1/1
Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. Yang Chunlin BEMEE (BR=2Z—N\F 0/0 0/0
(to be appointed on 3 April 2018) mA=HEZE)
Independent Non-executive BYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Suen To Wai BRZEEE (RZE-N\F 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 14 February 2018) —At+HBEEZME)
Mr. Chau Paul BRHEEE (R=Z—tF 1/1 0/0
(appointed on 24 October 2017 TAZtTNAEZEIR
and resigned on 14 February 2018) —E-NFZATHABME)
Mr. Lien Jown Jing, Vincent BEREEE (R=ZZF—LF 8/9 11
(resigned on 24 October 2017) + B =+ ABME)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REXEE (R=ZF—NEF 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 16 January 2018) — A+ BEZME)
Mr. Du Hequn HEBRHELE (R=Z—N\EF 11/11 1/1
(resigned on 16 January 2018) — B+ RBEHME)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BRwEE 10/11 1/1
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the
Company confirms that the Directors complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2017.

RELATIONSHIP AMONG THE DIRECTORS

Among the members of the Board, Mr. Tsui Cham To, the Chairman is
a cousin of Mr. Xu Juwen. Save for the above, there is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material relationship)
between any members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purpose
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process, review risks management and internal controls
systems. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial information for the year ended 31 December 2017, including
the accounting principles adopted by the Group, with the Company’s
management. The Audit Committee, together with the management,
has reviewed constantly the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters and reviewed the financial results of the
Group. As of the date of publication of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely, Mr. Suen To Wai (the chairman of the Audit Committee). Mr.
Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Liu Yung Chau.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee had held six meetings during the year ended 31
December 2017 for considering the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2016, interim results of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2017, and reviewing the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems issues regarding internal
audit. The individual attendance record of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2017 is tabulated as follows:

EREEENHESERNAQTHE
RE PR uh B o

ERZEERBE=-Z—tE+=A
=t+-HBLEEAZEAKEEEZ-Z
—RNE+ZA=+-HLEEENER-
HE_Z—tHF~A=Z+HLEREBRZ
PHIEBURBBAARATNARERE
RABEZEHENRTETBESHA
REBEE - BE-E—tFE+=-RA=+—
HEFE EERELFEEENTHEN
T:

Attendance/
Total number of
committee meetings

HERE ZEEER
HBIRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Suen To Wai (Chairman) BEZELEE (£F) 0/0
(appointed on 14 February 2018) (R=Z2-NEF-_ATHAEZET)
Mr. Chau Paul (Chairman) BXBEE (FE) 11
(appointed on 24 October 2017 and (R=ZF—tF+A=-THBEEZE
resigned on 14 February 2018) WHR-ZZE—-NF-ATHEABT)
Mr. Lien Jown Jing, Vincent (Chairman) EIRIESE (F/F) 5/5
(resigned on 24 October 2017) (R=Z2—tF+A=-+HWHBE)
Mr. Du Hequn (resigned on 16 January 2018) # &8 %4E 6/6
(R=F—NF—A+ABE)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BRmEE 5/6

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary responsibilities of the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for remuneration of all Directors and senior management,
to assess performance of executive directors and to review and
recommend to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
Director and senior management, by reference to the duties,
responsibilities, experience and qualifications of each candidate.
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In accordance with the written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, majority of members of the Remuneration Committee
should be Independent Non-executive Directors, and the chairman
must be an Independent Non-executive Director. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the
Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange. As of
the date of publication of this report, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu (Chairman)
(Independent Nonexecutive Director), Mr. Liu Yung Chau (Independent
Non-executive Director) and Mr. Tsui Cham To (Executive Director) are
members of the Remuneration Committee. Four meeting was held by
the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December
2017 to review and approve the remuneration packages of certain
executive Directors. The individual attendance record of the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2017 is tabulated as follows:
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REFHEZESNEMHELE  HFMHE
EENSHNERRBIFATES
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SENHESEETRAQ B RERTH
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Attendance/
Total number of
committee meetings

HERE  ZEEE;
HIRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHTES
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu (Chairman) REXREE (FF) 0/0
(appointed on 16 January 2018) (R=ZF—-NF—ABt+BEZE)
Mr. Du Hequn (Chairman) HBEEE (FE) 4/4
(resigned on 16 January 2018) (R=ZF—NF—AF+ BT
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BEMELE 4/4
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tsui Cham To wRELE 4/4

The remuneration of the Directors and members of the senior
management of the Group by band for the year ended 31 December
2017 is set out below:

BE-ZT-—tHFFT-RAR=1+T—-HL#F
E-AEEESKSREEEXRENH
AR BB ANT

Number of persons

Remuneration bands (HKD) AR () A
Nil to 500,000 Z £500,000 5
500,001 to 1,000,000 500,001%1,000,000 7
1,000,001 to 2,500,000 1,000,001%£2,500,000 2
2,500,001 to 3,000,000 2,500,001% 3,000,000 0
3,000,001 to 5,000,000 3,000,001%5,000,000 1
5,000,001 to 5,500,000 5,000,001%5,500,000 0
5,500,000 to 10,000,000 5,500,0002 10,000,000 1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board had set up its nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) to, among others, review the structure, size and
composition of the Board to determine the policy for the nomination
of directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors. As at the date of publication of this report,
Mr. Liu Yung Chau (Chairman) (Independent Non-executive Director),
Mr. Suen To Wai (Independent Non-executive Director) and Mr.
Tsui Cham To (Executive Director) are members of the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee has also adopted a policy of
diversity for memberships of the Board which aims to achieve diversity
in the Board against a range of different perspectives, including but not
limited to professional and industry experience, skills and knowledge,
cultural and educational background. These criteria will be considered
in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when
possible should be balanced appropriately. In reviewing and assessing
the composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider
all different perspectives, including the aforesaid criteria, in order to
maintain a diverse Board. And when recommending new appointment
to the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on
merit against objective criteria including the ones set out above, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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Three meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the
year ended 31 December 2017 to review the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board and to assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors. The individual attendance record of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2017 is tabulated as follows:
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BE-Z-—tHFF+-RA=1+—-HL#F
B REZESERTZREBRURTES
SHEE - ABRAN (BERKE - DER
KEAHE) RIRBYFAITESNE Y
H-BE-_T-—tFT+-A=FT—HL
FE -EBERAHFESENTENT

Attendance/
Total number of
committee meetings

HERE ZEEER
HBIRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Liu Yung Chau (Chairman) BRBEE (£EF) 3/3
Mr. Suen To Wai BEEEE 0/0
(appointed on 14 February 2018) (R=ZFE-N\F-A+HBEZEE)
Mr. Chau Paul BRXHEE 0/0
(appointed on 24 October 2017 and (R=Z2—tF+A=-+HNEEZE
resigned on 14 February 2018) WHR=—Z2—NF=-A+MABE)
Mr. Lien Jown Jing, Vincent HBHRIELXE 2/2
(resigned on 24 October 2017) (R=F—tF+A=-+TWHEBE)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tsui Cham To REHEEE 3/3

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

The Company recognizes the importance of keeping the Directors
updated with latest information of duties and obligations of a director
of a company which shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and
the general regulatory requirements and environment for such listed
company. To meet this goal, each newly appointed Director would
receive an introductory training regarding the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company in Hong Kong. As part of
the continuous professional development program pursuant to A.6.5
of the CG Code, the Company has also updated the directors of the
Company of any material changes in the Listing Rules and corporate
governance practices from time to time. All directors of the Company
are provided with reading materials summarizing the duties and
responsibilities in acting as directors from time to time to keep the
directors of the Company abreast of such duties and responsibilities.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the directors of  RIEARATRIFWEHE A2 AESR
the Company received the following training during the year ended 31 BE-_Z—tF+-A=+—HBLEE

December 2017: BEZTUTEI:
Attending internally-facilitated SMRBABNERE
briefings or training/attending g Mg/
Name of Directors EEps seminars/reading materials BEMR
Mr. Tsui Cham To HEBEEE Relevant trainings received 2 EZHBE
Mr. Xu Zhencheng FRREE (R-E—LF Relevant trainings received B2 HEEE
(appointed on 24 August 2017) NEZ+HBEZE)
Mr. Lu Yili (resigned on 24 August 2017) [EE Y %% (RZZ—+ & Relevant trainings received B2 HEEE
NBZ+MHEE)
Mr. Gu Yaokun hEHEE Relevant trainings received 2 EZ I
Mr. Xu Shubiao BEgEE Relevant trainings received 2 EZ I
Mr. Xu Juwen BIEXEE Relevant trainings received 2 EZ I
Mr. Chau Paul BBEE (RZE—+& Relevant trainings received 2 EZ I
(appointed on 24 October 2017 and TA-tHREZALER
resigned on 14 February 2018) “E-NEZATHmARE)
Mr. Lien Jown Jing, Vincent BRERE (RZB—tF Relevant trainings received BEZEEE
(resigned on 24 October 2017) +A=+HmARHE)
Mr. Du Hequn HBHLE (RZ2-N\E Relevant trainings received B2 HEEE
(resigned on 16 January 2018) —RAt+AEEE)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BERBEE Relevant trainings received B2 HEEE
COMPANY SECRETARY NAWE

Mr. Sit Hon Wing, the company secretary appointed by the Board and B ERALEBEESZTAQATRE
an employee of the Company, in the opinion of the Board, possesses B BARQATEE -EEERA BHLEE
the necessary qualification and experience, capable of performance fHEBITATNWEBENSLETEERK
of the functions of the company secretary and the Company will 48 > BZARRQFMERE EHRAI5E3.291%
provide fund for Mr. Sit to take not less than 15 hours of appropriate ~ ZHRERZSHHREEBELERETD
professional training in each financial year as required under Rule 3.29  F5/NEFHVE B EHE I -

of the Listing Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an
ongoing basis.

Such risk management and internal control systems are designed for
managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and internal control to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees management in the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems, and management has confirmed to the Audit
Committee (and the Board) on the effectiveness of these systems for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Group’s risk management framework is guided by the “Three
Lines of Defense” model. The Risk Management function co-ordinates
risk management activities and reviews significant aspects of risk
management for the Group, reports to the Audit Committee at each
regularly scheduled meeting, significant risks of the Group and the
appropriate mitigation and/or transfer of identified risks. The operating
units of the Group, as risk owners, identify, evaluate, mitigate and
monitor their own risks, and report such risk management activities to
Risk Management function on an annual basis. The Risk Management
function assesses and presents regular reports to the Audit Committee
at each regularly scheduled meeting.

The internal control system of the Company is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
to identify and manage risks and to safeguard the assets of the
Company against loss or fraud. The main features of internal control
system consist of five elements including, internal environment, risk
assessment, monitoring activities, information and communication and
internal monitoring. However, any internal control system can provide
only reasonable but not absolute assurance of full protection against
material errors, losses, fraud or failure to meet its business objectives.
The Audit Committee has engaged an external consultant to perform
internal audit services and has discussed the scope of work and
internal control findings with the external consultant.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group has taken
various procedures and measures, including arousing the awareness to
preserve confidentiality of inside information within the Group, sending
blackout period and securities dealing restrictions notification to the
relevant directors and employees regularly, disseminating information
to specified persons on a need-to-know basis and regarding closely
to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

This section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group. This is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the principal areas of risk outlined below.

Business development risk

Each of the Group’s projects has been or will be built to a specified
designed capacity. The utilization rate of its treatment facilities
depends on a number of factors including the size of the population,
the types of industries of its customers, the general economic
conditions and the level of industrialization in the area served by the
relevant facilities. If the facilities the Group operates are not utilized to
their designed capacity, the Group may not generate the turnover and
profit it had expected from the relevant projects, which could have a
material and adverse effect on its business, financial condition and
results of operations. It is therefore important that the Group perform
careful market research and project planning before implementing with
any investment decisions.
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Credit risk

The Group may suffer from financial loss if a customer or counterparty
fails to meet the obligations under a contract. Customers requiring
a credit over certain amount must undergo an individual credit
evaluation. These evaluations are based on a customer’s records of
payment due and current ability to repay. The corporate information
and economic situation of the customer are also taken into account.

Change of regulatory environment risk

The Group’s business and operations in the PRC are subject to
the PRC government standards, rules and regulations. Change of
regulatory environment risk means the risk of failure in response to
change over government regulations, which may have a negative
impact on the Group’s business. Changes in regulatory environment
are monitored regularly in order to respond to the changes on a timely
and effective manner.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT ON
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the accounts
of the Company in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Board is accountable to the
shareholders for a clear and balanced assessment of the Company’s
financial position and prospects.
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The management provides all relevant information and records to the
Board, which enable it to prepare the accounts and to make above
assessments. The Audit Committee had reviewed and recommended
the Board to adopt the audited accounts for the year ended 31
December 2017. The directors note that the Group generated net cash
from operating activities of approximately HKD634,195,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2017. The Group also made net profit after
tax of HKD681,423,000. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
based on future projection of the Group’s profit and cash inflows from
operations and the anticipated ability of the Group to renew or roll-
over its banking and other financing facilities to finance its continuing
operations for the year ending 31 December 2018, management
believes that the Group has adequate resources to continue to operate
as a going concern throughout the next twelve months and that there
are no material uncertainties related to events or conditions which,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the auditor
of the Company on its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Auditor’s Report from pages
91 to 100.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the fees payable to KPMG
in respect of its audit services provided to the Group was HKD5.3
million (2016: HKD4.9 million). There is no fees paid and payable to
KPMG during the year for the reporting accountant service in respect
of certain notifiable transactions under the Listing Rules (2016: nil).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s shareholders’ communication policy is to maintain
transparency and provide timely information of the Group’s material
developments to shareholders and investors. General meetings
of the Company are formal channels for communication between
shareholders and the Board. The chairman of the Board is invited to
attend the general meetings to have direct communication with the
shareholders.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong situated at Room 804, 8/F, Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary.
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Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meeting of the
Company may by written requisition request to the Board convene
an extraordinary general meeting. There are no provisions under the
Company’s articles of association governing shareholder’s right to put
forward proposals at general meetings. However, the shareholders
may follow the procedures as stated below to put forward proposals
in general meetings. The procedures for shareholders to convene
extraordinary general meetings and put forward proposal are as
follows:

1. The requisitionist(s) must sign a written request stating the
objects of the meeting to be convened, and deposit the same at
the principal place of business of the Company situated at Room
804, 8/F, Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary. The
written request may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionist(s).

2. The Company will then verify the particulars of the requisitionist(s)
in their written request with the Company’s share registrar, and
upon confirmation from the Company’s share registrar that the
written request is in order, the Company Secretary will arrange
with the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and the provisions in the articles of association of
the Company.

3. In the event that the written request has been verified as not
in order, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general meeting will
not be convened as requested.

4. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the written request proceed duly to convene an extraordinary
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) may themselves convene
an extraordinary general meeting, but any extraordinary general
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the date of deposit of the written request.
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The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
investor relations and communications by conducting analysts’
briefings, road shows, participating in investors’ conferences and
making corporate presentations during the conferences, arranging
visits to the Company and maintaining regular meetings with
institutional shareholders and analysts. The Company’s annual general
meeting provides a good opportunity for communications between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to express their view and
make enquiries on the business or operation of the Company.

The investor relations department of the Company maintains regular
communication and dialogue with shareholders, investors and
analysts. It can be accessed during normal business hour by phone
(Telephone number: 86 (20) 8883 6077). Shareholders and investors
can also visit the Company’s website at www.chongto.com and
the Stock Exchange’s website for the Company’s announcements,
circulars, financial information, corporate governance practices, annual
reports, interim reports and other corporate information and updates of
business development and operations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

The latest memorandum and articles of association of the Company
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of
the Company.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance for
the year by business segments is set out in note 3 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 101. The Directors recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HKDO0.95 cents per ordinary share
and special dividend of HKD1.98 cents per ordinary share (2016: final
dividend of HKD0.67 cents per ordinary share) for the year ended 31
December 2017, to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 5 June 2018.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 27 to the financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, shares held under Share Award Scheme, accumulated
losses and capital reserve which in aggregate amounted to
HKD1,347.8 million as at 31 December 2017 (as at 31 December
2016: HKD1,567.2 million). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its articles of
association and provided that immediately following the distribution or
payment of dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year ended and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and for the previous
four financial years are set out on page 248.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
publication of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsui Cham To (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Zhencheng (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 24 August 2017)

Mr. Lu Yili (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 24 August 2017)

Mr. Gu Yaokun

Mr. Xu Shubiao

Mr. Xu Juwen

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Chunlin
(to be appointed on 3 April 2018)

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Suen To Wai

(appointed on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

(appointed on 16 January 2018)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau
Mr. Lien Jown Jing Vincent

(resigned on 24 October 2017)
Mr. Chau Paul

(appointed on 24 October 2017,

and resigned on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Du Hequn

(resigned on 16 January 2018)

Report of the Directors
EESRE

BYFHTES

BREZELE
(RZE-N\E-_BF+HAEZT)
BREAE
(RZE-—NF—A+AEZME)

BRmEE

ERIELLE
(R=Z2—tF+A=-+HHEBTE)

BAXHBEE
(R=Z2—tF+A=-THHEZE
WH—ZE—N\FZA+ AT

HEBRELE
(R=ZZE—NF— A+ BB

The Company has received from each independent non-executive  ARATCEEZSBIFHTEEREL
Director a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of  WRAIFESAMFER 2B I HERE M
the Listing Rules and the Company considers such directors to be  ARABRAZEEETEB Ik
independent.

In accordance with Article 83(3) and 84 of the Company’s articles of 1R 15 74~ 1t ) 42 4% = 72 40 B 5583(3) )2 84
association, Mr. Tsui Cham To, Mr. Xu Zhencheng, Mr. Gu Yaokun, & RETH A BFIRA ST A - R ST
Mr. Xu Shubiao, Mr. Yang Chunlin, Mr. Suen To Wai and Mr. Zhang Lu £ -RBI1ELE4E - BEMRLE -BZEL
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS EERBELD
Executive Directors Terms of service contract

HTES R4 [ 5 R

Mr. Tsui Cham To 3 years from 4 September 2016 to 3 September 2019
HEEEE ZERACE-AFAANBEZZE-NFAAZH

Mr. Xu Zhencheng 3 years commencing on 24 August 2017 to 23 August 2020
aFRARJE £ SRR tENACTNAE=Z-ZH\A=T=H
Mr. Xu Shubiao 3 years from 4 September 2016 to 3 September 2019
HEREE ZER-E-RENANBZE=E-AERA=H

Mr. Xu Juwen 3 years from 4 September 2016 to 3 September 2019
BREXEE ZFH-E-RFAANAZE-E-NFNA=H

Mr. Gu Yaokun 3 years from 23 November 2015 to 22 November 2018

Gy b ZEH-E-RF+-A-+=HAE-E-N\E+t-A=t=H
Non-executive Directors Terms of letters of appointment

FYTES ZRAEHR

Mr. Yang Chunlin 3 years from 3 April 2018 to 2 April 2021

BEMEE ZFA-Z-\FNA=HAZ-Z--FMA=H
Independent Non-executive Directors Terms of letters of appointment

BYFYTES ZRAEHR

Mr. Suen To Wai 3 years from 14 February 2018 to 13 February 2021
BRERELE ZER-E-NF-ATRAZ-2--¥-A+=H
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu 3 years from 16 January 2018 to 15 January 2021
REXEE ZEH-E-\E-A+ABE-Z--F¥-A+EA
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Terms of letters of appointment
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BUKHITES ZREEHR
Mr. Liu Yung Chau 3 years from 4 September 2016 to 3 September 2019
BRHLE ZEACE-RENAANBE=E-NFEAAZH

None of the Directors has entered or has proposed to enter into any
service agreements with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the directors’ fees are
reviewed and revised by the Board based on the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee and with reference to the directors’
duties, responsibilities and performances and the results of the Group.

Information relating to the changes in remuneration of directors are set
out in note 7 of the financial statement.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year except
as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” and note 30 to the financial statements.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management as of
the date of publication of this report are set out on pages 41 to 46.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors and chief executives of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code:

EERaREREBYE

BEAHKETRHEH EERaREE
B2 EREFBENE41E46H -

EERIETHAERALAREMR
R B Z B fn - BRI RIBEE B
HRRE

NZZE—+tHE+ZA=1+—0 BiEES
REE G ([FH R EKAE ) 5352
BRAEFEENESCMATE KB ELE
FHENEARAQATARBERAME  AAF
EE FTETHAERBESNHEAR
AABRREEB LI (EEREFRE
ERG (TEEREERA ) ) EXVERK
B EERO R EEETEENERS
mT:

Approximate percentage

Total number

of shareholding

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest of shares in the Company
EARD R RE

EEnE LR 131 RS BHABEsH

Mr. Tsui Cham To Interest of controlled corporations 3,547,352,000 (L) 56.16%

and Beneficial owner”

HEEEE RENRRERARERERAY

Mr. Xu Zhencheng Beneficial owner 350,000 (L) 0.01%

AR ST BEREEA

Mr. Gu Yao Kun Beneficial owner 129,282,000 (L) 2.05%

LR EE BEREBA

Mr. Xu Shu Biao Beneficial owner 306,000 (L) 0.005%

BREEEE BERERA

Mr. Xu Juwen Beneficial owner 220,000 (L) 0.003%

HEXEE BREEA

(L)  denotes a long position in the shares

Notes:

(1) Mr. Tsui Cham To is deemed under the SFO to be interested in 3,546,980,000
shares of the Company held by Keen Vast Holdings Limited, and 372,000
shares directly held by himself.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the
register maintained by the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. At no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or its associated corporation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 4 September 2013. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to provide an incentive to motivate, attract and retain
eligible persons, and to encourage them to optimise their performance
efficiency, enhance the value of the Company and promote the long-
term growth of the Company. This scheme will provide the eligible
participants, including employees, consultants, executives and officers
of the Company, a personal stake in the Company to achieve its
intended purpose.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from 4 September 2013 subject to the early termination
provisions contained in the Share Option Scheme, after which no
further options will be granted or offered but the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options
granted prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme.
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The maximum number of shares in respect of which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 544,000,000, being 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue immediately after IPO on the Listing Date (i.e. 25 September
2013) which is the effective date of such scheme and representing
approximately 8.6% of the issued shares of the Company as at the
date of this annual report. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptances of the options
duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in favor of the
Company of HKD1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is
received by the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any eligible person under the Share
Option Scheme shall not in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to the issue of a circular and shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. The period within which an option may be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised later than 10
years from the date of grant of the particular option. Under the Share
Option Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each option shall be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant of such option, (ii) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of such option,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of such
option.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed, and
there was no outstanding option under the Share Option Scheme as at
31 December 2017.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme was adopted by the Board (the “Share Award
Scheme”) to recognize and motivate the contributions made to the
Group by its employees and to give incentives in order to retain and
attract suitable personnel for the future development of the Group.
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The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption. Pursuant to the
Share Award Scheme, the Board may cause to be paid a contributed
amount to the trust, which shall constitute part of the trust fund for
the purchase of Shares from the market or subscription of new shares
and other purposes set out in the scheme rules and the trust deed.
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Award Scheme and
the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of the awarded
shares, the awarded shares shall be held by the trustee, being Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited, on behalf of the selected employee
until the end of each vesting period. The awarded shares will be
transferred to the selected employees at nil consideration.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which
will result in the aggregate nominal value of the Shares awarded under
the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten per cent. of the issued share
capital of the Company at the time of such award. Further details
of the Share Award Scheme are set out in the announcement dated
12 November 2015. During the year, the Board resolved to grant
an aggregate of 8,148,000 awarded shares (the “Awarded Shares”)
respectively to the 113 Selected Employees (as defined in the rules
under the Share Award Scheme).

A summary of the Awarded Shares actually granted to Selected
Employees (including the executive Directors of the Company) during
the year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:
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No. of Awarded Shares

Name of Awardees ARAEE REBROHE
Mr. Tsui Cham To mEELE 266,000
Mr. Xu Zhencheng RSB 266,000
Mr. Gu Yaokun R A -
Mr. Xu Shubiao BEZEEE 222,000
Mr. Xu Juwen BIEST S E 178,000
107 other Selected Employees who are BYRARABIREBEEAL

independent of the Company and its (EER EHHRA)

connected persons (as defined under Z107EH AN EEE

the Listing Rules) 6,940,000

The Awarded Shares were vested immediately after granted and the
vesting of the Awarded Shares is subject to the conditions as set out
in the Share Award Scheme and the fulfillment of such conditions as
specified by the Board.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental sustainability.
As a professional environmental solutions provider in the PRC, the
Group is subject to various environmental laws and regulations set
by the PRC national, provincial and municipal governments. These
include laws and regulations on air and noise pollution and discharge
of waste and water into the environment. Compliance procedures are
in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations.
During the year under review, the Group has complied with relevant
laws and regulations that have significant impact on the operations
of the Group. Further, any changes in applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and
relevant operation units from time to time.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners. The Company provides a
fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our staff, provides
competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group also
puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and development
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and timely
manner.
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The Group is also dedicated to develop good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group’s business. We reinforce business partnerships
with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication in a
proactive and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely
delivery.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, the persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who have interests in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to
the Company were as follows:
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Approximate

Total number

percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of shares shareholding

BREBE g1 RRME R4 B BRESNED L

Keen Vast Holdings Limited™” Beneficial owner 3,546,980,000 (L) 56.15%

BAERBERAT BRBEEA

City-Scape Pte Ltd.® Beneficial owner 348,463,836 (L) 5.52%
BERBEEA

GIC Private Limited® Interest of controlled corporations 348,463,836 (L) 5.52%
ZEATER
Investment manager 95,322,000 (L) 1.51%
REKRE

China Taiping Insurance® Person having a security 978,720,721 (L) 15.49%

Holdings Company Limited interest in shares
FEAFREBERERAAO REROPEFERAERZzAL
Taiping Financial Holdings Person having a security 978,720,721 (L) 15.49%

Company Limited®

AKFERERERLOFO

interest in shares

RBROHEESEFESZAL

(L)  denotes a long position in the shares L ERROPNEFE
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(1) Keen Vast Holdings Limited is controlled by Mr. Tsui Cham To.

(@)  GIC Private Limited is deemed to be interested in 348,463,836 Shares held
by City-Scape Pte Ltd by virtue of interests in controlled corporations, and
95,322,000 Shares as investment manager for purposes of the SFO.

(8)  China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited and Taiping Financial
Holdings Company Limited are deemed to be interested in the 978,720,721
shares of the Company by virtue of having security interest for purposes of
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors are
not aware of any other person having an interest or short position in
shares and underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, the Company did not enter into any contract in respect
of the management or administration of the entire business or any
significant business of the Group nor any such contract subsisting.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this report of the Directors:

()  no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted
during the year or at the end of the year; and

(i) no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the year
or at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an indemnity
provision was in force such that the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
in their respective offices. The Company has maintained directors and
officers liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 56.2%
(2016: 56.2%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase for the year ended
31 December 2017. The largest supplier accounted for approximately
37.0% (2016: 39.0%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

The Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
23.1% (2016: 27.9%) of the Group’s total turnover for the year ended
31 December 2017. The largest customer accounted for approximately
11.3% (2016: 15.7%) of the Group’s total turnover for the year ended
31 December 2017.
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None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholder (who to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had
any interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the
Group.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major
suppliers or customers at all times.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in any competing business
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2017.

The Controlling Shareholders of the Company have confirmed to
the Company that they have complied with the non-competition
undertaking under the Non-competition Deed.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company has entered into a deed of non-competition dated
4 September 2013 (the “Non-competition Deed”) with Keen Vast
Holdings Limited and Mr. Tsui Cham To, both being the controlling
shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”), and
pursuant to which the Controlling Shareholders procure its/his/her
associates (other than members of the Group) not to, engage in any
business involving the development of wastewater treatment facilities
and the provision of wastewater treatment and industrial water
supply services. Details of the Non-competition Deed are set out in
the paragraph headed “Non-competition Undertaking” in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the prospectus
of the Company dated 12 September 2013.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of
the Controlling Shareholders that each of them has fully complied
with their respective obligations under the Non-Competition Deed.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the annual
confirmation from the Controlling Shareholders relating to their
compliance with the non-competition undertaking by the Controlling
Shareholder under the Non-competition Deed and are satisfied that the
same has been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders under
the Non-competition Deed.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group entered into
certain connected transactions as set out below:

1. Cooperation Service Contracts

On 1 January 2016, Guangzhou Lvyou Industrial Waste
Reclamation Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou Lvyou”)
entered into six (6) cooperation service contracts (collectively, the
“Cooperation Service Contracts”) with the following companies:

(i)

(if)

(i)

(vi)

Guangzhou Nansha Development Zone Lvjie Disposal
Recycling Store;

Guangzhou Panyu Luopu Kunrun Information Technology
and Consulting Services Department;

Guangzhou Wofeng Biological Technology Company
Limited;

Guangzhou Lvchi Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited;

Guangzhou Lvhao Technology Services Company Limited;
and

Guangzhou Anjing Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited.

(Collectively, the “Cooperating Companies”).
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Pursuant to the Cooperation Service Contracts, each of the
Cooperating Companies would use their respective resources
to assist Guangzhou Lvyou to develop markets and look for
potential customers. Upon target customers being identified,
the Cooperating Companies would act as the agent of
Guangzhou Lvyou to handle waste treatment matters with
relevant target customers in the name of Guangzhou Lvyou, to
assist Guangzhou Lvyou with negotiating contract terms with
target customers, and to help monitoring the parties’ respective
obligations thereunder the contract upon the target customers
having entered into agreements with Guangzhou Lvyou.
Pursuant to the Cooperation Service Contracts, the Cooperating
Companies would also provide services such as consultation,
training and guidance to the relevant target customers for and
on behalf of Guangzhou Lvyou. For each type of waste treated
by Guangzhou Lvyou under the Cooperation Service Contracts,
the cooperation service fee for transactions contemplated under
the Cooperation Service Contracts is calculated based on actual
treatment volume times the net treatment fee (excluding standard
treatment cost and other miscellaneous expenses per ton/unit of
each type of wastes).

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the actual transaction
amount paid by Guangzhou Lvyou to the Cooperating Companies
pursuant to the Cooperation Service Contracts amounted to
approximately HKD15.1 million.

Each of the Cooperating Companies is an entity controlled by Mr.
Gu Yaokun, an executive director of the Company. Accordingly,
each of the Cooperating Companies is a connected person of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the
transactions contemplated thereunder the Cooperation Service
Contracts constitute connected transactions for the Company.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Cooperation Service Contracts (on an
aggregated basis) are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
entering into the Cooperation Service Contracts are subject to
the reporting and announcement requirements but exempted
from shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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The Consultation Service Agreement

For the year ended 31 December 2017, certain subsidiaries in the
Group (the “Contracting Subsidiaries”) entered into consultation
service contracts (the “Consultation Service Contracts”)
with Guangzhou Haigin Tiancheng Environmental Consulting
Company Limited (“Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy”).

Pursuant to the Consultation Service Contracts, Haiqgin Tiancheng
Consultancy agreed to provide consultation services to the Group
with respect to the environmental impact assessment in the PRC.
In consideration for the provision of such consultation services,
the Contracting Subsidiaries would pay management fees to
Haiqin Tiancheng Consultancy. For the year ended 31 December
2017, the actual transaction amount paid to Haigin Tiancheng
Consultancy pursuant to the Consultation Service Contracts
amounted to approximately HKD1.1 million.

Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy is a joint venture in which Mr.
Tsui Cham To, an executive director of the Company (“Mr. Tsui”)
directly or indirectly holds 50% equity interest. Accordingly,
Haiqin Tiancheng Consultancy is a connected person of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and
the transactions contemplated under the Consultation Service
Contracts constitute a connected transaction for the Company.
The applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Consultation Service Contracts are more
than 0.1% but less than 5%.
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3. Advances to Connected Persons 3. MEBAEALTER
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group made certain BEZ_Z—tF+=-A=+—HL
interest-free advances in an aggregate sum of HKD42,384,000 FE KAEBOUTALTELLLE
(collectively, the “Advances”) to the following persons: #42,384,0008 T2 & TR EBK

(Bl [ZEBR])

Date of remittance Advances (HKD’000)
57 B H BHR(FHERT)
1. Guangzhou Lvcheng Industrial Company Limited 3 January 2017 21,975
(“Guangzhou Lvcheng”)
BMTEHTEERLR ([BMEE]) —E-tH-A=H
2. Zhuhai Yingrun Environmental Protection January to April 2017 748
Technology Company Limited (“Zhuhai Yingrun”) —E—tE-AZEWNA
KEmRERGANEERAR ([HERH])
3. Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy 12 April 2017 578
NN N D ) —E-tFMAt+=H
4. Longmen Hutiao Station Company Limited 2nd half 2017 347
(“Longmen Hutiao Station”) “E-LETH¥E
EMRIEUERAR ([FEFRKEL])
5. Mr. Gu January to August 2017 18,736
% —E—tE-AZENA
Total 42,384
mat
Guangzhou Lvcheng is a company owned, directly or indirectly, BMZH A —BHAARRITES
as to 90% by Mr. Gu, an executive director of the Company. HEEEESBEEBONER 2
NG
Zhuhai Yingrun is a company held as to 51% by Mr. Gu Jiajian, nERBABRLEREE (HEE
being a close family member of Mr. Gu. BRERBYVNRENE) FHS1%E
wmZATE
Longmen Hutiao Station is a company owned, directly or EMRRELA —EHRARQFER
indirectly as to 100% by Mr. Tsui, the controlling shareholder of RERBEEBEZESEEEFT100%
the Company. L 3 rA/NEI
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Accordingly, each of Guangzhou Lvcheng, Zhuhai Yingrun, Haigin
Tiancheng Consultancy and Longmen Hutiao Station (collectively,
the “Connected Persons”) is a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Advances
made to these Connected Persons constituted connected
transactions for the Company.

Further, both Guangzhou Lvcheng and Zhuhai Yingrun are
companies controlled by Mr. Gu and party connected with Mr.
Gu, and both Haiqgin Tiancheng Consultancy and Guangzhou
Taoji are companies controlled by Mr. Tsui, and the Advances
were made within a 12-month period. Accordingly, the Advances
in the total amount of HKD41,459,000 made to Guangzhou
Lvcheng, Zhuhai Yingrun and Mr. Gu (the “Gu Advances”) as
well as the Advances in the total amount of HKD925,000 to
Haigin Tiancheng Consult and Longmen Hutiao Station (the “Tsui
Advances”) shall be aggregated pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the
Listing Rules, respectively.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Gu
Advances (on an aggregated basis) are more than 5% but less
than 25%, the provision of the Gu Advances are subject to
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Tsui Advances
(on an aggregated basis) are more than 0.1% but less than 5%.
The applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Tsui Advances
and the previous Tsui Advances as disclosed in the Submissions
(on an aggregated basis) are more than 0.1% but less than 5%.
Hence, the provision of the Tsui Advances are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but exempted from
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

All the Advances made to the aforesaid Connected Persons have
been repaid to the Group in full as at the date of this Report.
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EEEHRE

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 30 June 2017, Guangzhou To Kee Enterprises Development Group
Limited* (EM R EXZE RSB EMR D F) (the “Purchaser”) and
Guangzhou Xintao Wastewater Treatment Company Limited* ( & %
SHAKE R AR F) (the “Vendor”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the equity transfer agreement (the “Disposal
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to purchase
and the Vendor agreed to sell 100% equity interest in the Guangzhou
Zhongtao Environmental Investment Company Limited* ( &M F H IR R
REBMRDT) (“Target Company”) at a consideration of RMB25 million
(the “Disposal”). The Target Company holds 70% of equity interest in
Foshan Sanshui Zhaofeng Energy Co., Ltd.* (f# 1L = KELEER
BPBR/AT), which is principally engaged in processing and sales of
biomass fuel.

The Disposal enables the Group to avoid risks of persistent loss of
the project and exposure of the Group to commodity risk (i.e. sales of
biomass fuel), and provides additional capital for the Group’s business
development. In view of the above, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that the terms
of the Disposal were entered into on normal commercial terms, and
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

As at the date of the Disposal Agreement, Mr. Tsui Cham To, an
executive Director and controlling shareholder of the Company, was
interested in approximately 90.11% equity interest of the Purchaser.
The Purchaser is therefore a connected person of the Company and
the Disposal constitutes a connected transaction for the Company. As
all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules)
in respect of the disposal of the Target Company are less than 5%
but more than 0.1%, the Disposal is only subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements and is exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, certain related party
transactions were entered into by the Group which is disclosed in
note 30 to the financial statements. These related party transactions
constituted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules
which are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules has been complied with.

Tian Tian Agreement dated 25 September 2013

As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 12 September
2013, Guangzhou Haitao Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Haitao”), a subsidiary of the Group,
entered into a service agreement with Guangzhou Tian Tian Cleaning
and Washing Company Limited (“Tian Tian”) as part of its ordinary and
usual course of business on 4 September 2013, pursuant to which
Guangzhou Haitao agreed to provide wastewater treatment services
to Tian Tian for a term of three years from the date of listing of the
Company on 25 September 2013 (the “Tian Tian Agreement”).

The term of the Tian Tian Agreement was subsequently extended
by an agreement entered into between Guangzhou Haitao and Tian
Tian on 17 May 2016, pursuant to which the Tian Tian Agreement
was renewed to a term of three years commencing from the date
of the 2016 Tian Tian Agreement to 31 December 2018 (both days
inclusive) (the “2016 Tian Tian Agreement”). It was expected that the
annual caps of the services contemplated under the 2016 Tian Tian
Agreement for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2016,
2017 and 2018 will not exceed HKD7,900,000, HKD8,900,000 and
HKD9,900,000, respectively. Further details of the 2016 Tian Tian
Agreement is set out in the announcement of the Company dated 17
May 2016.
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EEEHRE

As Tian Tian is a sino-foreign joint venture of which 49% of its capital
is contributed by To Kee Holdings Limited, a company controlled by
Mr. Tsui Cham To, a Director and a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and his family, Tian Tian is a connected company of Mr.
Tsui and hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The transactions under this agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company which are subject to the
reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the amount of wastewater
treatment services provided by Guangzhou Haitao to Tian Tian was
approximately HKD3.7 million (2016: HKD4.8 million).

The Directors (including all independent non-executive Directors) have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that the transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms; and

(3) in accordance with the agreement entered into on terms which
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. For the propose to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
auditors of the Company has provided a letter to the Board, confirmed
that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions:

()  have not been approved by the Board;

(i)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group for transactions involving the provision of
services by the Group;

(i)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(iv) have exceeded the cap.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2017, no
related party transaction or continuing related party transaction as
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements falls under
the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who retire.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained adequate public
float for the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this
annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Tsui Cham To
Chairman

29 March 2018

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders
of CT Environmental Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CT
Environmental Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 101 to 247, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

During the course of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017, we identified that turnover
amounting to HKD61.6 million as recorded in the provision of sludge
and solid waste treatment services business segment of the Group
was not substantiated with relevant supporting documents. We
requested management to provide explanations and supporting
documentation. However, the audit evidence which we obtained was
insufficient to substantiate and ascertain the validity of the recorded
transactions. Given these circumstances, we have been unable to
complete satisfactorily our audit procedures to assess the recognition
of turnover and the corresponding outstanding receivables arising
from these transactions or the related tax expenses and outstanding
value-added tax payable balances. There were no other practicable
audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves that these
transactions were properly accounted for and disclosed.

The current tax expenses relating to these transactions amounted to
HKD5.8 million. The outstanding receivable balance relating to these
transactions (including value-added tax) amounted to HKD72.1 million
as at 31 December 2017 as disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements included as “trade and other receivables”. The
outstanding value-added tax payable balance and current taxation
payable balance relating to these transactions amounted to HKD10.5
million and HKD5.8 million, respectively, as at 31 December 2017 as
disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements included
as “trade and other payables” and note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements included as “current taxation”, respectively.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matter described in the basis for qualified opinion section, we have

Independent Auditor’s Report
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determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to BE2BARETEE.
be communicated in our report.
Recoverability of trade receivables g 5 FE WK IE Ay AT Uk =

FRRG SR IR NZ20R E119R 2 71 B °

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 119.

The Key Audit Matter
BREITSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BT UNAEHZER

The carrying value of the Group’s trade receivables
totalled HKD713,372,000 as at 31 December 2017,
which represented 7.9% of the Group’s total assets
as at that date. Allowance for doubtful debts of
HKD33,907,000 was recorded as at 31 December
2017.

R-E—tF+-A=+—H EXEEESERFKEN
BREESHA713,372,0008 0 HEEERZAREE
N7.9% R-EBE—tF+ZA=+—H0 B ARRER
%33,907,00058 JT °

Management estimates the required allowance for
doubtful debts, if any, based on an assessment
estimate of the recoverability of individual trade
receivables with reference to the ageing of overdue
balances, repayment histories of individual debtors,
existing customer-specific and market conditions and
the fulfilment of repayment arrangements agreed with
specific debtors.

EIREREE B E 5 FE W FRIE R AT WS 1 B9 R4 (5T 3T
SEPRERERR AREEANERZHE RERF
BEBRARTRAREAREEBABENERLZHNE
TIRRARMTREE (WB)WERB-

Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of
trade receivables included the following:

BMFHEESZ BUWRBREATREHNETEFEET IS
g :

o obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating
to customer acceptance, credit control, debt
collection and the calculation of the allowance for
doubtful debts;

e MBEBMEKMEHEEFET FEESH - EEKE K
ERRBBHEENERRIEZNRT BITRE
EBEMM

° assessing the classification of individual balances
in the trade receivables ageing report by
comparing details in the trade receivables ageing
report with underlying invoices on a sample
basis;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d) HAREFNEE(F)
Recoverability of trade receivables | B 5 FE W IE /Y AT Y B

ERH AR ERNE20R E119E ST B

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 119.

The Key Audit Matter
BREITSER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEFTH U MEHZEE

Management is required to exercise significant
judgement in assessing the allowance for doubtful
debts for individual trade receivables. The ability of
the debtors to repay the Group depends on customer-
specific and market conditions which involves inherent
uncertainty.
EEENECENEZBRRFENRERBRATEE
KA - EHEANEEEEBERENENEAREFE
ERRARTR MESREBTHEEM-

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables as
a key audit matter because of the inherent uncertainty
in assessing if trade receivables will be recovered in
full and because the assessment of the allowance
for doubtful debts requires the exercise of significant
management judgement.
BMRA/EZRBREN TR M EERESSE ]
ARFLFNEETABRER (42 5 BRFELEH
WmE) RRERBENTEESETEBTEERAE-

° obtaining an understanding of the basis
of management’s judgements about the
recoverability of individual overdue balances
and evaluating management’s assessment of
recoverability of these individual balances with
reference to the industry in which the debtors
are operating, the ageing of overdue balances,
historical and post year-end payment records and
repayment arrangements agreed with specific
debtors. This included inspecting relevant
correspondence with individual debtors;

o HRAREIEEH B B A HA AL BR AT U 3 1 Y ) B AL
B URSEZEBANTBRR - EHAEERE
1T BHERRE BERFEHENTRGEE
REBEBEBABENERZH FEEEEMRZ
Z BRI AR AT IR B M B b5t o LERR B 1R
BRERNEFANEBERRE

J assessing the historical accuracy of the estimates
made by the management for the allowance
for doubtful debts by comparing the level
of provision made by management as at 31
December 2016 with the actual new provisions,
write offs and recoveries in respect of trade
receivables as at 31 December 2016 during the
current year; and

e EBRUHREEENR-Z-RE+=ZB=+—-8B#
HAVBEREARFENERHNERE MERER=Z
—ANE+ZA=+t-HNEZRRFIEEBANRK
BIFIR - A EEE R IRE B AEMGTTAE B %
BE R

o comparing material cash receipts from debtors
subsequent to the financial year end relating to
trade receivable balances at 31 December 2017
with bank statements and relevant underlying
documentation on a sample basis.

e HMELEBRZMBFEFEABBREHTAKEMNER
T(HERZZ—tE+-A=+t—BMNESRKR
BEHER) EBTHRERMEBE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB E RS

PRESEER(H)

Assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern

FEBEEESEKE 28D

FL RSB ER D)

Refer to note 1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
BREISEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FEE PN EHZER

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has failed to
fulfil certain covenants under certain bank loan
arrangements with banks, and therefore certain
banks have rights at any time by notice to the
Group to require the loans of HKD839,293,000 to be
immediately repaid.

REZB—tF+ZA=+—H EXKEAREEITHEIRIT
NWETRITERZHTNE TRHE BtE TRITERE
B B3 () &5 5% (3] 3% 98 0 22 SR B A& 38 839,293,0007% T
MWE-

Accordingly, as at 31 December 2017, the Group
has net current liabilities of HKD331,483,000. At 31
December 2017, bank loan of HKD1,042,168,000 and
HKD839,293,000 are due for repayment within one
year and repayable on demand respectively.

At R=F—tF+=-A=+—H EKENRDE
&/ F%E4331,483,0008 T - R_F—tF+-A=+—
B - 8 7 & 71,042,168,0007% Jt 5 839,293,000 7T 7
AR —FANREEREREREER

The Group finances its operating activities using a
combination of cash on hand, operating cash inflows
and borrowings.

EXEEEEFAFERES KEREMNARBRAER
EEERMHES-

Based on their review of the cash flow forecast of the
Group, the Directors have concluded that the Group
has adequate resources to remain in operation, and
that the Directors intend to do so, for at least one year
from the reporting date of the financial statements.
REHEEERESRERINEN EEAREELER
EHERBMBREABREABEAEL —FHELE
BESERHIGHEE -

Our audit procedures to assess the going concern
assumption in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements included the following:

BT EHGES VY BRRNSESERRNETER
BETHEE:

o Understanding the business planning process
and assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the assessment of the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, including the
preparation of cash flow forecast;

s EREBRERE URFHHREEEFEKLR
HEHE (BREERRERNETEN) HE IS A I
EEMNRET AT REFENERY

° evaluating the key assumptions in the cash
flow forecast (including sales volumes, average
selling prices, raw material costs and processing
volumes, committed capital expenditure
and foreign exchange rates) with reference
to historical production information, current
performance and internal investment and
production plans;

e ZEBRAMLEERFE BERNEXAURABRER
AERE FAREREFAFNEXNERR (B
HES FHEE EMBAAREES  B&HE
BEXRAXIRIIEER) ;

° comparing the available banking and other
financing facilities and arrangements with
underlying documentation and assessing the
impact of covenants and other restrictive terms
attached thereto;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

PRESEER(H)

Assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern

FEBEEESEKE 28D

FL RSB ER D)

Refer to note 1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
BREISBE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EESPNMEHZER

We identified the assessment of the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern as a key
audit matter because the bank loans amounting to
HKD1,042,168,000 and HKD839,293,000 respectively
will be due for repayment throughout the year 2018
and repayable on demand, respectively, which has
increased the risk that the Group may not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern and because
the assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern is dependent upon certain management
assumptions and judgements, in particular in relation
to future revenue from sales and the ability of the
Group to renew or obtain new banking and other
financing facilities upon expiry of the existing banking
and other financing facilities.

EMEE FEEEEEEFECE RN AE
RETSE REHIRTERK,042,168,0008 T K&
839,293,000 T4 BN —E-NFRIHMEEREA
REREBE CEEETRELSGELENRRIEM:
B EEEFEKE 2RI DEARE TEERB /R
KA LEREHEBRREFHENRAUAREEER
RERTRAMRMEZBEREESRECRITR AR
EMBED -

J assessing the Group’s ability to renew or
refinance existing banking and other financing
facilities upon maturity by performing a
retrospective review of past renewal or roll-over
history of banking and other financing facilities
in prior years, and inspecting loan agreements
and underlying documentation for bank loans
borrowed and repaid after year end;

e ZERUBEFEMNBRIRHEMCMENBEEEDN
BUMTHRETENENRAERFREMRER
AVERITE MM E R it R AR X A ERER
BARTREGCREZNGSERREEENS
REREED

° assessing the sensitivities of the key assumptions
adopted by management in the going
concern assessment and considering whether
management had incorporated any bias in the
selection of such assumptions;

e HEBERBELKLENETRERANBRERRE
THRMEFMRZEEEENEEZERRKR
BEEEARERR

° considering the accuracy and reliability of cash
flow forecasts by comparing those made by
management in prior years with the current year’s
results; and

e HBBEIFEREEERAENRERERBERE
EREETLER UZRREREFRAMERMER
AEMR

° evaluating the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the going
concern assessment with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

o ZERFTEFEANKE FHFEEUERERAE
BB E TR AV IR EE -

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017




INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report

BUZBE®RE

A MR R R E LD & LMY
==

ESFHHMEEAE -HMEEERE
HERFHRANZHELS  EFBER
BMBHBERREMNLBEIRS -

EMHGREMBRRNERL FRER
fiEE  BATTHZEHMEEER
EAEANER R -

FEERMERESUBHRRNVET RN
NWEERRERMER  FLlBRES &
BHMEEEERREUHHRRARERMN
EHETBEFBEENBERFEEANE
BHEUFFEERERBMABER

EREMEBTHIE IRRMAIBA
HERFHEEARERRL RMFR
BEZFE -EEIH RIRBEMAR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam Kai Wa.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2018
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
melBmk
for the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+#F+—H=1—HI-FE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LUBTTE51)

2017 2016
—ET—tF —E-RE
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
B 5 FET FET
(Restated)*
(&5~
Turnover B 3 2,099,098 2,177,038
Cost of sales HERAK (1,298,871) (1,182,685)
Gross profit EF 800,227 994,353
Other revenue Hfth g &2 4(a) 327,563 193,705
Administrative expenses THEAX (276,625) (298,924)
Other net income/(loss) HiFhas (EiE) 4(b) 84,780 (68,895)
Profit from operations KRR 935,945 820,239
Finance costs L& AN 5(a) (124,780) (102,857)
Share of profits of associates DAGEEE QR RER 1,333 1,782
Share of profit of a joint venture PE—REELENEF 362 621
Profit before taxation KR F A 5% A 5 812,860 719,785
Income tax ey 6 (131,437) (119,552)
Profit for the year FRBEF 681,423 600,233
Attributable to: UTEEEN:
Equity shareholders of the Company KAAEREEA 682,480 605,690
Non-controlling interests IR ER (1,057) (5,457)
Profit for the year FARBEF 681,423 600,233
Earnings per share (HKD) BRERN (Bx) 10
Basic BN 0.11 0.10
Diluted s 0.11 0.10
* See Note 1(c)(). * RHEE(c)) °

The notes on pages 108 to 247 form part of these financial statements.  $£108ZE247E & sF AZ S M HHRE
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company I —Z% - BIREFADNTEZIFEAZ
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 27(d). B B FE{L F R R B E R M EE27(d) ©
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

GREBRERAEMEZEKER

for the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—t#F+—H=1—HIFFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LUBTTZE51)

2017 2016
—ZET—tHF —E-RE
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Bt E FET FET
(Restated)*
(&5~
Profit for the year FREF 681,423 600,233
Other comprehensive income FRAHEHMAEZEK S
for the year 9
ltem that may be reclassified HEAgRENsEEEEN
subsequently to profit or loss: BHH:
Exchange differences on BREWFERBTERIEE
translation of financial EENERMBRREL
statements of entities HERE=SR
not using HKD as
functional currency 301,096 (236,977)
Total comprehensive income FREZHEKRZHTE
for the year 982,519 363,256
Attributable to: RIS EY
Equity shareholders of the AAREREFEA
Company 983,576 368,713
Non-controlling interests IR ER (1,057) (5,457)
Total comprehensive income FRAEZHERGZHERE
for the year 982,519 363,256
* See Note 1(c)(i). * R K (c)) °

The notes on pages 108 to 247 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
e MBMRRE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L{ETTZ2%1)

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
—E—tF —E-REF —E-RE
+=B=+t—-A +ZA=1+-H —HB—H
Note HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
B &E FExT FEx FET
(Restated)* (Restated)*
(REH) ~ (FRE5) ~
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% B E K& E 11 3,496,201 2,696,799 2,567,083
Lease prepayments HEESHE 12 335,443 320,823 351,080
Intangible assets BILEE 13 1,703,829 1,455,213 1,353,469
Goodwill B2 14 170,240 159,089 172,278
Interest in associates REE NS 16 8,629 6,776 5,412
Interest in a joint venture R—REELEN
R 17 3,790 3,193 2,773
Gross amounts due from EREFEHIRE
customers for contract work FRIBMAEE 18 324,715 289,778 276,089
Other receivables H {th FE W R IR 20 611,521 370,723 331,357
Deferred tax assets EIERIBEE 25(b) 8,584 9,376 3,531
6,662,952 5,311,770 5,063,072
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 19 22,191 26,515 35,706
Trade and other receivables BESRHEMEWFIE 20 1,757,957 1,119,834 948,149
Gross amounts due from EREFEHNIRE
customers for contract work FRIEAZE 18 30,938 42,990 40,549
Deposits with a bank with FHRIRITR
original maturity date over FEAEB=@EA
three months ZTER 91,987 6,525 6,715
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBEEEY 21 518,960 1,155,849 456,564
2,422,033 2,351,713 1,487,683
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables ESNRHEMENTE 22 741,632 524,722 363,879
Bank loans RITER 23 1,881,461 1,171,223 766,640
Current taxation ENERRi I8 25(a) 130,423 80,287 27,026
2,753,516 1,776,232 1,157,545
Net current (liabilities)/assets ~ RE) (&fE),~
EEFE (331,483) 575,481 330,138

*  See Note 1 (c)()
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Consolidated statement of financial position (Cont’d)
mEMBRREK (&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L{ETTZ%1)

31 December 31 December 1 January

2017 2016 2016

—E—tF —E-RE —E-RE
+tZA=t—-A +TZA=+-H —H—AH

Note HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
M £ THET THET FHET

(Restated)* (Restated)*
(R&EH) ~ (&E5) ~

Total assets less current HEERRBERE
liabilities 6,331,469 5,887,251 5,393,210
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loans RITER 23 1,580,398 2,000,619 1,632,039
Deferred tax liabilities BRI IE B S 25(b) 268,114 253,978 285,707
Deferred income EIEUR A 26 17,613 16,592 18,047
1,866,125 2,271,189 1,935,793
Net assets EEFE 4,465,344 3,616,062 3,457,417
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARRREE 27
Share capital [N 157,920 157,920 157,920
Reserves & 4,304,564 3,446,604 3,282,502
Total equity attributable to ERARERFEA
equity shareholders of the bR
Company 4,462,484 3,604,524 3,440,422
Non-controlling interests Bl g ey 2,860 11,538 16,995
Total equity R 4,465,344 3,616,062 3,457,417
* See Note 1(c)(i) * RHEE(c))
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 RZ-ZZE—NF=ZA=-t+HLBAKLEESH
March 2018. EREETE-
)
)
) Directors
) EE
)

The notes on pages 108 to 247 form part of these financial statements.  $108ZE247E T &M st BZ S MK HRK
N —&a e
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
mEERBER
for the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+#F+—H=1—HI-FE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LUBTTE51)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARAREEEAREATEE
Shares
held under
the Share Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory Award Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve Scheme reserve profits Total interests equity
ReE
kBB wEET
RE  RGEE EARE MEE  BERB  ERHE  REEA @i FBRER BER
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'000
Thr FiEn FiEn TEn Thr FiEn TiEn TiEn FiEn TiEn
(note 27(@)  (note 27(b))  (note 27(b)  (note 27(b)) (note 24)  (note 27(b))
(Mar)  (MaEare)  (WE70)  (WaEar)  (W&24)  (W&27()
Balance at 1 January 2016 WZE-RE-A-RMEH
(Restated) (&E5)" 157920 1665352 0 12133 (10205 (122446 1628550 3440422 16995 3457417
Changes in equity for 2016: “E-RENEERD:
Proft forthe year (Restated)’ FhsH (8E5) - - - - - - B0560 605690 G457 600233
Other comprehensive income Efp2ENE
(Restated) (&E3))" - - - - - T - T - 397
Total comprehensive income 2EREEE
(Restated) (E5) - - - - - wOT) 6580 368713 (G457 363256
Share purchased under the RERGRETABERS
Share Award Scheme (note 24) (GEZ)
[Restated” (&E3)" - - - - (38 - - 38 - 3
Equity settled share-based transactions WEH£ENRHXHR S
(Restated” (&E5)" - 166 - - 3,799 - - 3,965 - 3,965
Transfer to statutory reserve (Restated)* #Zit ks (KE7)* - - - 76,138 - - (76,138) - - -
Dividends declared in respect of FBAEERSRORE
the previous years (note 27(d) (HiEF7(d))
(Restated) (BE5) - (184730 - - - - - (18730 - 184730)
Balance at 31 December 2016 RZE-RE+ZA=1-A
[Restated]” ftes (EE5)) 157920 1480788 00 197470 (30252) (359423 2158111 304524 158 3616002
Balance at 1 January 2017 WoE-E-B-ANEE 157920 1,480,788 ©0) 197470 (025 (359423 2458111 3,604,524 1538 3616062
Changes in equity for 2017: “E-LENEREE:
Profit for the year FRal - - - - - - 682,480 682,480 (1,057) 681,423
Other comprehensive income A2 ENE - - - - - 301,09 - 301,096 - 301,09
Total comprehensive income 2ANFAE - - - - - 301,09 682,480 983,576 (1,057) 982,519
Equity contribution by shareholders ~ RE B HE
(note 30(c) (2E30c)) 5 - 12,563 5 . - = 12,563 = 12563
Contribution from non-controlling FERERZIEE
interests - - - - - - - - 766 766
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR
(note 15(5)0)il) (FEE18(0)0)i) = = 6,087 = = = = 6,087 (8387) (1,500)
Share purchased under the RERGEETHRERD
Share Award Scheme (note 24) (fzr24) - - - - (36,005) - - (36,005) - (36,005)
Equity settled share-based transactions MEHEEHRAZHRS - (4,587) - - 13,643 - - 9,056 = 9,056
Transfer to statutory reserve EXETRHE - - - 51,424 - - (51,424) - - -
Divicends declared in respect of HBAFECERNRE
the previous years (note 27(d) (HiEF27(d)) - (118,117) - - - - - (118,117) - (118,117)
Balance at 31 December 2017 WZE-tE+ZB=+-H
) 157920 1,358,084 19360 208894 (52614)  (38327) 2789167 4,462,484 2860 4465344

* See Note 1(c)(i)

The notes on pages 108 to 247 form part of these financial statements.

* B HEE1(C)()
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Consolidated cash flow statement

RERERER

for the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—t#F+—H=1—HIFFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LUBTTZE51)

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RE
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Bt E FET FHExT
(Restated)*
(&&&E%)) "
Operating activities REEE
Cash generated from operations REXEBEMBRE 21(b) 724,743 935,476
Income tax paid 2 EH 25(a) (90,548) (82,715)
Net cash generated from operating RETEMBRESFE
activities 634,195 852,761
Investing activities RETEE
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, W B Bt B 1 RS K
net of cash acquired MR ER S - (3,690)
Prepayment of acquisition deposits WEE RS FEA RIE 20(iii) (4,187) (64,170)
Refund of acquisition deposits W R & B 20(jii) 27,949 102,816
Payment for purchase of lease prepayments HEBNRRBEBEYE
and property, plant and equipment BB REEATR (1,113,246) (719,397)
Payment for a construction project EERBEAAMARK (130,327) -
Placement of deposits with a bank with FHREZHBEEB=M@A
original maturity date over three months R 1T F K (85,462) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME BERKE
and equipment T8 E 273 5,991
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEMBATREER
subsidiaries THER 15 44,730 -
Advance to related parties [0 B8 B 7 K (42,962) -
Repayment from related parties REBEESER 37,500 -
Finance income received 2 W ELE WA 8,219 664
Advance to third parties BE-=E-EN (104,093) (183,568)
Repayment from third parties REE=ZFER 231,764 55,897
Net cash used in investing activities REZTEBFMARESFE (1,129,842) (805,457)
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Consolidated cash flow statement (Cont’d)

RERERER (&

for the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+#F+—H=1—HI-FE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LUBTTE51)

2017 2016
—ZET—tHF —E-RE
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Bt E FET FET
(Restated)*
(&&E%)) "

Financing activities Eﬂﬁ?ﬁi’]
Proceeds from bank loans TERMBRIE 21(c 1,927,411 1,945,313
Repayment of bank loans F@fﬁmﬁ 21(c (1,789,285) (1,074,916)
Payment for purchase of shares under B E R R B SR

Share Award Scheme IR 2 3K 24 (36,005) (23,846)
Contribution from non-controlling interests ~ REFIERER 2 HE 766 -
Advance from related parties RE BB S B 21(c 287,451 285,186
Repayment to related parties o) EA B 7 iE K 21(c (287,674) (181,858)
Advance from a third party RE—BE=ZFTBR - 93,907
Repayment to a third party B—RE=ZFEX - (93,907)
Interests paid 2R TR 21(c) (126,088) (101,057)
Loan facility fees paid ENERREER (8,623) -
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of AARABERFTEA

the Company TRAT R E (118,117) (184,730)
Net cash (used)/generated from mEES (FTA),

financing activities FrEReFH (150,164) 664,092
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRREEEY (RD)

cash equivalents Vb1 (645,811) 711,396
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HHWEREK

ReEEY 1,155,849 456,564

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEEXRSETE 8,922 (12,111)
Cash and cash equivalents at BR+=—R=+—HHK

31 December RERBAEEEY 518,960 1,155,849

* See Note 1(c)(i)

The notes on pages 108 to 247 form part of these financial statements.

* B HEE1(C))
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s
interest in associates and a joint venture.

At 31 December 2017, as disclosed in note 23, the Group
has failed to fulfil certain covenants under certain bank loan
arrangements with banks, and therefore certain banks have
rights at any time by notice to the Group to require the loans
of HKD839,293,000 to be immediately repaid.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)

Accordingly, at 31 December 2017, the Group has net
current liabilities of HKD331,483,000. At 31 December 2017,
bank loan of HKD1,042,168,000 and HKD839,293,000
are due for repayment within one year and repayable on
demand respectively.

The directors note that the Group generated net cash from
operating activities of approximately HKD634,195,000
during the year ended 31 December 2017. The Group also
made net profit after tax of HKD681,423,000. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, based on future projection
of the Group’s profit and cash inflows from operations
and the anticipated ability of the Group to renew or roll-
over its banking and other financing facilities to finance its
continuing operations for the year ending 31 December
2018, management believes that the Group has adequate
resources to continue to operate as a going concern
throughout the next twelve months and that there are no
material uncertainties related to events or conditions which,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba185E 5"

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

(0

Changes in presentation currency

The Company and other investment holding
subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands,
British Virgin Islands and Hong Kong have their
functional currencies in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”)
and subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) have their functional currencies
in Renminbi (“RMB”). For the year ended 31
December 2017, the Company determined to change
its presentation currency from RMB to HKD, which
could improve the investor’s ability to compare the
Group’s financial results with other companies listed
in Hong Kong and facilitate communication between
stakeholders in the capital market and the Group. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016 with the additional consolidated
and Company statements of financial position as at 1
January 2016 have been re-translated into HKD from
RMB. All financial information presented in HKD has
been rounded to the nearest thousand.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)

(i)

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued several amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. None of these impact
on the accounting policies of the Group. However,
additional disclosure has been included in note 21(c) to
satisfy the new disclosure requirements introduced by
the amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows:
Disclosure initiative, which require entities to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 1S Ba105EES))

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Cont’d)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
the equity shareholders of the Company.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Cont’d)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(0)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(1)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.

1 EXEFEBR(#)

(d)

(e)

MEBLRARFERES
(&)

EXREEARE-RMBLAM
ERE AREEEMELRE
WA EREE AR MATELEN
BWEHBRENIERER R
REEFEE B DRERATH
BARMNEMESNEAFE
R MZEREEWRR—E
TRHMEENRBEINDFE
(RFFFE1(0)) ©

EARRFBEARRRA - RH
B2 RN RE RN RRER
BARR (RE1() -

BEQNAREELRHE

BENRRAEERAATY
HEE (BESHEYBREE
BRRR)BEEREE (BX
FEFRAREH)NERE-

BELEDEN L2 A
REBEF AN FEA B EEE L
BRRABES ZHZIRZH
ZERE XERREREZ
BEEFE-

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017

113



114

Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see notes 1(f) and (I)). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates and joint venture are stated at
cost less impairment losses (see note 1(1)).
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)

(9)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

() the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 1(l)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Gross amounts due from customers for contract work

The Group recognises a financial asset arising from
a service concession arrangement when it has an
unconditional contractual right to receive cash or other
financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the
construction services provided. Such financial assets are
measured at fair value on initial recognition and classified
as gross amounts due from customers for contract work.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba1H5E 5"

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(9)

(h)

Gross amounts due from customers for contract work
(Cont’d)

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by
a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then
each component of the consideration is accounted for
separately and is initially recognised at the fair value of the
consideration.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1(l)):

- buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land classified as held under operating
leases (note 1(k)); and

- other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings and other infrastructure held for own use
which are situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being 20-50 years after the
date of completion.

- Machinery 5-15 years
- Motor vehicles 3 -5 years
- Office equipment and others 3 -10 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,
are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs,
where applicable (see note 1(x)). Capitalised development
costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses (see note 1(l)). Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Cont’d)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(l)).

The Group recognises an intangible asset arising from
a service concession arrangement when it has a right
to charge for use of the concession infrastructure. An
intangible asset received as consideration for providing
construction or upgrade services in a service concession
arrangement is measured at fair value on initial recognition
with reference to the fair value of the services provided.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible asset
is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (see note 1(l)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of an
intangible asset in a service concession arrangement is the
period from when the Group is able to charge the end user
for the use of the infrastructure to the end of the concession
period. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and
their estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Supply of industrial water operation right

- HEIFAKKERE

- Wastewater treatment plants operation rights

- FKEREREBEER

- Sludge and solid waste treatment operation rights
- SREREREYERLEERE

- Hazardous waste treatment operation rights

- RCREYEEEEHE

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)]

(k)

U

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent cost of land use rights paid
to the PRC’s government authorities. Land use rights
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (note 1(l)). Amortisation is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the respective
period of the rights which are 35 years to 50 years.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset.

Impairment of assets

()  Impairment of investments in trade and other
receivables and gross amounts due from customers for
contract work

Investments in associates, joint ventures, other current
and non-current receivables and gross amounts due
from customers for contract work that are stated at
cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

-  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
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Notes to the financial statements

A TS HR AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Impairment of investments in trade and other
receivables and gross amounts due from customers for
contract work (Cont’d)

a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

For investments in associates and joint ventures
accounted for under the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements (see note 1(g)),
the impairment loss is measured by comparing
the recoverable amount of the investment with its
carrying amount in accordance with note 1(l)(ii).
The impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance
with note 1(l)(ii).

CT Environmental Group Limited
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Impairment of investments in trade and other

Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1

receivables and gross amounts due from customers for

contract work (Cont’d)
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REREFSEHTE
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For trade and other current receivables, gross
amounts due from customers for contract work
and other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the collective
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Notes to the financial statements

A TS HR AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Impairment of investments in trade and other

receivables and gross amounts due from customers for
contract work (Cont’d)

- If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors
included within trade and other receivables, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade debtors directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged
to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;

- intangible assets;

- lease prepayments;

- goodwill;

- interests in associates and joint ventures; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i) Impairment of other assets (Cont’d)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i) Impairment of other assets (Cont’d)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i) Impairment of other assets (Cont’d)
- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(i) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 1(1)(i) and (ii)).
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Annual Report 2017

1

EXEFBR(#)

()

BEERE (&)

(i)

At EERE (&)
- RESERD

PREBLUSINNEE
= - fid HIEEEE
A Uy B AT A T
HIRBRNZE A
AROEERE-
BEENEERBET
o

R (B JE5 15 138 [l FR 0
ZEELARTEB
E 4 B P HE 52 A0 R
BEEERNIRE
B REFBERD
NBEREREE
BOFEETAR

mAe

(ii})  FRIRI TR R B E

RESBHERZME
RABES LHARL
REBEARTHFEN
BEXERRERFEEE
= RT B SE3455%  # B
IR ERE N B
BRE-AEEEDHH
RERTEBBFEL
A5 S ER A A AR B RLE
A HE B A 4 B 22 A
( RBEEET()()FA i) ) o



Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

U

(m)

Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(iij)  Interim financial reporting and impairment (Cont’d)

Impairment loss recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any writedown of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are contracts specifically negotiated
with a customer for the construction of an asset or a group
of assets under a service concession arrangement. The
accounting policy for contract revenue is set out in note
1(v)(i). When the outcome of a construction contract can
be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense by reference to the stage of completion of
the contract at the end of the reporting period. When it is
probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately. When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts (see note 1(l)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(q)

)

(s)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in
accordance with note 1(u)(i), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

()  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Share-based payments

The fair value of shares granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date by reference to the
market price of the Company’s shares.

1 EXEFBR(E

(a)

r

(s)

B RHMENRE

REmERAEERBENTI()
(etEHN BFREMENSRK
HENERAFERR HER
BOERAYIER ERREEE
S50 Bl IR AR TIBR o

RERREEEY

RERREEBEMRERITR
FERAT RITREMSHE
BRERERRERM SR
HHRE  WERE A BER
BRAECHMESENRE BFA
AZNEEZBRARTA I
REBAERBEF=ZEARE
He

EEEF

() ERIESEFRRER
FhBIRET B R

e FERAL THF
B~ SE R GR IR AT 8
HARFEEBFAK
ARESRMRBEHF
B AT R o fif B A3 TR FE
MEREXRD R B
HEAZRESIR-

i) KX

ETRERODNAFE
EEBRIABEERS:
WHEEEMEZANE
i@ 2 FERET
BHZ2ZXRDARMH
mETE

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017

129



130

Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(s)

®

Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

Income tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

Income tax (Cont’d)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

Income tax (Cont’d)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

1 EXEFBR(F)

(t)

Frig®t (&)

BNHAR TR A R IR AE R T A5 B
REZB HEBDIFHIIRK
WEAEIEE - BEA DB HA
SEEEE L EAIRHEEB
HEENMBHEASGENTE
REFRBERTE T BIRRSMRAF
RIBNHAT IR A = R 85 B AR
HEE REERIREE T
HIELERAEE:

- ERADSHEAERS
YL
BILUB A B R A
AEBEREENEES
&

- EREEBEEERSE
BWMEER-HBEE
B Tl E SRS
AR :

- R-ERHER;
=
- WATEHERB

BE EHEARXK
B EBHKEE
FREBEZHEN
EERERER
BEERFTEILUFH
BEESRANHHIR
BEENRFEDNHH
HE BERF IR
SHRENPHEEE
KBENMHIRES
&

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017

133



134

Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

(@

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and other payables.
The fair value of financial guarantees issued at the
time of issuance is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or
is otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Cont’d)

()

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (Cont’d)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 1(u) (i) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (i)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount
initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(v)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Service concession arrangement

Revenue relating to construction services under a
service concession arrangement is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the work performed.
When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are
recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage
of completion of the contract. The stage of completion
is assessed by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to estimated total contract costs
for the contract. When the outcome of a construction
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue
is recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that are likely to be recoverable. An expected
loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. Operation or service turnover is recognised
in the period in which services are provided by the
Group. When the Group provides more than one
service in a service concession arrangement, the
consideration received is allocated by reference to the
relative fair values of the services delivered when the
amounts are separately identifiable.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(v) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(i)

(if)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Revenue from supply of industrial water

Revenue from supply of industrial water is recognised
when industrial water is supplied to customers.

Revenue from provision of other services

Revenue from provision of other services is recognised
when the service is rendered.

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at
the customers’ premises which is taken to be the
point in time when the customer has accepted the
goods and the related risks and rewards of ownership.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes
and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

(x)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are interrupted or complete.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(y) Related parties

(@

®)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iliy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iliy Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d))

(y) Related parties (Cont’d)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Cont’d)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(viij A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d))

(2)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the
key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”)
arrangements in wastewater treatment and solid waste
treatment. The Group concluded that the BOT arrangements
are service concession arrangements under HK (IFRIC) 12,
because the local government controls and regulates the
services that the Group must provide with the infrastructure
at a pre-determined service charge. In addition, upon expiry
of concession right agreement, the infrastructure has to be
transferred to the local government at nil consideration.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont’d)

(i)

(iii)

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, after
taking into account the estimated residual value. The
Group reviews periodically the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any. The depreciation expense for future
periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimation.

Impairment

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for certain property, plant and equipment, lease
prepayments, recoverable amount of these assets needs
to be determined. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the net selling price and the value in use. It is difficult
to precisely estimate selling price because quoted market
prices for these assets may not be readily available.
In determining the value in use, expected cash flows
generated by the asset are discounted to their present
value, which requires significant judgment relating to
items such as level of turnover and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as turnover and
operating costs.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are assessed
and provided based on the management’s regular
review of ageing analysis and evaluation of collectability.
A considerable level of judgment is exercised by the
management when assessing the credit worthiness and
past collection history of each individual customer. An
increase or decrease in the above impairment losses would
affect the profit or loss in future periods.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following six reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

- Supply of industrial water: this segment supplies industrial
water.

- Provision of wastewater treatment plants operation services:
this segment operates wastewater treatment plants under
Build-Own-Operate (“BOQO”) arrangement.

- BOT project construction and operation services: this
segment constructs and operates wastewater and solid
waste treatment plants under BOT arrangement to generate
turnover from construction, operation services and finance
income.

- Provision of heating services and electricity generation:
this segment provides heating services and electricity
generation.

- Provision of sludge and solid waste treatment services:
this segment provides sludge and solid waste treatment
services.

- Provision of hazardous waste treatment services: this
segment provides hazardous waste treatment services.
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont’d)

(a)

Segment reporting

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. However,
other than reporting inter-segment sales of wastewater
treatment plants operation services, sludge and solid waste
treatment services and hazardous waste treatment services,
assistance provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit. The Group’s senior executive management is
provided with segment information concerning segment
revenue and profit. Segment assets and liabilities are not
reported to the Group’s senior executive management
regularly.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont’d)

3 WARSHMEH(F

(a) Segment reporting (Cont’d) (@) D2 (EF)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as EE—ttFERNZE—RF
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management T RA=t—HLEEELXER
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment BRETHEBAEMERDE
of segment performance for the year ended 31 December ko EBEEFT AR A2
2017 and 2016 is set out below. WoHEE2ERENOT
Provision of BOT Provision of
wastewater project heating Provision of Provision of
treatment construction services  sludge and  hazardous
Supply of plants and and solid waste waste
industrial operation operation electricity ~ treatment  treatment
water services services  generation services services Total
RE5K BOTEH REFER RERR
it EERIE BER RELGE EREN BUEE
BE-Z—tF IRk 2ERK BERK BERRE R B R FR i ot
For the year ended +=ZA=+-H HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
31 December 2017 LEE THT THT THET THT FER TERT TET
Revenue from RENFEFHRS
external customers 67,479 557,015 272,872 198,097 532,523 471,112 2,099,098
Inter-segment revenue WG - 95,904 - - 52,213 10,446 158,563
Reportable segment revenue 7 27 Wz 67,479 652,919 272,872 198,097 584,736 481,558 2,257,661
Reportable segment A2H PR
profit (adjusted (R &EBITDA)
EBITDA) 56,276 480,326 60,827 81,733 181,466 305,034 1,165,662
Share of profits of AMEBEDRR
associates and -ReELE
a joint venture oyl - 362 - - - 1,333 1,695
Depreciation and FREREH
amortisation for the year (13,198) (94,618) (658) (6211) (71,675) (85936)  (272,296)
Gain on disposal of HENBAANKE
subsidiaries - 66,060 - - - 348 66,408
Impairment of BREERE
intangible assets - - - - (8,325) - (8,325)
HERRKREFARAT
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS ER AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont’d)

3 WARSHMEH(F

(a) Segment reporting (Cont’d) (a) DEB2IF (EF)
Provision of BOT  Provision of
wastewater project heating  Provision of  Provision of
treatment  construction services  sludge and hazardous
Supply of plants and and  solid waste waste
industrial operation operation electricity treatment treatment
water services services  generation services services Total
Rft5k  BOTER REEER  REER
e  EBERE BRE  RA4HR EEN  BNEE
For the year ended HZ-Z-~% IERK EERK EERYE BREREE EERE R aE
31 December 2016 +ZA=+-H HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
(Restated) L5 (FEF) TERL TEL TEL FER TERT TER FER
Revenue from RENDEF Y E
external customers 67,280 558,878 389,176 140,884 513,114 507,706 2,177,038
Inter-segment revenue ARG - 87,047 - - 104,082 12,178 203,307
Reportable segment revenue o 2 {7 Sl 67,280 645,925 389,176 140,884 617,196 519,884 2,380,345
Reportable segment A2HAHEF
profit (adjusted ($RAEBITDA)
EBITDA) 54,415 391,741 101,190 9,628 287,937 359,174 1,204,085
Share of profits of PMEHEARR
associates and a —RaEtE
joint venture oyl - 621 - - - 1,782 2,403
Depreciation and ERTEREE
amortisation for the year (15,564) (90,007) (593) (1,423) (67,961) (88,685) (264,233)
Impairment of UTIEE KR E
- intangible assets -BRWEE - - - - - (15,065) (15,065)
- goodwill B2 - - - - - (2,364) (2,364)

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017



Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont’d)

(a)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before share of profits of
associates and a joint venture, finance costs, taxes, interest
income, depreciation and amortisation, impairment losses
on non-current assets, gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
net foreign exchange gain/(loss)”. To arrive at adjusted
EBITDA the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
directors’ remuneration and other head office or corporate
administration costs.

The Group has transactions with the PRC local government
authorities (under common control from the PRC
government) which in aggregate exceeded 10% of the
Group’s turnover. Turnover from provision of wastewater
treatment plants operation services, BOT project
construction and operation services and provision of sludge
and solid waste treatment services derived from local
government authorities in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2017 amounted to HKD376,673,000 (equivalent
to RMB325,672,000) (2016: HKD565,040,000, equivalent to
RMB484,296,000). Details of concentrations of credit risk
arising from customers are set out in note 28(a).

3 WARSHMEH(F

(a)

DE2E (A)

ARBEDHEFNTERR
B AR BEBITDA | B[k
AR hEBEATR—RE
EENEF RERAR B
BHFEWAITEREE-
ERBEENHEEE HE
NG &Y S Al &=
SBB)FEANARERR
Fl o BEMFIERZEBITDA
REBZBFIE I RIEESR
BB R 5 E8 218 B 1EH#E—
THE MESHFHKEME
EBR D FE TR AN

7N & [ B AP E it U5 R AT M B
(ZHEBUFHEREZES)#ET
MRS EHBEREBEEE
H10% - BZ-ZE—t+tF+=
B=+—HLEE  BHEit
FHN#BIRESKEER
MEZERY BOTEEERK
EERERERSERELS
BYEERESROBAS
376,673,00058 7t (#HE R A
R #325,672,000t) (=&
— N £ 1 565,040,00058 JT -
HERAR484,296,000
L) REEFEFZEHEER
PR IE B A M 5E28(a) ©

P ERERRERRAE
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont’d) 3 WARSHER (&
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment profits (b) HEHRDIBEF LR
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RE
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Bt =t FTHET FHExT
(Restated)
€<E=¢7))
Reportable segment profit Al 2 o &0 F 1,165,662 1,204,085
Elimination of inter-segment profits 43 25 [ 5% ) ¥ 84 (4,084) (5,780)
Reportable segment profit derived REAEBEIBEFH
from Group’s external customers A 23R 2 2055 Kl 1,161,578 1,198,305
Share of profits of associates PR ERNRR
and a joint venture —REELENER 1,695 2,403
Finance costs il & RS 5(a) (124,780) (102,857)
Interest income FIE WA 4(a) 11,627 5,515
Depreciation and amortisation ER#HE 5(c) (272,296) (264,233)
Impairment losses on FRBEENRERIE
non-current assets (8,325) (17,429)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARNEE 4(b) 66,408 -
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) B R Uz (BE)FE  4() 20,741 (64,773)
Unallocated head office AOMABIHR
and corporate expenses AEEX (43,788) (37,146)
Consolidated profit before taxation #r & BR%1 Bl E 7 812,860 719,785
(c) Geographic information (c) HEZFH
Analysis of the Group’s turnover and assets by geographical HRAEEREABIWRERE
market has not been presented as substantially all of the EEERRNURPEIREA &
Group’s revenue and assets are generated and located in WARZIAEERBET S
the PRC. THERBEREEDN -

148 CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS)

Hipsm R E gz (&

#)

(a) Other revenue (a) Hittuz
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FERT FET
(Restated)
€ <E==27))
Government grants BB 24,587 9,924
- Unconditional subsidies (i) — ARG () 24,449 9,484
- Conditional subsidies (note 26) — B RHEwRE (FizE26) 138 440
Value-added tax refund (ii) I {5 B 1R B (ii) 142,021 145,173
Interest income FE WA 11,627 5,515
Consultancy fees (jii) & 7 AR A% (iii) 18,506 -
Land levelling services (iv) = it S E& R £ (iv) 129,370 32,018
Others Hih 1,452 1,075
327,563 193,705

() Government grants represent various forms of
incentives and subsidies granted to the Group by the

() BRAFMEBIIEh Bt 75 4
ERTFAKEFRLNX

local government authorities in the PRC.

(i) The Group was entitled to value-added tax refund (i)
of HKD142,021,000 (equivalent to RMB122,792,000)

(2016: HKD145,173,000,

equivalent to

RMB124,428,000) during the year ended 31 December
2017 in relation to the provisions of wastewater, sludge
and solid waste treatment services of the Group in the
PRC. There were no unfulfilled conditions and other
contingencies attached to the receipts of such tax

refund.

ZREREY-

HE-Z—tH+=AH
=+—-HLEFEE K&
EEEBRAEERFE
REHTKTRKEE
Be BE Y R TR AR TS R 1Y
BERER142,021,000
BT (HERARK
122,792,000t) (=&
— RN 145,173,000
BT HERARY
124,428,0007T) ° 1} &
ERKEMZERBIRIE
ZARERGHRE A
REIE -

P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017



150

Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

4 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS) (Cont’d)

(a) Other revenue (Cont’d)

(i)

(iv)

The Group has entered into an agreement with two
independent parties in connection with the bidding
of a construction project. Pursuant to the agreement,
these two parties agreed to pay one-off consultancy
fee amounting to HKD18,506,000 (equivalent to
RMB16,000,000) (2016: Nil) to the Group upon the
success of the bidding and sign-off of relevant project
contracts. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
the Group has fulfilled the above conditions.

In the government project of Yulin (Fumian) Energy-
Saving Environmental Protection Industrial Park
(“Yulin Industrial Park”), Yulin Xintao acts as an overall
representative of the local government authorities
to provide agency services to appoint and manage
the external construction suppliers to conduct land
levelling projects for local entities who have subscribed
for land use rights and will build up and operate
production plants in the Yulin Industrial Park.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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(a) HftbWss (&)

(i)

AEBCOHMBR —HE
HRIEEHEMRE IS
IR o RIBEW S ML
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FEREERBEES
HNEDAREEXZS—X
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

4  OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS) (Cont’d) 4 HzmzkEwBEWzE " (&E)

(%)
(b) Other net income/(loss) (b) Hfb B (FE)
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FERT FET
(Restated)
(F=E5)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA RN
(note 15(b)(ii)(ii)) (B E15(b)(i)ii) ) 66,408 -
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) B X (E518) 34 20,741 (64,773)
Others H it (2,369) 4,122)
84,780 (68,895)
5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 MBAEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BB AIRAENRR, (5t THIE
I8 :
(a) Finance costs (@) BERK
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FERT FExT
(Restated)
(F2E5)
Interest on bank loans IRITERFE 124,181 109,659
Loan facility fees BEXRMEEH 19,943 -
Less: interest expenses capitalised B EREARBTYEN
into properties under FIEFX*
development* (19,344) (6,802)
Total finance costs & R AN 45 124,780 102,857
* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates of 3.70% — * &R A R F A ZE3.70%-
5.75% per annum (2016: 4.16% — 5.61%). 575% &R (ZFE—RF:

4.16%-5.61%) °

PERERRERRAE 151
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

5  PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Cont’d) 5 WR#HEER (F
(b) Staff costs (b) EIREK

2017 2016

—E—+F —E—RE

HKD’000 HKD’000

TE&T FHET

(Restated)

(&LEH)

Salaries, wages and other benefits HFe& - IEREMEBER 192,569 171,617
Contributions to defined contribution 5 & R (Rt 2 R

retirement plan 11,713 9,908

Equity-settled share-based payment  BA%E #= & & (49 i 17
expenses (note 24) ZATBX (MizE24) 9,056 3,965
213,338 185,490

The employees of the companies in the PRC participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme operated by the
local government authorities whereby the Group is required
to contribute to the scheme at rate of 13% to 20% of the
eligible employees’ basic salary (2016: 13% to 20%). The
local government authorities are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

Contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
are required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The Group and its employees
in Hong Kong make monthly mandatory contributions
to the MPF scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The contributions from employees and
employers are subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HKD30,000 (2016: HKD30,000).

The Group has no other material obligations for payments of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of employees
other than the contributions described above.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements
B SRR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Cont’d) 5 MKREWEM (&
(c) Other items (c) HfEE

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RE

Note HKD’000 HKD’000

B & FERT FExT

(Restated)

(RRE5)

Cost of construction service EE R KA 185,802 279,573

Cost of inventories* BFE R 19 141,411 130,210

Depreciation and amortisation ENEHE 11,12,13 272,296 264,233
(Reversal)/recognition of WEEIE (BE) TER

impairment losses

- Trade and other receivables - EZRHEMEBEWFIE 20(Db) (1,726) 34,809

- Intangible assets —-EmEEE 13 8,325 15,065

— Goodwill -BE 14 - 2,364

Operating lease charges KEHEEMX 9,215 9,799

Research and ER X
development expenses 9,506 15,643
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET £ 6,653 4,877

Cost of inventories represented raw materials consumed during

the supply of industrial water, provision of wastewater treatment
plants operation services, provision of heating services and
electricity generation, provision of sludge and solid waste
treatment services and provision of hazardous waste treatment

services.

- FERAERETEAKR
REFSKEEREEER
BORMHBRERRE R
5 & [E B8 BE 1 AR T2 AR 7S
Rzl ERY RERE
FROBFERY R AT
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS ER AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 6 SEETZRNBIFAEHR
PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) HEBFERANBIERE:
represents:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FERT FET
(Restated)
(F2E5)
Current tax - PRC income tax AR E —F B8
Provision for the year FEEE 145,930 139,694
(Over)/under — provision in respect BEEE GBERE)
of prior years BRETR (12,351) 399
Sub-total INEF 133,579 140,093
Deferred tax EER IR
Origination and reversal of temporary ERMEZFENEEREBE
differences (note 25(b)) (FFzE25(b)) (2,142) (20,541)
Income tax expenses FrEBiEx 131,437 119,552

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 6 &RE

PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont’d)

Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

BRERNETEH (&)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting (b) BREBRABREFENFBREEX
profit at applicable tax rates: HEH BN
2017 2016
—E-+tF —E-RF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHExT FET
(Restated)
€<E==27))
Profit before taxation KRB B S R 812,860 719,785
Notional tax on profit before taxation, %MBEHEEE EEEEAR
calculated at the rates applicable s A Y Eb 2= 7k BR R A% F
to profits in the jurisdictions SENARHIE()
concerned (i) 218,154 198,530
Effect of non-deductible expenses AR I E 45,176 10,324
Effect of non-taxable income FERBIMANEZE (5,306) (601)
Effect of preferential tax treatments (ii) &= %181 ZfEE’J?Z%( ii) (119,139) (92,686)
Effect of tax losses not recognised (jii) & #5254 18 518 B9 5222 (iii) 9,882 17,221
Effect of reversal of previous accrued HEIBEEFENFEELHN
with-holding tax expense (note 25(d)) & (MffzE25(d)) - (13,410)
(Oven/under-provision in prior years B FE (BEEE),
BETRE (12,351) 399
Use of previously unrecognised FEREAIAREIRIERGE
tax losses (4,979) (225)
Income tax expenses R 131,437 119,552

P ERERRERRAE
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

6

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont’d)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates: (Cont’d)

Note:

@)

(ii)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the Group
did not earn income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
years ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

The statutory income tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are entitled to the following
PRC preferential tax treatments:

Guangzhou Xintao Wastewater Treatment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Xintao”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in September 2015, which entitled it to the
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2015 to 2017.

Guangzhou Lvyou Industrial Waste Reclamation Treatment
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Lvyou”) was approved as a
High and New Technology Enterprise in September 2015, which
entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2015 to
2017.

Heyuan Solid Waste Centralized Treatment Centre Company
Limited (“Heyuan Solid”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in December 2016, which entitled it to the
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont’d)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates: (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont’d)

iy  (Contd)

Guangzhou Haitao Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Haitao”), being an entity engaged
in wastewater treatment and sludge treatment, is entitled to a
tax holiday of 3-year exemption and 3-year 50% reduction on
income derived from its principal activities (the “3+3 tax holiday”)
starting from the year in which the project starts to generate
operating revenue. There are three phases of waste treatment
facilities under Guangzhou Haitao. Phase | and Phase Il facilities
are subject to exemption from income tax from 2010 to 2012
and reduction of half of the income tax from 2013 to 2015; while
Phase lll facilities are subject to exemption from income tax from
2013 to 2015 and reduction of half of the income tax from 2016
to 2018. Additionally, in October 2015, Guangzhou Haitao was
approved as a High and New Technology Enterprise, which then
entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2016
to 2017. As a result, the effective income tax rate of Phase | and
Phase Il facilities is 15% from 2016 to 2017; while the effective
income tax rate of Phase Il facilities is 7.5% from 2016 to 2017.

Huaihua Tianyuan Wastewater Treatment Company Limited
(“Huaihua Tianyuan”) being entities engaged in wastewater
treatment, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday starting from the
year in which the project starts to generate operating revenue.
Huaihua Tianyuan is subject to exemption from income tax from
2011 to 2013 and reduction of half of the income tax from 2014

to 2016.

6 &RE

(b)
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Notes to the financial statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

6

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont’d)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates: (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont’d)

iy  (Contd)

(il

Guangzhou Yinglong Wastewater Treatment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Yinglong”), being entities engaged in wastewater
treatment, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday starting from the
year in which the project starts to generate operating revenue.
Guangzhou Yinglong is subject to exemption from income tax
from 2012 to 2014 and reduction of half of the income tax from
2015 to 2017. In November 2017, Guangzhou Yinglong was
approved as a High and New Technology Enterprises, which then
entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2018 to
2020.

Qingyuan Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited (“Qingyuan Lvyou”), being an entity engaged in solid
waste treatment, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday starting
from the year in which the project starts to generate operating
revenue. Qingyuan Lvyou is subject to exemption from income
tax from 2014 to 2016 and reduction of half of the income tax
from 2017 to 2019. Additionally, in October 2015, Qingyuan
Lvyou was approved as a High and New Technology Enterprise,
which then entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15%
from 2016 to 2017. As a result, the effective income tax rate of
Qingyuan Lvyou is 7.5% during the year ended 31 December
2017.

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(t), the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of HKD3,316,000
(equivalent to RMB2,867,000) (2016: HKD13,528,000,
equivalent to RMB11,595,000) and HKD6,566,000 (equivalent
to RMB5,676,000) (2016: HKD3,693,000, equivalent to
RMBS3,165,000), in respect of cumulative tax losses of certain
subsidiaries located in Hong Kong and subsidiaries in the PRC,
respectively.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation are as follows:

7 EEME

RIBEE B D ARPIE383(NRRE A
A (MBESFZEHR) REI5E28
RENESMEOT :

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE-E-tFT-A=t-HLEFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (note 24) Total
Fe BHR Rikctal RAXA
£k BNEA RERA 3 it (Hrzto4) Fh
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TiEn TiEx Ti#x T TiEx TiEx TiEx
Executive directors BTEE
Mr. Tsui Cham To HEEEE - 7,435 17 18 7470 301 7,11
Mr. Lu Yili (note (i) BB %% (7)) - 3,323 - 12 3,335 - 3,335
Mr. Xu Shubiao #EELE - 227 26 29 282 251 533
Mr. Gu Yaokun HRELE - 284 - 2 286 - 286
Mr. Xu Juwen BEXEE - 446 2 30 499 201 700
Mr. Xu Zhencheng (note (i) #FiRAL 4 (HIZE() - 465 17 7 489 301 790
Sub-total et - 12,180 83 98 12,361 1,054 13,415
Independent non-executive BIYFHITES
directors
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BRHEE - 124 - - 124 - 124
Mr. Lien Jown Jing, BERIEE
Vincent (note (ii) (& Gi)) - 375 - - 375 - 375
Mr. Du Hequn (note (iv) RBHLE (i) - 289 - - 289 - 289
Mr. Chau Paul (note (vi) BRBEE (M) - 56 - - 56 - 56
Sub-total N - 844 - - 844 - 844
Total H) - 13,024 83 9% 13,205 1,054 14,259
HERRKREFARAT

FEHE 2017
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Notes to the financial statements
B RS SRR I EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 1S BatBFEE5))

7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Cont’d) 7 EEME (F

Year ended 31 December 2016 (Restated)
BEZ-E-AET-B=T-HLEE (£E))

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (note 24) Total
§e 2ER RINEE beiE)
EEX0kA ENER BERA #3% it (HzE4) @zt

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

Executive directors HE=E
Mr. Tsui Cham To HEELE - 8,984 18 36 9,038 254 9,202
Mr. Lu Yili (note (i) B %4 (M) - 5,615 - 36 5,651 254 5,905
Mr. Xu Shubiao BEELE - 182 27 22 231 202 433
Mr. Gu Yaokun HRREE - 652 - 5 657 - 657
Mr. Xu Juwen #®IEEE - 379 23 1 413 100 513
Sub-total gt - 15,812 68 10 15,990 810 16,800
Independent non-executive BUFHTEES

directors
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BREEE - 133 - - 133 - 133
Mr. Lien Jown Jing, Vincent ~ ERE%4E

(note (i) ( F&E (i) - 400 - - 400 - 400
Mr. Du Hequn (note (iv)) HEEEE (M) - 300 - - 300 - 300
Sub-total gt - 833 - - 833 - 833
Total @z - 16,645 68 10 16,823 810 17,633
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(il

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Mr. Lu Yili resigned on 24 August 2017.

Mr. Xu Zhencheng was appointed as executive director on 24 August
2017.

Mr. Lien Jown Jing, Vincent resigned on 24 October 2017.
Mr. Du Hequn resigned on 16 January 2018.
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu was appointed as independent non-executive director

on 16 January 2018.

Mr. Chau Paul was appointed as independent non-executive director on
24 October 2017 and resigned on 14 February 2018.

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. Suen To Wai
was appointed as independent non-executive director on 14 February
2018.

There were no amounts paid during the year ended 31 December
2017 (2016: Nil) to the directors as inducement to join or upon
joining the Company or the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. No directors waived or agreed to waive any emolument
during the year.

EEME (&

fi3

@

(ii)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

ECYXRER=ZZF—tENA
ZtHEBME-

HERREER=-_T—-—tENA
“tTHERERERIITES

EREEER=-Z—tHE+A
ZtHEBME-

HBEEER-ZZE-NF-At+
AEHE-

REREER-ZZE-NF-A+
REZEABIUNFHTES-

ARAEER-F—LF T3
CtNEEEERBIFATE
F AR-F-NF-ATHAR
fEe

RBE-Z—-—tH&+=-A=+—H
LEER BZREER-ZE-N
FZ_ATHARZERBULFHNT
Bx-

BE_Z-—tF+-A=1t—HL
FE BEODEEXFEMREF
ARSI EMARMARRBRAE
BEREcRBIEAEBEBAEE (=
Z-RFF) FRREESEHE
HEBREEAHH -
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS ER AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2016:
three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two

(2016: two) individuals are as follows:

REHMAL

TEBEHFMALTHINEF=S
(ZE-—RF =ZR)RES H¥F
B BRI 7 cHEM B (=2
—AREMB)ATHBMESRAZED

L

2017 2016

—E—+t& —E—RE

HKD’000 HKD’000

TET TET

(Restated)

(F2E5)

Salaries and other benefits HEeRHEMEBR 2,156 2,237
Share-based payments IR A 720 100
Retirement scheme contributions BRI R 20 41
Total Ha 2,896 2,378

The emoluments of the two (2016: two) individuals with the

ME(ZE-—RF WE) RSN

highest emoluments are within the following bands: AT ST EBER :
2017 2016
—B—tF —T-xE
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
Nil - HKD1,000,000 2 %1,000,0005 T - 1
HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000 1,000,0017& 7t £1,500,0007% JT 1 -
HKD1,500,001 - HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 5T £2,000,0007 7T 1 1

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 9 HizmEWHE
Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive EBEHMEE KR 2 & EAKEBD
income. PFIES .
2017 2016
—Z-tf§ ZE-RE
Before-tax Tax Net-of tax Before-tax Tax Net-of tax
amount expense amount amount expense amount
BEAISE BIEMAX RB%EE BREASE BIEMX BEgeE
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TR T TEx THEr TET T
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&E7)) (&E75]) (EE35)
Exchange differences on BREYFERETER
translation of financial MEEBNER
statements of entitiesnot IR RELH
using HKD as functional ERZE
currency 301,096 - 301,096 (236,977) - (236,977)
FHERRREFRAT

FEHE 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS ER AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@) Basic earnings per share

10

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of HKD682,480,000 (2016: HKD605,690,000)
and the weighted average of 6,285,031,000 ordinary shares
(2016: 6,304,775,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the

year, calculated as follows:

BRER

(a)

BREFEF

BREXRBFWFTETEIR
BEARQAAEEERIEE
A FE 15 5% 7)682,480,00058 7T

— % — x4 :605,690,000
BLTI)UREHITEERDN
hn 4 F 19 2(6,285,031,000
B“%ZEHQ(—;—%\E-

6,304,775,000/ & B MR ) 5T &
Fr8mT :
2017 2016
—E—+t5F —E-REF
’000 000
TR T
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—BHERTEBER 6,316,792 6,316,792
Effect of purchase of shares under RERDRBFAEBERDHN
the Share Award Scheme (note 24) 2 (MizE24) (35,109) (12,737)
Effect of grant of shares under the RIBR GO REFEET RO
Share Award Scheme (note 24) 28 (Mzt24) 3,348 720
Weighted average number of R+=ZB=+—H#K
ordinary shares at 31 December T BRI HE 6,285,031 6,304,775
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SREBEERER

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, there
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares issued.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 ME -BBEREH
Buildings Office
and other Motor equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery vehicles and others In progress Total
BER BARER
HERRE #a Kas Hit EEIR @t
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TiEx TER TEm TER TiEm TiEm
Cost: RA:
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) BR=E-~E-A-H (LE5) 1,461,668 951,163 13,963 54,856 379,906 2,861,556
Additions (Restated) WE (KE5) 1,078 21,783 1,382 4,408 474,811 503,462
Transfer from construction in progress BEEIREH
(Restated) (&) 177,934 167,819 - - (345,759) -
Disposals (Restated) RE (KE7) (356) (9,666) - ) - (10,027)
Exchange adjustments (Restated) EX#% (587) (100,144) (67,827) (042) (3,663) (29,479) (202,055)
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) R-B-~E+ZB=t-AH
(&E5) 1,540,180 1,063,272 14,403 55,596 479,485 3,152,936
At 1 January 2017 RZE-+5-A-H 1,540,180 1,063,272 14,403 55,596 479,485 3,152,936
Additions RE 4,353 8,768 1,311 7,056 797,160 818,648
Transfer from construction in progress BERIREY 433,072 112,094 - - (645,166) -
Disposals EE - (1,694) (165) (355) - 2214
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - (35,503) - (135) - (35,638)
Exchange adjustments ERAE 122,966 77,258 992 4,127 42,259 247,602
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+ZA=+-H 2,100,571 1,224,195 16,541 66,289 773,738 4,181,334
Accumulated depreciation: RitE:
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) RZB-XE—F—B(HE5) (115850 (158,604) (7,461) (12,558) - (294,473)
Charge for the year (Restated) FRMG (KE5) (62,241) (119,368) (5,301) (5,045) - (191,955)
Written back on disposals (Restated) RERHME (KE5) 84 3,659 - 5 - 3,748
Exchange adjustments (Restated) ERHE (LES) 9,941 14,889 694 1,019 - 26,543
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) R-B-~E+ZB=t-A
(£E5) (168,066) (259,424) (12,068) (16,579) - (456,137)
At 1 January 2017 W-E-t£-fA-F (168,066) (259,424) (12,068) (16,579) - (456,137)
Charge for the year ERR (105,173) (82,041) (1,777) (10,682) - (199,673)
Written back on disposals EERH - 1,458 162 347 - 1,967
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAF - 7,024 - 124 - 7,148
Exchange adjustments ExE% (15,390) (20,680) (852) (1,516) - (38,438)
At 31 December 2017 R-E-+EF+=fA=+-8 (288,629) (353,663) (14,535) (28,306) - (685,133)
Carrying amount: RAEfE:
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tFE+ZA=+-H 1,811,942 870,532 2,006 37,983 773,738 3,496,201
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) RZB-RFTZA=t-H
(BE5) 1,372,114 803,848 2,335 39,017 479,485 2,696,799

PERERERRAE . 165
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

11

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(i)

(if)

(i)

Certain property, plant and equipment with carrying value
of HKD199,542,000 (equivalent to RMB166,799,000)
were pledged to secure the Group’s bank loans as at 31
December 2017 (2016: HKD175,721,000, equivalent to
RMB157,182,000) (note 23).

As at 31 December 2017 and up to the date of approval
of these financial statements, the Group is in the process
of applying for the property title certificates in respect
of the properties located in Qingyuan, in which the
Group has interests and for which such certificates have
not been granted. As at 31 December 2017, carrying
value of such properties of the Group amounted to
HKD40,410,000(equivalent to RMB33,779,000) (2016:
HKD34,947,000, equivalent to RMB31,260,000). The
directors of the Group are of the opinion that the use of and
the conduct of operating activities at the properties referred
to above are not affected by the fact that the Group has not
yet obtained the relevant property title certificates.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, local
government authorities commenced an industrial
transformation and environmental remediation plan (the
“Transformation Plan”) on the two environmental industrial
parks in Guangzhou (the “Industrial Parks”), which are
Xiapu Industrial Park and Xinzhou Industrial Park, aiming at
strengthening supervision and inspection of environmental
protection. Certain dyeing factories in the Industrial Parks
were closed and suspended.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(il

(Cont’d)

Wastewater treatment services to factories in the Industrial
Parks are mainly provided by three of the Group’s
subsidiaries, Guangzhou Xintao, Guangzhou Yinglong and
Guangzhou Xinzhou Environmental Industrial Park Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Xinzhou”), and the industrial water
supply to factories in the Xinzhou Industrial Park is mainly
provided by the other subsidiary of the Group, Guangzhou
Kaizhou Water Supply Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Kaizhou”). According to the negotiation between the
Group and local government authorities, as part of the
Transformation Plan, wastewater treatment and water
supply capacities of the above four subsidiaries will be
utilised by new and less polluted factories in the Industrial
Parks. Moreover, the Group is in negotiation with local
government authorities to compensate the Group for any
losses suffered from the Transformation Plan. Based on
the discussion between the local government authorities
and the Group, the management believe that they will
have sufficient compensation for any loss as a result of the
Transformation Plan.

The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units of the above four subsidiaries. As at
31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of the related
property, plant and equipment, lease prepayment, intangible
asset and goodwill could be fully recovered and as a result
no impairment have been made by the Group.

11 ¥R -BWEERE(H)

(i)

(%)

MEXER 2 ITRIEMH 25K
EEREEEHAEE =K
BAoR (BEMNFE BEMNEE
FEMFTMNRRTEEGR L
B (TEME N =4 M
NEXER T2 TEAK
HEFERAEES —EHE
AT EMEMN B RABRD T
(TEMELM]) IR A RIBER
S i 5 BT MR 2 RER
fEBER 8 —25 - LA EM
R B A Tl 255 K R R R Ak it
EREHBHBEERR  FIZR
BAOTRNTHEM o
ZREE [ IE B it 75 BT AR T AR
SERENGESZ 2 M8
KBEETED RIS K
MR R E BT R BIE
BREHSEMERTEIRE
BB R ESEA/HE-

A& B 57 Ak LA L 7O R B R A
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CE-R-_Z—tHF+=A
=t—RB HBEYE BEX
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Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

12 LEASE PREPAYMENTS 12 HEEBEMMKIE
Land use rights
T ihfF AR
HKD’000
FHET

Cost: B :
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) RZE—RE—A—H (KE%) 361,010
Exchange adjustments (Restated) EHFARE (KRES) (22,892)
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) RZE—RE+ZA=+—H (KE%) 338,118
At 1 January 2017 R-ZZE—+tHF—HF—H 338,118
Additions wNE 51,111
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHEA R (61,113)
Exchange adjustments BN 20,528
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—tHE+=ZHA=+—H 358,644
Accumulated amortisation: - §oR
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) R=F—X"F—A—A (EE5) (9,930)
Charge for the year (Restated) FRI (KET) (8,343)
Exchange adjustments (Restated) A (REH) 978
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) RZE—RE+ZA=+—H (KE%) (17,295)
At 1 January 2017 R=-ZFE—tHF—HF—H (17,295)
Charge for the year FRMR (8,709)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHEA R 4,062
Exchange adjustments E 5 (1,259)
At 31 December 2017 R-E2—tHFE+=-A=+—H (23,201)
Carrying amount: BRMEE
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE-—tH+ZA=+—H 335,443
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) RZE—RE+ZA=+—H (KE5]) 320,823
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

LEASE PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d)

Lease prepayments represent the Group’s land use rights on
leasehold land located in the PRC. At 31 December 2017, the
remaining period of the land use rights ranges from 25 to 49
years (2016: 26 to 48 years).

As at 31 December 2017, lease prepayments with net book
value of HKD114,216,000 (equivalent to RMB95,474,000) were
pledged for bank loans (2016: HKD113,876,000, equivalent to
RMB101,862,000) (note 23).

The amortisation charge of lease prepayments for the year is
included in “cost of sales” and “administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

12

HEBRMRIE (#

HEENREERNEBERENMNF
BREE LA Tt FERE RN
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A R #95,474,0007T) I EFE (T
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F— N :113,876,000/8 5t - HE
N AR®101,862,0007T) (KisE
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

13 EBREE

Supply of Wastewater Sludge and Hazardous
industrial treatment solid waste waste
water plants treatment treatment
operation operation operation operation
right rights rights rights Total
fitpe EER VoA
T¥RAK BREER E B A BYEE
- Kd- RELER R #st
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
Ti#Ex TiEn TER Ti#En TiEn
Cost: B
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) RZE-R"E-A—A (L&) 47,745 111,138 323,522 915,515 1,397,920
Additions (Restated) RE (RE5) - - 263,263 - 263,263
Exchange adjustments (Restated) EHAZ (KE) (3,027) (7,047) (20,513) (58,053) (88,640)
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) -~"E+ZA=+-H
( ié‘éEﬁJ ) 44,718 104,091 566,272 857,462 1,572,543
At 1 January 2017 R-E—t&-A-H 44,718 104,091 566,272 857,462 1,572,543
Additions (note) RE (ME) - - 221,339 - 221,339
Exchange adjustments ERRE 3,134 7,285 39,702 60,100 110,221
At 31 December 2017 —t#+tZA=t+-H 47,852 111,376 827,313 917,562 1,904,103
Accumulated amortisation iﬁﬁﬁ"ﬁ
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) RZZ-R"E-B—HB (K& (265) (8,312) (15,357) (20,517) (44,451)
Charge for the year (Restated) R ?ﬂ B (ZE5) 8,111) (5,840) (8,859) (46,125) (63,935)
Impairment loss (Restated) REEE (KE5]) - - - (15,085) (15,085)
Exchange adjustments (Restated) EHAZ (KE) 146 770 1,344 3,861 6,121
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) -~"E+ZA=+-H
( #&Eﬂ ) (3,230) (13,382 (22,872) (77,846) (117,330)
At 1 January 2017 ) —-t&-HF—H (3,230) (13,382) (22,872) (77,846) (117,330)
Charge for the year FRrlk (3,084) (5,789) (10,396) (44,645) (63,914)
Impairment loss REEE - - (8,325) - (8,325)
Exchange adjustments EHREZ (332) (1,137) (2,246) (6,990) (10,705)
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—t&+-A=t-H (6,646) (20,308) (43,839) (129,481) (200,274)
Carrying amount: HREE:
At 31 December 2017 RIZE-+t&+-A=+-H 41,206 91,068 783,474 788,081 1,703,829
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) RIZE-"E+ZA=+-H
%Eﬂ 41,488 90,709 543,400 779,616 1,455,213
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2017, additions of intangible assets
mainly represented the BOT arrangement from Guangdong Longtao
Circular Economy Development Company Limited (“Guangdong Longtao”),
whose principle activities are provision of sludge and solid waste treatment
services in the PRC. Under the above BOT arrangement, Guangdong
Longtao will operate the facilities for a period of 30 years. For the
year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has recognised revenue of
HKD222,962,000 (equivalent to RMB192,774,000) (2016: HKD332,534,000,
equivalent to RMB285,015,000) and profit of HKD37,160,000 (equivalent to
RMB32,129,000) (2016: HKD55,422,000, equivalent to RMB47,502,000) on
construction of the sludge and solid waste treatment facilities of Guangdong
Longtao. The revenue recognised in relation to construction represents the
fair value of the construction services provided in constructing the sludge and
solid waste treatment facilities.

The Group has the right to charge the grantor a fee for using the facilities. At
the end of the concession period, the facilities will become the property of
the grantor and the Group will have no further involvement in its operation or
maintenance requirements.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in cost of sales in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Impairment loss

During the year ended 31 December 2016, operation right
of hazardous waste treatment services of Foshan Sanshui
Zhaofeng Energy Company Limited (“Sanshui Zhaofeng”) was
fully impaired. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
operation of Sanshui Zhaofeng was temporarily suspended.
The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating unit of Sanshui Zhaofeng and as a result the
carrying amounts of the intangible asset and goodwill (note
14) were fully written down based on the valuation by the
independent valuer. Impairment losses of HKD15,065,000
(equivalent to RMB12,911,000) and HKD2,364,000 (equivalent to
RMB2,026,000) of corresponding intangible asset and goodwill
(note 14) were recognised in “Administrative expenses”. No
additional impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2017.

13

RVEEE (&

B 5T
BE_Z—tH+ZA=+—HLHEF
B EBEEE2 BT EIEEEREN
ZBOTZH EREEBREERES
RAo=E ((EREEDNEEEEEED
EliR M5 R R EEEYERERE -RIE
LMBOTZ# BREEELERESH
F-HE-_FE—+tF+=ZA=+—H
HtFEE AEBCHREREEERTR
T [E B JBE W) 5 B2 3% B 7 5%.222,962,00078
7T (HERARY192,774,000T) (==
— N :332,534,0008 T HERAR
#£285,015,0007T ) A9 Uk = K 37,160,000
7T (HHE R AR®32,129,000T) (==
— N 1554220008 T HERAR®
47,502,000t ) K% Fl ot T2 #8522 A8
B BT e R B BE R Y IR B 5% B AT
REEZRE 2L FE-

FEBBERERAEREAR T AR
BER-REFEHAR BREREERAR
FANGE MAKESTBE-LDH
HegZRhgE-

FREBHEAGFAGSBEERNHEENR
ZKO

MERR

BE-Z—~"E+=ZA=+—H
FEE - #BLUH=KBLEERER
AT (ZKELNEREEY
EERELEEC2EBE -8
E_E-XE+ZA=+—HL
FE D KEENEEERDIL.
AEBFE=KELRESELE
AW E £ Bt BEEE
REE (HEF14WEEESER
B GEMNGEES M-8

B /&51815,065,00078 7T (FHE R A
K #12,911,0007T ) % 2,364,000/&
7T (FHE RN A R%2,026,0007T) »
[MTTHRAX | BR -BEZZT—tF
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

Impairment loss (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, operation right of
solid waste treatment services of Xinfeng Lvzhi Industrial Waste
Reclamation Treatment Co., Limited (“Xinfeng Lvzhi”) was fully
impaired. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the project
of Xinfeng Lvzhi was terminated by the local government. The
Group assessed the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit of Xinfeng Lvzhi and as a result the carrying amount of the
intangible asset were fully written down. Impairment losses of
HKD8,325,000 (equivalent to RMB7,198,000) of intangible asset
was recognised in “Administrative expenses”.

13 RBEEE (&

HERE (&)

BE-2—tFt+-A=1+—-HL
FE -HERSEIXRBEYEWE
BERRAB (HELE]) 2E®E
BEYEERBEEEC 2HRIE
BE_Z-—tF+-A=1+—-HL
FE-HELE ZRE P T BT
RiE-REAKEFGEHERE 2
REeELEU 2T RE S 53
BILEE 2 REBERZBME -1
FEE & & 2 M {EIE5158,325,000/8
7T (HHE R ARY7,198,0007T) R

[MTEBE X ] AR
14 GOODWILL 14 HE
HKD’000
FET
Cost B A
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) R-ZZE-—ARF—-—A—B (KE5) 172,278
Exchange adjustments (Restated) ELAE (KET) (10,825)
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) R-ZB-RE+ZA=+-—B(KEI K
and 1 January 2017 e 161,453
Exchange adjustments E R 11,210
At 31 December 2017 R-ZZE-—tH+ZA=+—H 172,663
Accumulated impairment losses EFtBEER
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) RZE—RE—A—H (KE5) -
Impairment loss (Restated) BEEE (KEH) (2,364)
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) RZE—RFE+ZA=+—RH (KEI) K
and 1 January 2017 —Z2—+H—-—H—H (2,364)
Impairment loss WEEE -
Exchange adjustments &N (59)
At 31 December 2017 R=-ZEB—tF+=A=+—H (2,423)
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tHE+=-A=+—H 170,240
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) RZE—RE+ZA=+—H (KRE%) 159,089
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PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

14 GOODWILL (Cont’d) 14

Goodwill acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries is allocated
to the Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) identified as follows:

]

;24

(#4)

BRWBHELRESZEHERAE
SEzCRIREELEN ([RE
EEEN])ETIRENT

2017 2016
—ZE—+tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHExT FExT
(Restated)
€<E==27))
Water supply services METZERAK
- Shunde Hanyang Industrial Water —EEEEFABE IR
Supply Company Limited BRAT
(“Hanyang Shuiwu”) ([8FK#]) 27,684 25,870
Wastewater treatment services JSIKERIE IR
- Guangzhou Yinglong (note 11(iii)) —EMN B (BEE11 i) 20,379 19,043
- Foshan Shunde Ganghui Wastewater — —{# LT BEE&EBERR
Treatment Company Limited SSKEEERAT
(“Ganghui Huanbao”) ([BERR]) 5,837 5,454
- Zhongshan Hailan Water Resources - HBEKE R
Development Company Limited BIRAF
(“Zhongshan Hailan”) (M EEE]) 7,683 7,179
Sludge and solid waste 75 e I [ 78 BE W) 52 3 AR 7%
treatment services
- Qingyuan Lvyou —BERHZH 59,749 55,836
- Heyuan Solid — SR [ BE 11,469 10,718
- Guangzhou Kangxiang Mental -BMNEANESBE K
Reclamation Company Limited BRAR (TEMEAL)
(“Guangzhou Kangxiang”) 6,187 5,782
- Foshan Haoying Solid Waste — LTS REREY
Centralized Treatment Centre BEEHROBRATE
Company Limited (“Haoying Solid”) (DEBERE]) 2,245 2,098
Hazardous waste treatment services 15 B% BE W) IR B2 AR 7%
- Guangzhou Liangang Vessel — BN TR E B R AE
Wastewater Treatment Company BRAF
Limited (“Guangzhou Liangang”) (TEMEE]) 29,007 27,109
170,240 159,089
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

14 GOODWILL (Cont’d)

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
either value-in-use calculations or compensation from local
government authorities. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a period from 13 to 17 years. Cash flows beyond the
period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average
growth rate of 3% which is consistent with the forecasts included
in industry reports. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
CGU operates. The cash flows are discounted using a discount
rate of 14% — 15%. The discount rates used are after-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. The
impairment loss recognised during the year ended 31 December

2016 related to Sanshui Zhaofeng (note 13).

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

15 [INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

List of subsidiaries

The following list contains only the particulars of major
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or

liabilities of the Group.

15 HHBLRRKRE

(@ MEBATRRE

TREBRIEZELEEE
B EESEENEIENER

S K

Proportion of
ownership interest

BREERRLA
Place of Particulars of  Group’s

incorporation and issued and paid  effective Held by a Principal
Name of company business up capital interest subsidiary activities

LB 3L ERTR XEEH It R
ARAR REXHBH BEREAFE BERERE 2L8EE TEEH
Guangzhou Kaizhou (j)(ii) Guangzhou, the PRC HKD20,000,000 100% 100% Supply of
industrial water
& M LM (i) i) M 20,000,000 7t 100% 100% RETERK
Guangzhou Xintao (i)(ii) Guangzhou, the PRC HKD730,000,000 100% 100% Provision of
wastewater
processing and
heating service
T MM () i) M 730,000,000 7t 100% 100% REFKEERR MRS
Guangzhou Haitao (i) Guangzhou, the PRC RMB80,000,000 100% 100% Design
construction,
operation and
maintenance of
wastewater
treatment plant
BNETE() FEIEM AR #80,000,0007T 100% 100% BRI BERER
HESKEER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 15 KRB ARMIKRE (F)

(a) List of subsidiaries (Cont’d) (@) MEBARBRE(EF)

Proportion of
ownership interest

EEREERLA
Place of Particulars of  Group’s

incorporation and issued and paid  effective Held by a Principal
Name of company business up capital interest subsidiary activities

B 3L BERTR AKEH 1t B
AEEE REEHE ERELHE EBREZ LREF TEREY
Guangzhou Yinglong (i) Guangzhou, the PRC RMB80,000,000 100% 100% Provision of
wastewater
treatment plants
operation services
BMBE() EEM A K#80,000,0007 100% 100% RESKEER
EERY
Qingyuan Lvyou (i) Qingyuan,the PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Provision of
sludge and solid
waste treatment
services
EEREEM() hEEE AR #10,000,0007 100% 100% REFER
BN RERE
Guangzhou Lvyou (i)ii) Guangzhou, the PRC RMB81,870,000 100% 100% Provision of
sludge and
solid waste and
hazardous waste
treatment services
T8 M 28 B i) i) FEIEM AR#81,870,0007% 100% 100% RETEREBENR
f& bR RE YD B 2 AR 7%
Yulin Xintao Environmental Guangxi, the PRC RMB150,000,000 100% 100% Supply of industrial
Protection Technology water, provision of
Company Limited (j) wastewater processing,
heating services and
electricity generation
IMNTHERRBUBRAERAA() TEER A K#150,000,0007 100% 100% REIEAKEK
HRERE
HARBEREE

CT Environmental Group Limited
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PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

List of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Note:

(i) These are private limited liability companies in the PRC. The
official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English
translation of the names is for reference only.

(if) These are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC. The
official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English
translation of the names is for reference only.

Disposal of subsidiaries

()  Disposal of Guangzhou Zhongtao Environmental
Investment Company Limited (“Guangzhou Zhongtao”)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
disposed of 100% equity interests in Guangzhou
Zhongtao and its subsidiary (“Zhongtao Group”) to
Guangzhou To Kee Enterprises Development Group
Limited (“Guangzhou To Kee”), a company effectively
owned by the controlling shareholder, at a total
cash consideration of HKD28,805,000 (equivalent to
RMB25,000,000). Guangzhou Zhongtao held 70%
equity interests in its subsidiary, Sanshui Zhaofeng
(note 30(b)). All the assets and liabilities of Zhongtao
Group have been derecognised upon disposal.

15 MMBLrRANKE (&)

(a)

(b)

MEBABRRE (&)

fE

0 BELIBLRFEOER
£

EEQA -ZELANER
BREBP RLELEMH
E¥E

(i) ZELARPENIEEE
R -ZERRCERER
REXER RLEFREHR

BEo
HERB AT
() HEEMNPEHRRRK
BEERAE ([EMF
JE 1)

BE-ZE—t+tH+=AH
=t—BLEE -&X&E
EREMNELEXRE
SEBERQE (TEM
ERl —XBEERRK
REBREZEHMNAT)H
EEMNFEREKB A
A ([HEEE]) 100%
RiE - REREBLEL
28,805,000 Tt (HHE
N AR #®25000,000
7o) o BN K
BAT=Z/KEL (MF
30(b)) 70% IR #E - b 5F
SE2HEEREEDS
RHEEBKIEER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

15

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(0

15 MMBLrRANKE (&)

(b)

Disposal of Guangzhou Zhongtao Environmental
Investment Company Limited (“Guangzhou Zhongtao”)

HEWB QR (&)

() HEEMNPE

RRRE

BRA A ([EMAIE])

(Cont’d) (4&
The effect of such disposal on the Group’s assets and ZHEHAEFREER
liabilities is set out below: EBEZEEHINNT :
Net book
value as
of the
disposal date
REEBA K
BREFE
HKD’000
FET
Cash and cash equivalents BERESEEY 614
Inventories 7E 528
Trade and other receivables ES5 R HEMERRIE 34,713
Property, plant and equipment - -BERKE 28,476
Bank loans IRITER (6,913)
Trade and other payables B RHMENRIE (29,313)
Net identifiable assets oA E EFE 28,105
Attributable to: LA % 18 FE 4L
- Equity shareholders of the Company —RRFEEFEA 20,702
- Non-controlling interests —FERERE 8,145
- Exchange adjustments —-ERAE (742)
Total consideration R{EBEE 28,805
Net assets disposed of EHEEEZFE 20,702
Equity contribution by shareholders before tax MREBIATIRRERE HE 8,103
Effective income tax rate BEREHBE 15%
Equity contribution by shareholders after tax MBI ERRESZHE 6,887
Reconciliation between amounts settled EEESERERREENRE
and receivable and the consideration WEERMT ¢
is as follows:
Consideration settled by offsetting the ERHERNEMNEL SR
amounts due to Guangzhou To Kee LU ERE 5,968
Cash received during the BE-_FT—+tH#+-HA=+—H
year ended 31 December 2017 IFFEWRNRE 22,837
Total consideration R{EHEE 28,805
Analysis of the net cash inflow in respect EREENRESRANFESN:
of the disposal:
Cash received during the BE-_Z—t+tH&+=-A=+—H
year ended 31 December 2017 IEFEWRNES 22,837
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FFTHERERESEEY (614)
Net cash inflow during the BE-_Z—t+tH&+=-A=+—H
year ended 31 December 2017 HEENRESRATE 22,223

CT Environmental Group Limited
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(i)

Disposal of Guangzhou Xintao Environmental
Technology Company Limited (“Xintao Environmental”)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
disposed of 99% equity interests in a previously wholly
owned subsidiary, Xintao Environmental, to a third
party at a total cash consideration of HKD112,640,000
(equivalent to RMB100,000,000). Pursuant to the
supplementary agreement between the parties, value-
added taxes and surcharges of HKD13,739,000
(equivalent to RMB12,197,000) would be borne by
the third party. All the assets and liabilities of Xintao
Environmental have been derecognised upon disposal.

15 MMBLrRANKE (&)

(b) HEKBXR (A)

(i)

HEEMATERREIF
BRA A ([FERR])

BEZ-_Z—tH+=A
=t—BLEE K&
BE—-RE=ZFHEH
HRR (AIZENE A
) 9% E - ReNR
B4 % 5112,640,000
BLT(HERARY
100,000,0007T) ° 1R ¥
HEP:AC HIVAA :E
HeE EERKKME
13,739,0008 Tt (M &
N AR#¥12,197,0007T)
A HE=TEE Y
RREFEEREEDS
REEBKIEER
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15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(i)

Disposal of Guangzhou Xintao Environmental

15 REBARMNRE (F)
(b) HEMEAT (F)

(i) HEEMIERRB

Technology Company Limited (“Xintao Environmental”) BERA A ([#ERR])
(Cont’d) (&
The effect of such disposal on the Group’s assets and ZHEHAEEEER

liabilities is set out below:

SENFEHIINT

Net book
value as
of the
disposal date
REEBRHN
FREFE
HKD’000
FET
Cash and cash equivalents BERESZEEY 350
Inventories 7E 410
Other receivables HihpE k8 34,158
Lease prepayments HEFEMRIE 47,051
Other payables H b FEAF X8 (34,918)
Net identifiable assets Al EEFE 47,051
Share of net identifiable assets disposed of AMEEHETRNEEFE 99%
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 46,580
Total consideration REEEE 126,379
Value-added taxes and surcharges borne by and ~ HZE=AEEZEEFRKHMER
receivable from the third party REE=ZFAZEWKE (13,739)
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE (46,580)
Gain on disposal HE R 66,060
Reconciliation between amounts settled EFESERERREEREN
and receivable and the consideration HERMOT:
is as follows:
Cash received during the BE-_ZT—-<"H¥+=ZHA=+—H
year ended 31 December 2016 LHEEEWRE 33,792
Cash received during the Bz —+tH#+=-BA=+—H
year ended 31 December 2017 HEFEEWRRE 22,528
Consideration receivable* (note 20) FEWAE (FiEE20) 70,059
Total consideration RELE 126,379
Analysis of the net cash inflow in respect EREENRESRNFEIN:
of the disposal:
Cash received during the BE-Z—+tH&+=-A=+—H
year ended 31 December 2017 IEFEEWRNES 22,528
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FFEERERBEEZEEY (350)
Net cash inflow during the BE-_Z—tF+=-A=+—H
year ended 31 December 2017 HEENRESRATE 22,178

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017



Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Disposal of Guangzhou Xintao Environmental
Technology Company Limited (“Xintao Environmental”)
(Cont’d)

*

Up to the approval date of these financial statements,
the third party has settled HKD23,926,000 (equivalent
to RMB20,000,000) in aggregate. It is agreed that the
remaining balance will be settled during the year ending 31
December 2018.

Lease prepayments represented a land use right on
leasehold land located in the PRC with net book value
of HKD47,051,000 (equivalent to RMB41,771,000) as
at the date of disposal.

Disposal of Guangzhou Rizhijian Soil Remediation
Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Rizhijian”)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
disposed of 51% equity interests in Guangzhou
Rizhijian to a third party at a total cash consideration
of HKD610,000 (equivalent to RMB510,000). All the
assets and liabilities of Guangzhou Rizhijian have been
derecognised upon disposal.

15 MMBLrRANKE (&)

(b) HEKBXR (A)

(i)

(i)

HEBEMFTETRRBIFL

BRA A ([FERR])

(4

* BELEMBRRZ
HEBE F=FHE
& 144 ££23,926,000
BT (HERARE
20,000,0007T) ° &k
THEBCHEBEZE
—E2-NE+=A
=t—RIFEE-

HEEASREBERE
ERHEEFEA
47,051,000 7t (&
A ARE41,771,0007T)
ZURFEZHE i
2 T fE FARE

HEEMAZZ 1 EIE
ERFEBRL A ([EM
HZ#])

HE-Z—tH+=AH
=+—-—BLEEE K&
BE—EE=-HHERE
MEZE51%RE R
S+ RE#HE5610,000
BT (HERARY
510,0007C)  EM A =2

2eHEERARGER
HERK LR -
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15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 15 KRB ARMIKRE (F)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d) (b) LHEMEBRE (F)

(i) Disposal of Guangzhou Rizhijian Soil Remediation (i) HEEMHZELEKE
Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Rizhijian”) BEREERL A ([EMN
(Cont’d) Az#]) (&

The effect of such disposal on the Group’s assets and ZHEHAEBEER
liabilities is set out below: BENEEHIIMT
Net book
value as
of the
disposal date
REEBRHN
REFE
HKD’000
FHExT
Property, plant and equipment M HEREZE 14
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 281
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HEHMEWFRIE 228
Trade and other payables B RHMENKIA (10)
Net identifiable assets AR E ERE 513
Attributable to: AT S IEREAL
— Equity shareholders of the Company - RARERFEA 262
- Non-controlling interests —FERER 242
- Exchange adjustments -ERAE 9
Total consideration RERTE 610
Net assets disposed of cHEEEFE 262
Gain on disposal & W= 348

Analysis of the net cash inflow in respect
of the disposal:
Cash received during the

FRHENRERAFEIM:

BE-Z-—tH+=ZA=1+—H

year ended 31 December 2017 IFERENES 610
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FTHERESRBESEEY (281)
Net cash inflow during the BE-Z—tH5+=-A=+—8H

year ended 31 December 2017 LHEFENBREESRAFE 329

CT Environmental Group Limited
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 16 MEBE QAR
2017 2016
—E—+t& —E—RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(&RE5)
Share of net assets PMEEEFE
- Guangzhou Huayue Environmental —BMNEBRRIMERD A
Protection Technology Co., Ltd. (TEMEE])
(“Guangzhou Huayue”) 4,120 3,079
- Guangzhou Suigin Dangerous -BMNEHERENER
Waste Transportation Co., Ltd. BRAF
(“Guangzhou Suiqgin”) (TEMEE]) 4,509 3,697
Carrying amount in the consolidated RERBHRREEE
financial statements 8,629 6,776
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

16

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)

The following list contains the particulars of the associates, both
of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market
price is not available:

16 REE

I+
<T

NE

TRHEFIBE QT
AELmAAER

B=

S

(%)

25 MEY
B

I E -

Proportion of
ownership interest
BHEEERLA
Place of Particulars of Group’s
Form of business incorporation issued and paid  effective  Held by a Principal
Name structure and operation up capital interest  subsidiary activity
AEEY BHRELR

B B3 50 5 EMELRE R BRIREAEAFE ERER B8 TEXH

Guangzhou Huayue () Limited liability company ~ Guangzhou, the PRC RMB3,000,000 4% 41% Provision of

environmental

protection consulting

service

BMEH() BREELT PEEM AR #3,000,0007T 4% 4% BRERREHARE

Guangzhou Suigin (i) Limited liability company  Guangzhou, the PRC RMBS,000,000 4% 41% Transportation of

hazardous wastes

EMEH() BRERLT PEEM A 15,000,0007T 4% 4% BEEZNER

Note: Mzt :
()  Guangzhou Huayue and Guangzhou Suigin are private limited liability () EMNEBNEMNESHHRPETHT
companies in the PRC. The official names of the entities are in Chinese. AEREEQRA -ZERBEHABRE
The English translation of the names is for reference only. BHRN - HNEREMHSZZE

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity LA E AR NERRES M

IR UEREAR

method in the consolidated financial statements.
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 17 R—REELFRZHER
2017 2016
—E—+t& —E—RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FiExT
(Restated)
(RR&E5)
Share of net assets PMEEEFE 3,291 2,727
Goodwill E5ES 499 466
Carrying amount in the consolidated FENMBHRREEE
financial statements 3,790 3,193
Details of the Group’s interest in the joint venture, which is AEEBRESETENEZNGSEH
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated BHRERUESEAR FHBOT:
financial statements, are as follows:
Proportion of
ownership interest
BRERELA
Place of Particulars of Group’s
Form of business incorporation issued and paid  effective  Held by a Principal
Name structure and operation up capital interest  subsidiary activity
AEEY AKELT
£ ERLERIR AMRIREE S BEATREAEAHE ERER BE TEEH
Guangzhou Haigin Tiancheng Technical Limited liability company ~ Guangzhou, the PRC RMB3,000,000 50% 50% Pollutants
Testing Services Co.,Ltd measurement
(*Haigin Tiancheng”)
BENELRARITRIREERLT BREALH PEEM AR 3,000,000 50% 50% RIS
(DX
Note: This is a private limited liability company in the PRC. The official name Mizt: ZAARFERBABREES
of the entity is in Chinese. The English translation of the name is for Al ZEREHFBWBP LK
reference only. NEREHzE-
FERAKERRAS

FEHE 2017
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

18 GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR 18 EWEREHNIEMRIEER
CONTRACT WORK
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
HKD’000 HKD’000
TE&T THET
(Restated)
(&E:5)
Gross amounts due from customers for EWREFSH TI2FHIELA%E
contract work
- Non-current —3EBNHA 324,715 289,778
— Current —BNER 30,938 42,990
355,653 332,768

The aggregate amount of costs incurred plus recognized
profits, included in the gross amounts due from customers for
contract work at 31 December 2017, is HKD23,131,000 (2016:
HKD50,979,000).

Certain subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the grantors. Pursuant to the service
concession arrangements, the Group has to design, construct
and operate wastewater and solid waste treatment plants in the
PRC, with operation periods varying from 20 years to 30 years.
The Group has the obligations to maintain the wastewater and
solid waste treatment plants in good condition. The grantors
guarantee that the Group will receive minimum annual payments
for certain service concession arrangements. Upon expiry of the
concession periods, the wastewater and solid waste treatment
plants and the related facilities will be transferred to the grantors.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORK (Cont’d)

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. The standard rights of the grantors to terminate the
agreements include failure of the Group to construct or operate
the wastewater and solid waste treatment plants and in the event
of a material breach of the terms of the agreements. The standard
rights of the Group to terminate the agreements include failure of
the grantors to make payment under the agreements and in the
event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the wastewater and solid waste treatment plants is
recognised as “Gross amounts due from customers for contract
work” and intangible assets in the financial statements according
to accounting policies as set out in note 1(g) and note 1(i).

“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work” represent
revenue from construction under BOT arrangements and bear
interest at rates ranging from 5.94% - 6.80% per annum for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: 5.94%-6.80%). The
amounts for BOT arrangements are not yet due for payment and
will be settled by revenue to be generated during the operating
periods of the BOT arrangements.

18

BREFRENIRERERE
(#%&)

RBFTFELZHFIAATER - KT A
AATERERNK L HENERE
FIAEBERERERKE TR
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HNIRRERE I RBEFREE-
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B RS ER AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

19 INVENTORIES 19 HFE&
2017 2016
—E—+t& —E—RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&Z=5)
Raw materials Eyvpe 14,241 16,349
Work in progress TR 3,524 3,879
Finished goods B T 1,032 2,788
Low value consumables REEBEBRER 3,394 3,499
Total St 22,191 26,515

Inventories mainly comprise materials consumed during the FEFEEERNTREREREYR
sludge and solid waste treatment and the hazardous waste REEMEREBREFREANM
treatment process. o

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BRAMIUHABRZ2FESEHE

expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: oWT
2017 2016
—e—tF —B-AE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(RR&E5)
Carrying amount of inventories consumed B 87 5 RE & 140,948 129,884
Write down of inventories FE MR 463 326
Total By 141,411 130,210
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PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20 ESRHEMEVRRIE
2017 2016
—B-tF —T-AF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&&EH))
Current BDHA
Trade debtors BESEBA 747,279 653,644
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts RS
(note 20(b)) (Bt EF20(b)) (33,907) (33,354)
713,372 620,290
Prepayment for purchase of equipment (i) & B 3% 1% /978 13 7L IE (i) 23,926 -
Advances to third parties and BRTEZFTNBRR
interest receivables (i) i & IB=N(D) - 132,319
Prepayment of acquisition deposits (iii) Wi B8 ¥R < /Y FE 4 FROE (i) 35,889 27,949
Consideration receivable from HE—BHEBARNWEKAE
disposal of a subsidiary (note 15(b)) (MEE15(0)) 70,059 -
Wealth management product (iv) 2 B 7 m (iv) 11,963 -
Receivables from local government (v) FE UK E 3t BT FRIE (v) 212,855 -
Receivables of value-added tax refund BEHRBEWFIE 91,546 37,628
Prepayment for inventories FEWEMSFRE 40,161 19,138
Prepayment for consultancy and BARBESERAN
commission fee AT FRIE 18,774 18,130
Receivables of land levelling services I i S 2 AR 75 FE W FROE 182,250 38,742
Other prepayments and other receivables H i 781 718 & H b FEUR FRE 193,567 72,457
Amounts due from related parties FE U B B 5 FR 1B
(note 30 (d)(i)) (FFEE30(d)(i)) 163,595 153,181
1,757,957 1,119,834
Non-current JEENEA
Prepayments for purchase of BEHERMAMIER
lease prepayments and equipment REBTENTRIE 344,064 230,271
Prepayments of acquisition deposits (i) U8 1% & K978 15 FLIE (i) 4,187 33,538
Receivables of a construction project A AR RIER N
from a local government (vi) JRE UK SR 3B (vi) 130,327 -
Other prepayments and other receivables E b 78 {4 7% 18 & H th fE Uk Fh 8 132,943 106,914
611,521 370,723
Total ot 2,369,478 1,490,557

PERARRERRAE 189
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

All of the prepayments and other receivables (including amounts
due from related parties), apart from those classified as non-
current portion, are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a prepayment of
HKD23,926,000 (equivalent to RMB20,000,000) were paid
to a third party for acquisition of equipment. However, the
purchase order was subsequently cancelled. Subsequent to
the year ended 31 December 2017, the amount had been
fully refunded to the Group.

As at 31 December 2016, short-term advances of
HKD127,671,000 (equivalent to RMB114,201,000) were paid
by the Group to certain third-party individuals. Annualised
interest rates of these advances were fixed and ranged
from 9% to 10%. As at 31 December 2016, interest
receivables of HKD4,648,000 (equivalent to RMB4,158,000)
were recognised by the Group. During the year ended
31 December 2017, the principal and interest were fully
refunded to the Group.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(il

As at 31 December 2017, prepayment of HKD4,187,000
(equivalent to RMB3,500,000) was paid as an acquisition
deposit for the Group’s acquisition intention on an
agricultural company for the Group’s development in the
organic and environmental industry.

As at 31 December 2017, prepayment of HKD35,889,000
(equivalent to RMB30,000,000) was paid as an acquisition
deposit for the Group’s acquisition intention on a company,
whose principle activities include provision of sludge, solid
waste and hazardous waste treatment services. Such
prepayment was made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2016. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
finally decided to terminate the acquisition of the above
company, and the prepayment was fully refunded to the
Group subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2017.

As at 31 December 2016, another prepayment of
HKD27,949,000 (equivalent to RMB25,000,000) were
paid as an acquisition deposit for the Group’s acquisition
intention on another company, whose principle activities
include provision of sludge, solid waste and hazardous
waste treatment services. As at 31 December 2016, the
Group decided to terminate the acquisition of the above
company, and the deposit was finally refunded to the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

20 BESRHEMBEKE

(i)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The Group has purchased a wealth management product
from an insurance company in the PRC during the
year ended 31 December 2017. The total principal of
HKD11,963,000 (equivalent to RMB10,000,000) is fully
guaranteed with fixed return of 3% per annum plus a
floating return up to 1.1%. Returns above are calculated
on daily basis. The Group can withdraw the wealth
management product anytime. Subsequent to the year
ended 31 December 2017, the Group had withdrawn the
product and the principal of HKD11,963,000 (equivalent
to RMB10,000,000) and investment return of HKD490,000
(equivalent to RMB410,000) were fully paid to the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, payment of HKD212,855,000
(equivalent to RMB178,000,000) were paid by the Group on
behalf of Yulin Municipal People’s Government in Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region (the “Yulin Government”) for
compensation of land acquired from local residents. Yulin
Government agreed to repay in full by 30 June 2018.

On 31 December 2016, the Group entered into a project
agreement with Transportation Bureau of Fumian District,
Yulin Municipal People’s Government in Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region. Pursuant to the agreement, the Group
will jointly collaborate to involve the construction of the
project with the Yulin Government. The Group is responsible
for the financing activities of the project while other parties
are responsible for construction work. Total estimated
capital expenditure for construction is approximately
HKD287,112,000 (equivalent to RMB240,000,000) and
expenditure estimated to be financed by the Group
and the Yulin Government are HKD258,401,000 and
HKD28,711,000, equivalent to RMB216,000,000 and
RMB24,000,000, respectively.
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PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(vi)

(Cont’d)

The amount financed by the Group is provided with
a guaranteed return of 7.8% per annum by the Yulin
Government. The investment returns would be received
along with the receivables by 10 equal instalments in 10
years upon completion of the construction of the project.
At 31 December 2017, the construction work is estimated
to be completed in the first half of the year ended 31
December 2018. The management expect that the first
instalment will be paid in 2019 or later.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Yulin
Government proposed to speed up its repayment schedule
to the Group and to adjust the return rate from 7.8%
to 6.5% per annum. Up to the approval date of these
financial statements, the proposed repayment schedule
and return rate have not been agreed by the Yulin
Government and the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2017, total amount financed by the Group was
HKD258,401,000 (equivalent to RMB216,000,000) and
as at 31 December 2017, an amount of HKD135,639,000
(equivalent to RMB113,382,000) had been repaid by the
Yulin Government. As at 31 December 2017, interest
receivable of HKD7,565,000 (equivalent to RMB6,325,000)
was recognised by the Group.

20 BESRHEMBEBWRIE(F)

(vi)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
(@) Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade debtors, based on the invoice date and net of

20 BESRHEMBEBWRIE(F)

(a)

AR #R 2 4T

BEREHAR  EZRPIRR
BRBRE A REHRRIREE

allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows: RERER DTN T -
2017 2016
—E—+t& —E—RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FExT FTET
(Restated)
(&==&73)
Within 1 month —@EAR 372,075 212,157
1 to 3 months —Z2={8A4 171,891 174,440
Over 3 months but within 1 year SR=ZEBE—FR 169,406 233,693
713,372 620,290

Trade debtors are usually due within 30 days from the date
of billing. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set
out in note 28(a).

(b) Impairment of trade debtors

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
impairment loss is written off against trade debtors directly
(see note 1(I)(i).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(b)

Impairment of trade debtors (Cont’d)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during
the year, including both specific and collective loss
components, is as follows:

20 BESRHEMBEBWRIE(F)

(b) EZEWRMREIE (&)

ERRBRERH (LS5
RESHRBPH)NT

2017 2016

—E—+t& —E—RE

HKD’000 HKD’000

FHET FExT

(Restated)

(&&=E51)

At 1 January R—B—H 33,354 -
Impairment loss recognised ERABEEE 7,522 34,809
Reversal of impairment loss BERERSE (9,248) -
Exchange adjustments BN 2,279 (1,455)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 33,907 33,354

At 31 December 2017, trade debtors of HKD70,538,000
(equivalent to RMB58,963,000) (2016: HKD91,226,000,
equivalent to RMB81,602,000) were individually determined
to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables
related to customers that were in financial difficulties and
management assessed that only a portion of the receivables
is expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific
allowances for doubtful debts of HKD33,907,000 (equivalent
to RMB28,343,000) (2016: HKD33,354,000, equivalent to
RMB29,835,000) were recognised.

R=—Z=E—-—+t&HE+ A
=t+t—B EZEWREKRR
70,538,000 7t (HER AR
#£58,963,0007T) (=& — X
£ :91,226,0008 T HER
A B #81,602,0007T ) 1@ Bl #
& TERL{E © 18 Bl R 1B Y FE U X
HHEBADKERENEFE
B EEEREE T W E I
DEWFEIE Bt RER4S 5
B1533,907,00058 7T (FHER
AR #28,343,000T) (=&
— N5 1 33,354,0005% 7T - 48
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P ERERRERRAE
FEHE 2017



196

Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(c) Trade debtors that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade debtors that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as

20 BESRHEMBEBWRIE(F)
() RBENESZSEWRNK

I E(E R REBRERENE
5 BWTARE DT

follows:

2017 2016
—E—+t& —E—RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
(Restated)
(&ZE5)
Neither past due nor impaired BE R B HA 8 RORE 362,572 207,662
Less than 3 months past due BE=EAURN 161,362 161,305

Over 3 months but within BHZR=EAE—FR
1 year past due 152,807 193,451
676,741 562,418

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to
a number of local government authorities and industrial
entities in the PRC that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
the past due balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 BRERBREEED

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BEeREBRSEEYEE:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FERT FET
(Restated)
(R2E5)
Cash on hand FEES 5,949 3,162
Cash at bank BITRE 513,011 1,152,687
518,960 1,155,849

R-B—tF+=A=+—
B 7 B R B 9 4R 1T
ReRBSEENLES

At 31 December 2017, cash and cash equivalents
placed with banks in the mainland China amounted to
HKD505,407,000 (equivalent to RMB422,475,000) (2016:
HKD1,110,882,000, equivalent to RMB993,684,000). 505,407,000/ 5T (HHE R A
Remittance of funds out of mainland China is subject to the R #5422,475,000t) (==&
relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control — 7<% :1,110,882,00058 7t
promulgated by the PRC government. HE N AK993,684,000
L) o ETEHPEIRIIA
7 EBUT E AR R S
EEFINREGE-
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21

(b)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont’d) 21 HELBWREEEYW (&)
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BREBANRRBELEEEBR
generated from operations: SHEER:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RE
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Bt & FHExT FHET
(Restated)
€<E==27))
Profit before taxation BREL AR R 812,860 719,785
Adjustments for: KRBT RIE:
Depreciation e 11 199,673 191,955
Amortisation of HERF RIS
lease prepayments 12 8,709 8,343
Amortisation of intangible assets ~ EF &= # 13 63,914 63,935
Impairment loss of mEEERERSE
intangible assets 13 8,325 15,065
Impairment of goodwill R E 14 - 2,364
Finance costs Bl & R AR 5(a) 124,780 102,857
Foreign exchange loss NS g 32,809 33,590
Interest income B YA 4(a) (11,627) (5,515)
Share of profits of associates DAGEEE QR ER (1,333) (1,782)
Share of profit of a joint venture PME—REELEN
P& FI (362) (621)
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of BEEM¥E - BREREE
property, plant and equipment CaRA) /EBiEFE (26) 288
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZWE  15(0)
(i) i) (66,408) -
Write down of inventories T E WO 19 463 326
(Reversal)/recognition of (BE) EAEKE
impairment of trade receivables 2 FIERE 20(b) (1,726) 34,809
Equity settled share based DEREERN
payments IS X A+ 24 9,056 3,965
Deemed rental charges RIEHEEH 30(c) 12,563 -
Changes in working capital: EEEREE:
Decrease in inventories FEHD 4,576 6,903
Increase in trade and other B R HEMEW
receivables FRIFIE N (482,340) (36,763)
Decrease/(increase) in gross EREFEHIRE
amount due from customers MIBRERD
for contract work (3g0) 424 (37,785)
Increase/(decrease) in IEFEUR A SE 0,
deferred income Rt 2>) 1,021 (310)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and ESRHEMEN
other payables FEEm,
OB 2) 9,392 (165,933)
Cash generated from operations K& EKFEBRE 724,743 935,476
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

21

ReRBRe%EEY (&

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) MEFTEBFELEEEZHE
activities
Liabilities
arising from
Bank Interest related
loans payable parties Total
HEHE
BITER ERRE ELzE8fE @zt
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TER TER TEn TEr
(Note 23) (Note 22)
(PEE23) (PEE22)
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tFE-A—-H 3,171,842 6,819 - 3,178,661
Changes from financing RERERELE:
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans BB HILHTER 1,927,411 - - 1,927,411
Repayment of bank loans EBERTER (1,789,285) - - (1,789,285)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-ZFIHBAT
(note 15(b)(i)) (B EE15(0)()) (6,913) - - (6,913)
Interest paid EXAFE - (126,088) - (126,088)
Advance from related parties ~ REEEEF 2B
(note 30(c) (HE30(c)) - - 087,451 287,451
Repayment to related parties B EE A B - - (287,674) (287,674)
Total changes from financing ~ BMERESFELBEE
cash flows 131,213 (126,088) (223) 4,902
Exchange adjustments AR 158,804 3,814 223 162,841
Other Changes: Hitt25:
Interest on bank loans (note 5(a)) $R{1TEHFIE (HizF5(a)) - 124,181 - 124,181
Total other charges HiBRAE%E - 124,181 - 124,181
At 31 December 2017 RZB-tF+ZA=t—-B 3461859 8,726 - 3,470,585
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A RS ER AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 1S Ba105EES))

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22 BoREMEMKE

2017 2016

—E—+tE —E—RE

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

(Restated)

(&&EH))

Trade payables g5 EARE 117,326 107,711

Other payables and accruals HitE N RIERETER 564,382 406,945
Receipt in advance for L #th 7 B AR 75 8 S5 W BN

land levelling services HIFRIE 35,883 -

Deposits B 11,620 -

Interest payable (note 21(c)) ESFE (HEE21(c)) 8,726 6,819

Amounts due to related parties FE{< BB B 5 FRIE
(note 30(d)(ii)) ( Bt EE30(d) i) ) 3,605 3,247
741,632 524,722

All of the trade payables, other payables, accruals and amounts
due to related parties are expected to be settled within one year

or are repayable on demand.

The credit period granted by the suppliers ranges from 30 days to

90 days.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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B RS ERR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

22 BEoRHMEMRIE(#F)

BERSHR EZRAFRRE
SEMNREOMUT

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FExT FBT
(Restated)
(&E73)
Within 1 month —@AA 57,068 52,885
1 to 3 months —Z={@A 37,993 34,354
Over 3 months but within 1 year ZR=EAE—FRK 13,616 13,168
Over 1 year —FBE 8,649 7,304
117,326 107,711

BANK LOANS 23 RITEX

At 31 December 2017, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

R-ZZE—+tF+=-B=+—H &

EERTERWOT:
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E-REF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FExT
(Restated)
(&&=51)
Within 1 year or on demand —FRAHRER 1,881,461 1,171,223
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFER 303,940 798,766
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBREFRA 775,714 997,363
After 5 years EFE#® 500,744 204,490
Sub-total NG 1,580,398 2,000,619
Total et 3,461,859 3,171,842

P ERERRERRAE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

23 BANK LOANS (Cont’d)

Notes:

Bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2017 were floating-interest
rate loans with interest rates ranged from 2.08% to 6.37% (2016:
1.18% to 7.00% per annum).

At 31 December 2017, the bank loans were secured as follows:

B3

(ii)

23 RITEM (A

RZBE—tF+=ZA=+—-H %K
SEZRTERBZEER &7
KN F2.08%E6.37% (ZF— N~
F:1118%E7.00%) °

R=ZZ—tF+=-A=+—H 4R
TEFKFABEROT
2017 2016
—E—+iF —E-REF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHExT FET
(Restated)
(&&E75))
Secured B 2,927,013 2,888,847
Unsecured fi g 534,846 282,995
3,461,859 3,171,842

Secured bank loans as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were secured
by certain of the Group’s charge rights of water supply, wastewater
processing, waste processing and property, plant and equipment (note
11), lease prepayments (note 12), the equity interests of Qingyuan
Lvyou, Guangzhou Yinglong and Guangzhou Liangang.

As at 31 December 2016, a secured bank loan amounted to
HKD7,827,000 (equivalent to RMB7,000,000) which was past due and
secured by a minority shareholder’s property. The security was released
from the Group as a result of disposal of subsidiary during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Bank loans amounted to HKD105,289,000 (equivalent to
RMB88,012,000) as at 31 December 2017 were guaranteed by
former shareholder of Guangzhou Yinglong (2016: HKD165,040,000,
equivalent to RMB147,629,000).

CT Environmental Group Limited
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R-B-—tERZB-AF+A
=t—R -AEARTERTDUKR
EEETHK TKEE  BEYERE
BN ERE - W% BERRE (M
1) HERNRE (MaE12) 78
B BEMNBEREMNEBHR
FEEHR I o

RZZE-—X"FE+=A=+—-H0'F
KRR T E 707,827,00058 T (HE
A AR¥7,000,0007T) B EHE R
AL EREYEFERF REEE
MBRERIKE FERAREBZE=Z
—+tF+ZA=+—HLLEEHE
MEATE

R-ZE—tF+=-A=+—H %
£55105,289,0008 7T (HERAR
#588,012,0007T) IR T E R HE
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165,040,000 T HERAR
#147,629,0007T) °
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

BANK LOANS (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(i) Bank loans amounted to HKD3,461,859,000 (equivalent
to RMB2,893,804,000) as at 31 December 2017 (2016:
HKD3,164,017,000, equivalent to RMB2,830,213,000) are subject to
the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s balance
sheet ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with
financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The Group
regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further details
of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 28(b).
In addition, pursuant to the terms of the bank loan agreements, certain
subsidiaries are not allowed to distribute profit and/or to obtain other
external financing prior to the lender’s approval and/or to exceed/below
the financial ratio.

As at 31 December 2017, covenants relating to restrictions on
controlling shareholder, the consolidated EBITDA to long-term
borrowings matured within one year and consolidated finance cost
ratio, and adjusted cash flow to consolidated debt services ratio had
been breached (2016: nil). Accordingly, such bank loans amounted to
HKD747,364,000 became payable on demand and have been classified
as current liabilities.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

On 12 November 2015, the board of directors of the Company
approved the adoption of a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) under which shares of the Company (the
“Awarded Shares”) may be awarded to selected employees (the
“Selected Employees”) in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Award Scheme. The Board shall not make any further
award of Awarded Shares which will result in the aggregate
nominal value of the Shares awarded under the Scheme
exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the time of such Award. The maximum number of Awarded
Shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee under the
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the time of such award.

23

24

RITE (&

By : (4F)

iy HAB-—RERENSREBMER
ZH RZEBE—tF+=ZA=1+—
H £ %8 53,461,859,00058 7T (&
M A R#2,893,804,000T) (==&
— N4 13,164,017,00058 T HHE
R A R#2,830,213,0007T ) K $R 1T
ERERTEBASEEETERE
EERLENZE - MEAEEER
RE HCRIBESBRERE
B AEBEYPEREBTRER
ERNBR - AEBZRBAKRSE
Zi#E— S F B EH R M E28(b) o Ik
SN REBRITERBEGR & TH
B BE B E T HOER T ESHET
ERDIRE,SREREMIIBHE
Rk/REE MERE LR
AZE—+tHF+=-A=+—8"
CEREHERHZEBERR -HRE
EBITDAY —F R E Bz REMER
RERERMERAN LR ARERS
REHREEKRKELLE 2 2HE
(ZEB—RFE &) HIt- - ¢HEA
747,364,00058 T BRI ITE R
BAREREEREIEARBA
féo

UEZEEIRBZTRS

R-ZZE—RF+—-A+=H X2
RAIESECLHERMR MR BT
2 (TR EEE=TE])  RIBRHEE
Byt 8l 2 &5 AD TG ([H2E
BHDITRFERES ([BRE
El) MEFERHERAROESR
BYREBEFECRENRONAT
BEBBADTREZEHESBITRA
210% BI R ERE SR EER
B -ERESRETTSRRNE
BROHNERSEE T ESEBRARQT
REHENE BITRAN1% -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba1H5E 5"

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 24

The Share Award Scheme was adopted in order to recognise
and motivate the contributions of the Selected Employees and to
provide them with the incentives or awards for their commitment
and contribution to the Group. By providing a competitive
incentive package, the Share Award Scheme also serves to retain
and attract suitable personnel for the further development of the
Group, and to align the interests of the Selected Employees with
those of the shareholders of the Company in attaining long-term
business objectives of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the
10th anniversary date of the date of adoption; and (ii) such date
of early termination as determined by the board by a resolution
of the board. Termination of the Scheme shall not affect any
subsisting rights of any Selected Employee under the Scheme.

Details of the shares held under the Share Award Scheme are set

UEZEEIRBZTRS
(%)

BRAVIRD RS 8 B R A A
EEREE 2ERMAUMEHREEN
FRIRERREMABBRER - BB
RUEBFUNBBLIR RORE
FEITARBERREEEREEE
—SRENETIALEERAEER
HXBERTEERESNWAHE
R BRROF S RIF B

IR P 2 BT R ()BR 40 B HARVEE10
BFEER RIEESEBESE
ABRACRBARIENEBAEH
(LB BEABE)KIE - RIEFTET
BYEZTEETEMERESN
1z ERE-

RIBRAD ERB B SRD 2515

out below: mT:
Average
purchase No. of Value of
price shares held shares
BE
FHEEE ROEE R EE
HKD ’000 HKD’000
BT TR FHET
At 1 January 2016 R-ZBE-—XREFE—H—H 3,827 10,205
Shares purchased RIZE-—REEENRH
during year 2016 2.04 11,700 23,846
Shares granted RE-Z-RERENRSG
during year 2016 (1,653) (3,799)
At 31 December 2016 and R-E—RE
1 January 2017 +=ZA=+t—-BR
—E-tF¥—-A—H 13,874 30,252
Shares purchased RZE—tFEEENRH
during year 2017 1.49 24,238 36,005
Shares granted RE-Z-—LtERENRG
during year 2017 (7,872) (13,643)
At 31 December 2017 R-ZEB—+tF
+=HA=+—H 30,240 52,614
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B RS ERR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 5))

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

As at the 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Company purchased
39,764,000 and 15,526,000 shares, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company granted
7,872,000 shares (2016: 1,653,000) to 113 employees (2016: 72)
of the Group. The fair value of these Awarded Shares amounted
to HKD9,056,000 (2016: HKD3,965,000).

The estimated fair value of the Awarded Shares on the grant date
is determined by reference to the market price of the Company’s
shares.

The Group recognised share award expenses of HKD9,056,000
during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: HKD3,965,000)
with a corresponding decrease in reserve within equity.

24

UEZEEIRBZTRS
(%)

RIE—+tER_E—-—REFE+Z
B=+—H AX2FDHEBE
39,764,0000% } 15,526,000 A%
3o

BE-Z2—tHF+=A=+—-HL
FE ADREAEEIZE (=F
—RF 1 728)EE & 17,872,000
B (=ZF— /X% :1,653,000]K)
R - ZERBRONAFESR
9,056,000 Tt (=& — < F:
3,965,0005& 7T ) °

RERONREE BHNMETATE
BERLNARDGHOTHEEE -

AEEBRBZ-_ZE—tE+=A
E+—HLEFEHERRMDRERR
¥ £9,056,000/8 7T (=T — /RF:
3,965,000/ 7t ) - M= A Y 16
HEERD -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

25

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25 FZEMBRARMESH
FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEFBMRRERPHENEHIE
financial position represents: b=
HKD’000
FHExT
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) R=F—R"F—A—H (EE5) 27,026
Provision for PRC income tax FE TSR B E (HaE6(@) (KREY))

(note 6(a)) (Restated) 140,093
PRC income tax paid (Restated) RE TSRS (KES) (82,715)
Exchange adjustments (Restated) ELAE (KET) (4,117)
At 31 December 2016 (Restated) R=F-—R"E+=A=+—-H8 (=) 80,287
At 1 January 2017 R—ZE—tFE—H—H 80,287
Provision for PRC income tax P E AT SRR (MFEE6(a))

(note 6(a)) 133,579
PRC income tax paid PRI FTE R T (90,548)
Exchange adjustments & 5 7,105
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE-—tH+ZA=+—H 130,423
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont’d)

(b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and

liabilities

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

25 #&RA

(b)

MBRRRBAEH (&)

ERABELEHAEERAE:

EEFIREER B EEAKA

B2 EE

Rz E BN RAHER AE
EHIE(EE) BEARED

position and the movements during the year are as follows: TRERNSEHUT :
PRC
dividend
withholding Revenue Intangible Government
Deferred tax arising from: tax  recognition assets grant  Provisions Total
HERE
FEEREERE: K KRR ENEE BB B @t
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TERT TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2016 (Restated) RZ=Z—-~F—-HF—H
(&E5) 13,720 21,040 250,947 (3,531) - 282,176
(Credited)/charged to REZEA (FA),/ Mk
profit or loss (Restated) (RE5) (13,410) 14,311 (15,108) - (6,334) (20,541)
Exchange adjustments EHAE (KRET)
(Restated) (310) (1,931) (15,281) 204 265 (17,033)
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—RE
(Restated) +=ZA=+-H
(BEF) - 33,420 220,558 (3,307) (6,069) 244,602
At 1 January 2017 W=2-+%-F-A - 33,420 220,558 (3,307) (6,069) 244,602
Charged/(credited) to RIEFEAMBR/ (T A)
profit or loss - 8,836 (12,379) - 1,401 (2,142)
Exchange adjustments ERAZ - 2,645 15,034 (231) (378) 17,070
At 31 December 2017 R-E—t&
+=A=+-A - 44,901 223,213 (3,538) (5,046) 959,530
P EREREFRAT
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25 HZEMBRARMIREH (£)
FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (Cont’d) (b) ERRAPELEHEEERAE:
(#&)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial B4R & B Ak 2 E R
position
The deferred taxation is recognised on the consolidated RERE BN RERAEL
statement of financial position as follows: BT :
2017 2016
—F—tF ZF-F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(FRE5)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised R 4R & B AR RERH
in the consolidated statement of EEBIEEEFRE
financial position 268,114 253,978
Net deferred tax assets recognised A& E B ik R REZH
in the consolidated statement of EEREEEFE
financial position (8,584) (9,376)

259,530 244,602
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PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Cumulative tax losses

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(t),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries located in
Hong Kong and subsidiaries in the PRC of HKD165,944,000
and HKD44,918,000 (equivalent to RMB143,476,000
and RMB37,548,000) as at 31 December 2017 (2016:
HKD149,779,000 and HKD26,459,000, equivalent to
RMB128,383,000 and RMB22,678,000), respectively, as it is
not probable that future taxable income against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses of subsidiaries located
in Hong Kong do not expire under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Dividend withholding tax

According to the CIT Law and its implementation rules,
dividends receivable by non-PRC corporate residents from
PRC enterprises are subject to withholding income tax
at 10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements,
for profits earned since 1 January 2008. Pursuant to the
Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement and the related
regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident will be liable
for a reduced withholding tax rate of 5% on dividends
from a PRC enterprise if the Hong Kong tax resident is the
“beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of the equity
interest of the PRC enterprise. As all of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries are directly or indirectly owned by a Hong Kong
incorporated subsidiary which is the qualified Hong Kong
tax resident, a rate of 5% is applicable to the calculation of
the PRC dividend withholding tax.

25 #&RA

(c)

(d)

MBRRRBAEH (&)

AERELERREE

R HEER

BEMFIG)ME ST B
FAEBIYERETSE
BEHPEHRNBATIRE
- t®¥+=ZA=+—-H=%
%89 Bl 2165,944,0008 T
$ 44,918,000 Tt (HER
AR #143,476,0007T & A
R #37,548,000t) (=&
— N5 :149,779,000% T &
26,459,000/ 5t HHE R A
R #128,383,0007T &2 A R #E
22,678,000t ) FY 25T FIH &
BRRELESBEEE BAA
BRI LIEERRERE
15 0] FA 3R 3K 30 B5 18 A FE SR AR U
AW ATREME NS K - BBH B
RRIZBEBERETEENBE
RETHETSEE-

AERELEHREE

RERAH

RIECERBREREERK
Bl kPELEERBPED
¥ERRHNREEMBE-ZEN
F— A — BERIRMNERH
W10% I FEFNFTSH - BRIEE
BB ERZHRR - RIEA
WERFEBT VM (BEHB L
) REBER H—BeE
KEBBKEERA—RBHH
TCEZIEREEAINUEE
Ho5% D A ERI R #E - BIZZE
BN EERAREREZTH
TENRSIREERR5%H
MIENH - AR AEBAET
BB L B8R —ERE BT M
BRIAMBLAR (RASER
EAREER) BEERHER
B HEETEREFENBE
HEANKRERE% o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont’d)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (Cont’d)

Dividend withholding tax (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2017, deferred tax liabilities in respect of
the dividend withholding tax relating to the undistributed
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries were not recognised
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries. Based on the assessment made by
management as at the end of each reporting period, it
was determined that certain of the undistributed profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries would not be distributed in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax liabilities with carrying
value of HKD13,410,000 (equivalent to RMB11,494,000)
was thus reversed for the year ended 31 December 2016.
The amounts of undistributed profit of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out below:

SAMBRARMMEHR (#)

N

(d)

AERBELEHBEE (A)

KEEAH (&

RZIE—tHFE+ZA=+—
B WAERERD KB L
AXRDIREREEHRETE
FAELEHBEE  DHRAK
NEEHZEH B R RNRE
BE - RIETSEBNE RS
REH L AQATMBA
AETARIERANCEELS
RO RRFETD IR EH I
BR [H 18 £ 13,410,000 7T (18
B A R #11,494,0007T) #Y
FEBRBEBEERBEZE_T—~
F+-A=1+—HIELFEHE
IR NN 15 = /N1 B N 5

Distributable profits earned by

PRC subsidiaries on or after
1 January 2008

FEMBAAR-EENE
—B—-BRZ AR
R

MEEHHMT :
2017 2016
—EBE—+tHF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHERT FET
(Restated)
(RRE5)
2,860,021 2,126,016

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017



26 DEFERRED INCOME

Notes to the financial statements
gy ST EL I

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

26 EEZEWAN

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

HKD’000 HKD’000

THET FET

(Restated)

(&%)

At 1 January KR—HB—H 16,592 18,047

Other additions HiF 8 - 112

Credited to profit or loss (note 4(a)) T AER (MEF4()) (138) (440)

Exchange adjustments [ 5 AR 1,159 (1,127)

At 31 December BH+=ZB=+—H 17,613 16,592
Deferred income consists of deferred government grants. The EEWABRIELBAFHE KB
grants from local government was conditional and the conditions wHBFHNMERERE BEZ2%E
would be fulfilled upon the completion of construction of certain UK RETAMNRREXEBRA
fixed assets of Guangyuan Xizhou Environmental Enterprises AI(TETAEMNDREMNERE T
Company Limited (“Guangyuan Xizhou”) and Guangzhou Lvyou. EEEENERTHREZEN -2
The grant will be recognised as income in profit or loss on a BEEREEEENFEAEHRRIER

systematic basis over the useful life of the fixed assets. AHEEERBRREIR/BRA-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 Ba105EE5))

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 BEX -HERBRE
(a) Share capital (@) B
Issued share capital of the Company AKREEZETRA
Number
of shares
RO E
’000 HKD’000
TR FHET
At 1 January 2016, R-ZE—RE—HF—8-
31 December 2016, 1 January 2017 Z=—Z—X~E+=ZA=+—H"
and 31 December 2017 —E2—tH&—-HF—-HEK
(Ordinary shares of HKD0.025 each) —Z—+t&+=-A=+—H
(EREBEREE0.025/8T) 6,316,792 157,920

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont’d) 27 A -HERBE(4#)
(b) Movements in components of equity (b) REZERBHNES
The reconciliation between the opening and closing AEBGEREZSAMIBDF
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated TR ER 2 B &Y ERERN
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes RERREHR AQNFAERE
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s individual mANT D FVRERZEE
components of equity between the beginning and the end of ENFRRIAT

the year are set out below:

Shares held
under the
Share Share Share Award Capital Accumulated
capital premium Scheme reserve losses Total
BIER 7
#EEE
BRA BROEE FRERG EXGE RitER @t
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TET TET TET TET TET T

At 1 January 2016 (Restated) RZ=Z—~E—F—H

(&RE5) 157,920 1,665,352 (10,205) 197,537 (32,497) 1,978,107
Loss for the year (Restated) ~ FREE (LEFI) - - - - (48,344) (48,344)
Total comprehensive income 2 HEHAE

(Restated) (EE5) - - - . (48344)  (48344)
Share purchased under RIER 7 R B2

Share Award Scheme FHER G

(note 24) (Restated) (Kiztod) (£E3) - - (23,846) - - (23,846)
Equity settled share-based NESZEENRDZARS

transactions (note 24) (Kizko4) (EEF)

(Restated) - 166 3,799 - - 3,065
Dividends (Restated) RE (KE5) - (184,730) - - - (184,730)
At 31 December 2016 R-ZZ-xE+=A

(Restated) and =+-H(KEIK

1 January 2017 —E-tf¥-HA-H 157,920 1,480,788 (30,252) 197,537 (80,841) 1,725,152
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (74,398) (74,398)
Total comprehensive income 2HEHAE - - - - (74,398) (74,398)
Share purchased under BERDRBEE

Share Award Scheme Frig e R4

(note 24) (WizE24) - - (36,005) - . (36,005)
Equity settled share-based NEREENRD

transactions (note 24) RS (MiE24) - (4,587) 13,643 - - 9,056
Dividends BRe - 118,117) - - - 18117)
At 31 December 2017 R-Z—-tF

+ZA=+—-H 157,920 1,358,084 (52,614) 197,537 (155,239) 1,505,688
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont’d)

(b) Movements in components of equity (Cont’d)

() Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the Company’s share premium account are
distributable to the equity shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

(i) PRC statutory reserves

According to the current PRC Company Law, the
Group’s entities in the PRC are required to transfer
10% of their profit after taxation to statutory surplus
reserve until the surplus reserve balance reaches 50%
of the registered capital. For the purpose of calculating
the transfer to reserve, the profit after taxation shall
be the amount determined based on the statutory
financial statements prepared in accordance with PRC
accounting standards. The transfer to this reserve has
to be made before distribution of dividend by these
entities.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make good
previous years’ losses, if any, and for capitalisation
issue provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of the registered capital of the
respective entities.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Movements in components of equity (Cont’d)

(if)

(iv)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations with functional currencies
other than the RMB presentation currency. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in note 1(w).

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
difference between (a) the nominal value of share
capital of a subsidiary acquired; and (b) the nominal
value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange under the reorganisation of the Group on 31
May 2011.

The capital reserve of the Company represents the
excess of the consolidated net assets represented
by the shares acquired over the nominal value of
shares issued by the Company in exchange under the
reorganisation.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate amounts of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company was around HKD1,347,768,000 (2016:
HKD1,567,232,000), which comprises of share premium,
capital reserve, offset by shares held under Share Award
Scheme and accumulated losses of the Company.

27 BEX-HHBERRE(F)

(b)

(c)

RESARI DN BE (&)
(i) [EZGHE

SRR E e
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LASNH 37 B FE 3Rk
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(iv) BX#HE
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Fir W B8 B B8 1 B AR AN 9
EE: ROARQXER=
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REAEENEEARR
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RABNEREEREFT
WEEROEGREEE
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A1 7 TR A

R-FE-—tF+=-R=1+-—
SIRNEIR 35 ) 3 NN
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont’d)

(d)

Dividends (d KBRE
()  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () FEEEMNEKL AR
Company attributable to the year BFEARE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—-REF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHExT FET
(Restated)
(RR&E5)
Interim dividend declared and EEIRERIRSHERE
paid of HKD0.0103 per ordinary BREER0.0103B TR
share and a special dividend BRRESREBRR
HKDO0.0018 per ordinary share 0.0018& T (=& —RF:
(2016: HKDO0.0119 per ordinary FRE®R0.0119/87T)
share) 75,985 75,035
Final dividend of HKD0.0095 per  H 3R & B R 1% 5k B9 K 58
ordinary share and a special R E 8K EER0.0095%
dividend of HKD0.0198 per TREFNIRESRER
ordinary share proposed after f%0.0198%8 T (=& — 7~
the end of the reporting period F RERESREBER
(2016: final dividend HKDO0.0067 0.006778JT)
per ordinary share) 184,352 42,132
260,337 117,167

27 BEX-HHBERRE(F)
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Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont’d) 27 BEXR -RERBRE(£F)
(d) Dividends (Cont’d) (d) BE (&)

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i)  BIEEBFE B IR
Company attributable to the previous financial year, FERHER (T EST
approved and paid during the year KR AERIFEAR

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
THET F#ET
(Restated)
€ <E=27))
Final dividend in respect of the BEFRFEERPRE
previous financial year of BRERER0.00678 T
HKDO0.0067 per ordinary share (ZE—RF BEMK
(2016: final dividend in respect FERPBRESREBRR
of the previous financial year of 0.0073B T R4FFIRE
HKDO0.0073 and a special FREER0.010178 )
dividend of HKD0.0101 per
ordinary share) 42,132 109,695
(e) Capital management (e) EXEHE

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital AEBEEERANEERES

are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going REXAEEZELENED

concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for DEHEARRISERMGE
shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to W REFREEREBIUR
reduce the cost of capital. REARKA
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Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont’d) 27 BAX-HHREE(E)
(e) Capital management (Cont’d) (e) BXEE (&)
The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of $E?"‘ﬂi‘7m%‘)¥ﬁi§%ﬁ
an adjusted net debt-to-equity ratios. For this purpose, bRERHEBEAREE - FRULLT
adjusted net debt is calculated as total bank loans less SO ORFARFEHRULALTE
deposits with a bank with original maturity date over three NBRERFEEBYRFN
months and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s EA’fE TRIBEIE BB =1EA
adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio at 31 December 2017 and ZIEFFESH R=F—+t
2016 was as follows: ERZE-—RFE+=ZA=+—
H AEENKHAEFERRE
L EMT

2017 2016

—E—+t5F —E-REF

Note HKD’000 HKD’000

Bt & FHET FEx

(Restated)

(RRE5)

Bank loans: IRITER

Current liabilities REEE 23 1,881,461 1,171,223

Non-current liabilities FREBER 23 1,580,398 2,000,619

Total debt BER 3,461,859 3,171,842

Less: Cash and cash equivalents ;J'JZ HeRBEEEEY 21 (518,960) (1,155,849)

Deposits with a bank with FHRRAIRITRE
original maturity date FIHA R BB

over three months =@ B Z2ER (91,987) (6,525)

Adjusted net debt KRARFER 2,850,912 2,009,468

Total equity ML 4,465,344 3,616,062

Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio LFRFEHERLLE 0.64 0.56
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PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks
are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables and gross amounts due from customers
for contract work. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30 days from the date of
billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 12 months
past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers. For the BOT
arrangements, since the debtors are local government
authorities in the PRC, the Group considers the credit risk is
low.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

28 cHIEAREEREMIAMNAT
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Notes to the financial statements
Py e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2017, trade and other receivables and
gross amounts due from customers for contract work of
the Group amounted to HKD2,725,131,000 (equivalent to
RMB2,277,966,000) (2016: HKD1,823,325,000, equivalent to
RMB1,630,963,000), of which HKD153,835,000 (equivalent
to RMB128,592,000) (2016: HKD143,637,000, equivalent to
RMB128,483,000) was due from the largest customer and
HKD437,013,000 (equivalent to RMB365,304,000)(2016:
HKD391,818,000, equivalent to RMB350,481,000) was due
from the five largest customers in aggregate of the Group.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk as at 31 December
2017.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from gross amounts due
from customers for contract work and trade and other
receivables are set out in notes 18 and 20, respectively.

CT Environmental Group Limited
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 28 cHRIEREEREMIANAT

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) B (#)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont’d) (b) FBESRK (&)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRIIGRAEBHEITESH
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s BERSHREPRORGEN
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on FIEE HREBESHREEE
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest HERE (BEANAREHR
payments computed using rates current at the end of the R BN EA R RS E MR 2 FRIE)
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be RAEBANRNESE B #ist
required to pay: HEW:

31 December 2017
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
“E-tF+=A=+-H
RHNRERRERE
More than More than
Within 1 1yearbut 2 years but

year or on less than less than More than Carrying

demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
—ERH BA-F BAME

RERX BIRmE EBIREF EFNE wst REE

HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TER TER TER TER TER THT

Bank loans BITEX 1,958,915 275,184 811,181 526,761 3,572,041 3,461,859
Trade and other payables S REMERTE 741,632 - - - 741,632 741,632
Total st 2,700,547 275,184 811,181 526,761 4,313,673 4,203,491

31 December 2016 (Restated)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
“E-R"ETZA=1-H (L&)
BNRBEBRAER
More than More than
Within 1 1yearbut 2 years but

year or on less than less than More than Carrying

demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
—ER BE-F BEME

RER BIRME EIREF BFLE st REE

HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
THT THT THT THT THT THL

Bank loans BITEX 1,223,293 826,414 1,035,704 214662 3,300,073 3,171,842
Trade and other payables S REMERTE 524,722 - - - 524,722 524,722

Total @it 1,748,015 826,414 1,035,704 214,662 3,824,795 3,696,564
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PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
loans issued at variable rates, which expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2017, it is estimated that a general
increase 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have decreased the Group’s
profit after tax for the year by approximately HKD30,904,000
(equivalent to RMB26,720,000) (2016: HKD28,830,000,
equivalent to RMB24,710,000), mainly as a result of higher
finance costs on bank loans. The impact on the Group’s
profit after tax is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2016.

Currency risk

Individual companies within the Group has limited foreign
currency risk as most of the transactions are denominated
in the same currency as the functional currency of the
operations in which they relate. However, as the principal
subsidiaries mainly carried out transactions in RMB,
therefore any appreciation or depreciation of HKD against
RMB will affect the Group’s financial position and be
reflected in the exchange reserve.

Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments

are not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2017 and 2016.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

29 COMMITMENTS 29 KiE
(@) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2017 (@ R=-TBE—tHE+=ZA=+-—
not provided for in the financial statements were as B R EE BN ER R
follows: KEBENEREAENOT:
2017 2016
—E-+tF —E-RF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&R&E5)
Contracted for [EHES) 502,181 248,590
Authorised but not contracted for EHAEEBRETH 1,085,289 1,661,460
1,587,470 1,910,050
(b) At 31 December 2017, the total future minimum lease b) R=E—tFE+=-A=+-—
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are B RETTHESLHERE
payable as follows: T ARREEBEENRETED
T
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(RR&E5)
Within 1 year —FRr 8,037 8,187
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFR 21,572 19,149
After 5 years EFE#® 32,273 33,450
61,882 60,786
Operating leases mainly represent a land use right leasing REHETERLHEE A6
arrangement with a total leasing period of 16 years. FWriFRAERER -
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EXHBAERXS

EERRTKENBEB L BEAT

The directors are of the view that related parties of the Group

include the following individuals/companies:

Name of related party
BHBAIKSE B8

AL/ DF:

Relationship with the Group
HEAKEHER

Mr. Tsui Cham To
mEEEE

Mr. Xu Juwen
BREXEE

Mr. Gu Yaokun

HEm AL

Mr. Gan Yongxiong (ii)

H K I 5 A (i)

Mr. Xu Zhencheng(iii)

R B 5 A (iii)

Guangzhou To Kee (j)

B MER()

Guangzhou Tian Tian Cleaning and Washing
Company Limited (“Tian Tian”)(i)

BMNRRRZEHRBER AR (TRXD) ()

Haiqin Tiancheng (i)

8 R (1)

Guangzhou Haigin Tiancheng Environmental
Consultancy Company Limited
(“Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy”) (i)

BN 80 RBRREZAGRAF
(Mg RAABHLD ()

Controlling Shareholder

ZERRR

Executive Director

HITES

A minority shareholder of the Company/
Executive Director

AARDEBRR HTES

Key management personnel

FEEEAB

Key management personnel

FEEEAB

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERRRERES

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERRRERESR

Joint Venture of the Group

REESEDRHE

Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERKRRERER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 30 EXFABARS (&)
Name of related party Relationship with the Group
MBI ME B BEAREEAER
Zhuhai Yingrun Environmental Protection Effectively owned by the close family member of Mr. Gu

Technology Company Limited (“Zhuhai Yingrun”) (i)  Yaokun
FETRERRBEAERAA ([FEE2B]) () Rb BB EE cARETNIENEERES

Guangzhou Nansha Development Zone Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun
Lvjie Disposal Recycling Store (“Nansha Lvjie”) (i)

BMNEIHBBREEEESEY M E WL HEOBRRTEERESR
([mELaEED) ()

Guangzhou Panyu Luopu Kunrun Information Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

Technology and Consulting Services Department
(“Luopu Kunrun”) (i)

&N & B & 7 5 5 B BT 5 5 AR 5 3B HOBRTEERER
(& mEE ()
Guangzhou Wofeng Biological Technology Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

Company Limited (“Guangzhou Wofeng”) (i)

BMNTREEMREERATE (TEMKE D) () HORREEERER

Guangzhou Lvchi Environmental Protection Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun
Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Lvchi”) (i)

BMERRABRAERAT ([EMEER L) () RO EEERER

Guangzhou Lvhao Technology Service Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Lvhao”) (i)

BB MRB AR B ([EMEFED () HOBmTEERER

Guangzhou Anjing Environmental Protection Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Anjing”) (i)
BMNmZFRAMZBRAB (TEMNZF]D) () HhBmtEERER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Name of related party
) g

30 EXHBARS (&)

Relationship with the Group
BEAEEHBFR

Guangzhou Lvcheng Industrial Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Lvcheng”) (i)

BT TEBRAR ([EMEEHED ()

Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili Profession Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili”) (i)

BMNEBREEXEARAR ([EMNEERE]) ()

Hengyang Lvtao Environmental Ceramsite

Equipment Company Limited (“Hengyang Lvtao”) (i)

5 2P IRRERRBEER AR ([EEE&ME ) ()

Guangzhou Changbao Environmental Management
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Changbao”) (i) (iii)

BMNEERFARERMRAA (EMERED () i)

Guangzhou Longdao Investment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Longdao”) (i)

BMNEEREEREMELR (EMEED ()

Longmen Hutiao Station Company Limited
(“Longmen Hutiao Station “) (i)

BEFIREBIE AR LT ([FEFIRBELL]) ()

Guangzhou Zhongtao (i)

J& N E (i)

Sanshui Zhaofeng (i)

=KEE()

Golden Oasis China Development Limited
(“Golden Oasis”)

LEPEBERBERAR ([28])

Effectively owned by Mr. Gu Yaokun

HORREEERER

Mr. Tsui Cham To is a member of key management
personnel of the entity

BEBRERZERNIEEEAEZ -

Mr. Gu Yaokun is a member of key management
personnel of the entity

HRBRALEAZERNIEEEAEZ—

Mr. Xu Zhencheng is a member of key management
personnel of the entity

FRAEERZERNIEEEAEZ -

Effectively owned by key management personnel

HIZEBAESERES
Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERBRRERES
Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
HERRRERES
Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder
HEZERRREBES
Effectively owned by the Controlling Shareholder

HERRRERESR

P ERERRERRAE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LGBTTHIT 1S B185E RS

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(il

(a)

The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official
names of these companies are in Chinese.

Mr. Gan Yongxiong resigned on 10 June 2017 and was no longer
related party of the Group.

Mr. Xu Zhencheng was appointed as executive director on 24
August 2017 (note 7(ii)). The following disclosure of the related party
transactions related to Mr. Xu Zhencheng and Guangzhou Changbao is
for the period since 24 August 2017.

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s director
as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

30 EXHBARS (&

B &L

() HEXREBOREERSE R
ERRNES BBRRLERE-

(i) HXKEEEER-ZZ—tFE~AT+
AL TEAREE - EES -

(i) HFEBEEER=-_Z—LtENA
TTHREZEAITES (M
7(ii)) o AT BB TS 32 5 4% BE o ER EF
RREERENEERBENRSH
B-Z2-tFNAZ+HHEH
e

(@) FEEFEAESHM

FEETEEBASHFH (2
BOMETARERRAES
K M sE8FT I B & T & = #r A
BEXXNHFRE)NT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RE

HKD’000 HKD’000

FERT FET

(Restated)

(F=E5)

Salaries and other benefits FeREMER 16,882 19,592
Share-based payments B 19 2 A 2,577 1,113
Retirement scheme contributions BRI 198 187
19,657 20,892

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017



30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b)

Recurring transactions

Notes to the financial statements

Particulars of significant transactions between the Group
and the above related parties during the year ended 31
December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 E5))

30 EXHBARS (&

REMRS

HE-—Z—tFER=ZF—~F
+ZA=+—BLFE K&
e PR S FTE T ERX
RBHEBUOT:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—REF
HKD’000 HKD’000
THET FHExT
(Restated)
(F=E5)
Provision of wastewater processing  [8] & X 12 {155 7K B 3 AR 75 (i)
services to Tian Tian (i) 3,672 4,791
Receive of technical testing services B 8 X 58 & 15 3 il B 52, BR 75
from Haiqgin Tiancheng 1,207 918
Receive of consulting services from B8 X 3 55 15 5% 5 IR 75
Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy 1,051 1,597
Receive of consultancy services from: B LT 2 B &SRR :
- Nansha Lvjie —FMD G 994 905
— Luopu Kunrun — & RS 677 3,066
— Guangzhou Wofeng —EMRE 1,078 1,993
— Guangzhou Lvchi —E M a5t 1,117 1,667
- Guangzhou Lvhao —BEMNEEE 6,368 372
— Guangzhou Anjing -BEMNEZF 4,884 1,133
15,118 9,136

P ERERRERRAE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 30 EXFABARS (&
(b) Recurring transactions (Cont’d) b) REMRS (F)
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FTHET FHExT
(Restated)
€<E=¢7))
Disposal of equity shares in mEMEREHERBEMNFEN
Guangzhou Zhongtao to =R
Guangzhou To Kee (note 15(b)(i)) (FFEE15(0)() ) 28,805 -
Provision of management services to: LA T 2 BRI E AR
- Nansha Lvjie — b 44 -
- Luopu Kunrun — & H 44 -
- Guangzhou Wofeng —EMKE 44 -
- Guangzhou Lvchi — BN 45t 44 -
- Guangzhou Lvhao —BEMEEE 44 -
- Guangzhou Anjing -BEMN=F 44 -
264 -

230 CT Environmental Group Limited
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

30 EXHBARS (&

(¢) Non-recurring transactions () FKEMRS
2017 2016
—ZE-+tF —E-REF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FTHET FET
(Restated)
(R&R&E5)
Provision of technical testing services [6] & 2 # % 4
to Mr. Gu Yaokun 12 13 918 = AR 75 - 226
Provision of other services to om0 AR IR H A AR 75
Nansha Lvjie 15 -
Receive of other services from BRI HESE MR
Nansha Lvjie 203 -
Equity contribution by PR S A RE 2 A (i)
Mr. Gu Yaokun (i) 12,563 -
Purchase of equipment from BEfG B ERE
Hengyang Lvtao - 16,476

P ERERRERRAE
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B RS ER AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c) Non-recurring transactions (Cont’d)

30 EXHBARS (&

(c) FEEMXRZ (H)

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FERT FHExT
(Restated)
€ <E=¢7))

Advances to: MUT&EFIELHNBER:
- Guangzhou Lvcheng — BN AR 21,975 115,506
— Mr. Gu Yaokun — R A 18,736 -
— Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili —-BMNEERE - 5,250
- Mr. Gan Yongxiong —HoKiEExEE - 292
- Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy — B RPEH 578 1,167
- Zhuhai Yingrun —BEEE 748 1,310
- Longmen Hutiao Station —BEMRBE L 347 -
- Guangzhou Changbao -EMNESBE 578 -
42,962 123,525
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHExT FET
(Restated)
(&£&E7))

Advances from: REUTERFNBR:

Mr. Gu Yaokun R A 286,525 58,333
Guangzhou Changbao EMNEE 926 -
287,451 58,333

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017



Notes to the financial statements

B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 30 EXHBARXS (£

(d) Balances with related parties (d) ERBAEES HIAR
() Amounts due from related parties () EWREE T 5E
2017 2016
—E-+tF —E-RF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FERT FH&xT
(Restated)
(F2E5)
Current BN &R
Trade receivables from: EWUTHE S RIE:
— Tian Tian - KX 1,879 3,621
Other receivables from: HEWRUTEERIEA:
— Mr. Tsui Cham To —EEEE - 553
- Mr. Gu Yaokun —HREEs L 149,338 135,964
— Haigin Tiancheng — 8 R - 1,627
— Haigin Tiancheng Consultancy — 8RB H 890 1,145
- Nansha Lvjie — DR 134 53
— Luopu Kunrun — & E S 1,961 2,011
- Guangzhou Wofeng -EMNRE 511 690
- Guangzhou Lvchi — & N 43 5t 1,243 1,117
- Guangzhou Lvhao — B4R 1,665 3,769
- Guangzhou Anjing -BEMNZF - 1,677
— Longmen Hutiao Station —BEPI R Bk E U 359 -
- Zhuhai Yingrun —REEH 114 954
- Guangzhou Changbao -EMNEE 215 -
- Guangzhou Longdao -EMEE 5,286 -
Sub-total NEE 161,716 149,560
Total et 163,595 153,181

P ERERRERRAE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 30

(d) Balances with related parties (Cont’d)

(i) Amounts due to related parties

EXRBARS (#

(d)

BT AR ()

(i) FENTEB L E

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHExT FExT
(Restated)
€<E==27))

Trade payables to B8 KRB 28 % E
Haiqin Tiancheng 359 395

Other payables to: HEMUTEERIEA:

- Guangzhou Zhongtao —BEMNPE 2,501 -
- Haigin Tiancheng — B RH - 56
- Hengyang Lvtao — &1k 42 9 252 2,796
- Longmen Hutiao Station —BEMRBE L 239 -
- Guangzhou Anjing -BMNZF 344 -
3,695 3,247

The balances with these related parties are unsecured,
interest free and have no fixed repayment terms.

(i) The related party transaction constitutes continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are provided in the paragraph headed
“Continuing connected transactions” of the section
headed “Report of the Directors” of this annual report.

(i) The Group has been using certain assets mainly
comprised of sludge treatment facilities and landfill
sites located in Qingyuan City and their titles have been
transferred to Mr. Gu Yaokun, a director of the Company.
The Group used these assets with free of charge. Such
transactions are recognised as deemed rental charges and
equity contribution paid by shareholders with amount of
HKD12,563,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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BEER 2ERBEEETE
BEHR-

@

(i

ZHEBEAREER L
TMRBIEUASIRE
WISERERS - L
FBIFE1AAZFTIRER
WEZINEARFERIE
EERE | -HFNIEF
BEERS ] —B-

AEB-BEFEAET
BEE(XEBEALR
BEMHNETSRE
BREREES) H
FFERCEZETARLD
MEEL R AL
rEBEEEAZS
BEE-BHE-ZZ—t
F+=ZA=+—-H1
FE EEXZER
AREREBALR
BRZFzERZEE
12,563,00038 7T ©



Notes to the financial statements

PR R R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

31 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

(if)

On 14 February 2018, the Group entered into a termination
agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) with Mr. Gu
Yaokun, the director of the Company, in regard of an
agreement (the “Original Agreement”). The Original
Agreement was entered by Qingyuan Lvyou and Mr. Gu
Yaokun on 30 April 2014, pursuant to which Qingyuan
Lvyou transferred the title of certain fixed assets and land-
use rights (together as the “Assets”) to Mr. Gu Yaokun on
30 April 2014. On the other hand, as agreed in the Original
Agreement, Qingyuan Lvyou would purchase the Assets
back upon the issuance of the formal land and property
registration certificates for the Assets by local government
authorities. Moreover, on 30 April 2014, the Group acquired
100% equity interests of Qingyuan Lvyou from Mr. Gu
Yaokun. As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Gu Yaokun had
not obtained the formal land and property registration
certificates for all of the Assets. On 14 February 2018, the
Group entered into the Termination Agreement with Mr. Gu
Yaokun, and the title of the Assets without formal land and
property registration certificates were transferred to the
Group.

On 2 February 2018, the Group entered into a conditional
loan facility agreement with China Construction Bank
(“CCB”). The amount of loan to be granted to the Group
pursuant to the loan facility agreement shall be applied
towards the financing of acquisition of fixed assets, working
capital, trading, merger and acquisitions, bills, guarantees
and other funds. According to the terms of the loan facility
agreement, the maximum amount of the facility consists
of ordinary loans of HKD2.87 billion (equivalent to RMB2.4
billion) subject to the final approval by CCB.

31 REHRKIEAEERE

(i)

R=T—N\F=AtmA &
EERALAESEMAE
£ 5 — 3 38 ([ ) 4T
AU 8 (T UL )
It 7 1 4 B 5
FER=F—MEMA=+
AT B =
T-MENAS+AKET
Bl & 2 i AR L e
Bl (578 (RS RE]) B
FERGEE R —HE
40 5 1 2+ BB
REREEEEAEZERL
BRMEBREEE HEL
PG B 5 41 -
—E-EOFEEA=1H A%
) 5 1 0 5 2 WO R 4
1009 < 34 = B — £ &
+=A=+—H EESEE
AR FAREAEREER
LHRDEBRRE =T
—N\E=B+mE  AEER
R AT LA D
BEEXLURNESREE
ZREAELFERART A
-

RZE-NFZAZH K&
BEFEERET ([FEE
RBITDEI LB RHER G
B RIBERREREAS
BAEERHZERSEK
ARABUBETEE £EE
&£ BE B RE -ERE
HthESREES - REBEER
BB & 2 R EERPE
ERBITRESME BMEZ
BReEcHEBERETEEN28.7
BAET (HERARB24E
JT) e
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 32 RAEEmZMBRRE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L ETHT)
31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
—E-tF —E-REF “E-RE
tZA=t-B tZA=+-H —A-H
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FTET FET FET

(Restated)* (Restated)*
(&)~ (L&)~

Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RAKEB A TMNIRE 1,141,155 1,008,016 970,064
Other receivables H th FE WK IE 14,667 8,434 -
1,155,822 1,016,450 970,064
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H {th FE U SR IB 1,237,969 1,360,578 1,486,393
Cash and cash equivalents BRE&RRESEEY 12,977 6,795 14,288
Deposits with banks with FRRIRITR A
original maturity date over ~ ZE|HiREE =18 A
three months ZIER 3,704 3,675 3,672
1,254,650 1,371,048 1,504,353
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables Hib 308 2,000 2,139 1,095
Bank loans RITEX 686,570 73,299 221,329
688,570 75,438 222,424
Net current assets RBEEFE 566,080 1,295,610 1,281,929
Total assets less current BEEBABERS
liabilities 1,721,902 2,312,060 2,251,993
Non-current liability kRBEE
Bank loans RITER 216,214 586,908 273,886
216,214 586,908 273,886
Net assets EEFE 1,505,688 1,725,152 1,978,107

236  CT Environmental Group Limited
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 32 pRIEBEmZMBRAR (&
(Cont’d)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L BT Z22))

31 December 31 December 1 January

2017 2016 2016

—E—+tF ZE-RE ZE-RF

+ZHA=+—-8 +=ZA=+-H —B—H

HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET TFHET

(Restated)” (Restated)”
(&)~ (&R&EH))*

CAPITAL AND RESERVES &K f#fE 27(b)
Share capital R 157,920 157,920 157,920
Reserves i 1,347,768 1,567,232 1,820,187
Total equity X 1,505,688 1,725,152 1,978,107
* See Note 1(c)(i). * R (C)) °
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on RZE-NF=ZA=Z+HBAKES
29 March 2018. SERTER -

)

) -

) Directors =

)

)

33 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTIES 33 ERRERHKERA

At 31 December 2017, the directors consider the immediate EERA R=E—tHE+=A
controlling party to be Keen Vast Holding Limited (3 XiZ X ER ZtT-HNEEERSTBERER
A d]) , while the ultimate controlling party of the Company as at BRAR - MAQXRNR-ZT—LF
31 December 2017 to be Mr. Tsui Cham To. TZA=T—HNRKERS B

B EE o

PERARRERRAE 237
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS

AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and new standards which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

34

BE-F—tHF+=-RA=+—H
IEF B E MM E R K &R
R CHEARRBRTREZE

BEEXUBRRTEAN B8
NS EEMZIREET R E
Bl ZZBTRMEINREBE=ZF
—tF+ZA=T-RLEFEER
LR BERBERRTERAZE
BRI RFER - AT B REE AR E
E AR BRIER -

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning

on or after
RELT B
BB
S HBEEXN

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments
ERNBHREERNFSREHTA

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
BB REENEISEFFL SN

1 January 2018
—E2-N\F
—H—H

1 January 2018
—E-NE
—A-H

Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment: Classification and measurement of

share-based payment transactions

BEUBRERUNFFKGIN KOZNREHTERGTEZ

1&5T

HK(IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration

5 (BRMBRERBEES) REFRNNEXZRBNAE

HKFRS 16, Leases
ERNKRELENEIRHEE

CT Environmental Group Limited
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B RS R R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far
the Group has identified some aspects of the new standards
which may have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements. Further details of the expected impacts are
discussed below. While the assessment has been substantially
completed for HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the actual impacts upon
the initial adoption of the standards may differ as the assessment
completed to date is based on the information currently available
to the Group, and further impacts may be identified before the
standards are initially applied in the Group’s interim financial
report for the six months ended 30 June 2018. The Group
may also change its accounting policy elections, including the
transition options, until the standards are initially applied in that
financial report.

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace the current standard on accounting
for financial instruments, HKAS 39, Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement of financial
assets, including the measurement of impairment for financial
assets and hedge accounting. On the other hand, HKFRS 9
incorporates without substantive changes the requirements
of HKAS 39 for recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments and the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities.

34

BE_ZT—t&+=-R=+-—
H k£ & S 08 B i K £ A
BRI HEMRRBOTELE
(#4&)

REBIEER RSB HER
kRBEEEEANEEREEN
FE-BA AKBECHEB HHE
Bl B THEAEHGRSMBRE
EEBASE -FAHFEZE-D
HENRUOT -BESTBUBRSE
HAFSEREBYBREEDE
1555 2 R B KRBT M HEEIRER
MEBRERCERSZERREART
B RERESETRZAEIE
RASE BRI 2ERET &
—HFETERERERNERER
RBEZZE-NFAAB=THLR
8 Rz M| E HERERA
Wl AR AR ZES K
REE BEBESE HERH
ERBERERANZIBRSE -

BRMBHEERESS SRMTA

BRMBREERFOFGIAE
HEMTASTEELRENREA
HERBRBETERE3N SRT
B BARGE-BBUBREE
RIS AP BRI EBEHERE
(BREEMEEZFTERBENLR
HAETEE)NFIRE S —
H BB HHREERBEIRAAR
I B KRR BB S RT 2RI SE395%
FERRARKIEIETMIARS
BMEBEZDERFENSRE-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 15 B1H5EES))

BE_F—tF+-A=+—
H b & S 08 i 1B i K & 3 A
B - MENRRBHATRZE
(&

34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS 34
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

EEMBRELAFR  TWMITA
(&)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Cont’d)

BBV BHRELEREIRR=-F
—NF-A-BHz2EREZF
AR AL R - REE G B A
BRREJLERER UERR=-F
—N\F— R — Bz s A RE
REMBERE-

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018 on a retrospective basis. The Group plans to use
the exemption from restating comparative information and will
recognise any transition adjustments against the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2018.

HREHAREYBHRR 2T
ZUMT

Expected impacts of the new requirements on the Group’s
financial statements are as follows:

(a ZDBERITE

BB Y KR EERFESRELE
TREEN=BXELESE
Bl ()RBERATE - (2
BIEmIE A FEFTEFVIPL

(a) Classification and measurement

HKFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories
for financial assets: measured at (1) amortised cost, (2)
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and (3) fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

240

The classification for debt instruments is determined
based on the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the asset. If a debt instrument is
classified as FVTOCI then interest revenue, impairment
and gains/losses on disposal will be recognised in
profit or loss.

For equity securities, the classification is FVTPL
regardless of the entity’s business model. The only
exception is if the equity security is not held for trading
and the entity irrevocably elects to designate that
security as FVTOCI. If an equity security is designated
as FVTOCI then only dividend income on that security
will be recognised in profit or loss. Gains, losses and
impairments on that security will be recognised in
other comprehensive income without recycling.

CT Environmental Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (LUBTTHIT 12 B85 55))

34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Cont’d)

@

Classification and measurement (Cont’d)

The Group has assessed that its financial assets currently
measured at amortised cost will continue with their
respective classification and measurements upon the
adoption of HKFRS 9.

The Group currently does not have any financial assets
classified as “available-for-sale” and therefore this new
requirement will not have any impact on the Group on
adoption of HKFRS 9.

The classification and measurement requirements for
financial liabilities under HKFRS 9 are largely unchanged
from HKAS 39, except that HKFRS 9 requires the fair value
change of a financial liability designated at FVTPL that is
attributable to changes of that financial liability’s credit risk
to be recognised in other comprehensive income (without
reclassification to profit or loss). The Group currently does
not have any financial liabilities designated at FVTPL and
therefore this new requirement will not have any impact on
the Group on adoption of HKFRS 9.

34 BE-E—t&+-H=+-—
B 1k 4 [ B AR 4618 14 ok A
i BB RRBO A RS

(#4&)

BRMBHEERESS SRTA

(#)

(@

MR iTE ()

z
REBCEFEREE AR HEMK
R ENEREERRERE
BB R E R EONRRIFE
BESENDERE-

AEEBATEREIAIER
[AIHE ] 2 ERERE Bt
2 REH AN EERNE B
B EERESRAE T EER
CRCEZ

BRAVKIRELERFESRET
cPREBEZIENRFEERS
BETEDEIGERAEE
FRE-% HEEBUBRE
ERERAE HZeme
BzEERREBEMIETE
FVTPLETEZ £RE BN AT
BEEPRNEMEZEKE (T8
EFAEZER)ER AL
E B At 5 E R FVTPLET £
HNEmBE WEZMREEHAR
SERME B IEHRELERE
R EER M E-
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34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(b) Impairment

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces the
“incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with an “expected credit
loss” model. Under the expected credit loss model, it will
no longer be necessary for a loss event to occur before an
impairment loss is recognised. Instead, an entity is required
to recognise and measure either a 12-month expected
credit loss or a lifetime expected credit loss, depending
on the asset and the facts and circumstances. The Group
expects that the application of the expected credit loss
model will result in earlier recognition of credit losses.

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will replace the existing revenue standards, HKAS 18, Revenue,
which covers revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering of
services, and HKAS 11, Construction contracts, which specifies
the accounting for revenue from construction contracts.
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34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Based on the assessment completed to date, the Group has
identified the following areas which are expected to be affected:

(@

Timing of revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue recognition policies are disclosed
in note 1(v). Currently, revenue arising from construction
contracts and the provision of services is recognised over
time, whereas revenue from the sale of goods is generally
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have
passed to the customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the promised good or service in the
contract. HKFRS 15 identifies 3 situations in which control
of the promised good or service is regarded as being
transferred over time:

()  When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

(i)  When the entity’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced;

(iliy When the entity’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

@

Timing of revenue recognition (Cont’d)

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall
into any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the
entity recognises revenue for the sale of that good or service
at a single point in time, being when control has passed.
Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the
indicators that will be considered in determining when the
transfer of control occurs.

The Group has assessed that the new revenue standard is
not likely to have significant impact on how it recognises
revenue from industrial water supply services, wastewater
treatment operation services, BOT project construction
and operation services, heating and electricity generation
services, sludge and solid waste treatment services and
hazardous waste treatment services.
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34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

©®)

Significant financing component

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction price
for the time value of money when a contract contains a
significant financing component, regardless of whether
the payments from customers are received significantly in
advance or in arrears.

Currently, the Group would only apply such a policy when
payments are significantly deferred, which is currently not
common in the Group’s arrangements with its customers.
Currently, the Group does not apply such a policy when
payments are received in advance.

Advance payments are currently not common in the Group’s
arrangements with its customers.

The Group plans to elect to use the cumulative effect
transition method for the adoption of HKFRS 15 and
will recognise the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1
January 2018. As allowed by HKFRS 15, the Group plans
to apply the new requirements only to contracts that are
not completed before 1 January 2018. Since the number
of “open” contracts for sales of products at 31 December
2017 is limited, the Group expects that the transition
adjustment to be made upon the initial adoption of HKFRS
15 will not be material. However, the expected changes
in accounting policies as described above could have a
material impact on the Group’s financial results from 2018
onwards.
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34

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 1(k), currently the Group classifies leases
into operating leases and accounts for the lease arrangements
according to the nature of the lease. The Group enters into some
leases as the lessor and others as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.
However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead,
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases
in a similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognise and
measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum
future lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-
of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the
lessee will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-
of-use asset, instead of the current policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis
over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can
elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e.
where the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-
value assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue
to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties, plant and equipment which are
currently classified as operating leases. The application of the
new accounting model is expected to lead to an increase in both
assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense
recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the
lease.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019. The standard offers different transition options
and practical expedients, including the practical expedient
to grandfather the previous assessment of which existing
arrangements are, or contain, leases. If this practical expedient
is chosen, the Group will apply the new definition of a lease in
HKFRS 16 only to contracts that are entered into on or after
the date of initial application. If the practical expedient is not
chosen, the Group will need to reassess all of its decisions about
which existing contracts are, or contain, leases, using the new
definition. Depending on whether the Group elects to adopt
the standard retrospectively or follow a modified retrospective
method of recognising a cumulative-effect adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at the date of initial application, the
Group may or may not need to restate comparative information
for any changes in accounting resulting from the reassessment.

The Group has not yet decided whether it will choose to take
advantage of this practical expedient, and which transition
approach to be taken.
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Financial Summary

BBE

The following table summarizes the consolidated results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December:

THRELAEERBE+=-A=1+—8H
LHRBEFENGEXE EERERE:

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—2—tf —E-RE —E-EF —E-NE —E-=F
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TER TERx FTERT TERr TEr
(Restated) (Restated)
(BE5) (EBE5)
Results ]
Turnover EER 2,099,098 2,177,038 1,782,606 1,032,544 484,849
Profit before taxation BRELAER 812,860 719,785 833,036 471,848 273,907
Income tax Fris® 131,437 119,552 86,118 43,595 49,115
Profit attributable to equity P NP £
holders of the Company BAE AEGER 682,480 605,690 744,016 424,672 224,422
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 6,662,952 5,311,770 5,063,072 2,807,275 1,141,863
Current assets TBERE 2,422,033 2,351,713 1,487,683 807,863 749,689
Total assets BEAR 9,084,985 7,663,483 6,550,755 3,615,138 1,891,552
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kRBERE 1,866,125 2,271,189 1,935,793 1,036,158 555,563
Current liabilities FBEE 2,753,516 1,776,232 1,157,545 684,389 207,683
Total liabilities SEER 4,619,641 4,047,421 3,093,338 1,720,547 763,246
Total equity R 4,465,344 3,616,062 3,457 417 1,894,591 1,128,306
Total equity of attributable RARER
to equity holders of the Company BAEAEGRERZAR 4,462,484 3,604,524 3,440,422 1,864,965 1,125,505
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